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Group Financial Highlights under IFRS

(in million €)
  2005 2004 %change

Revenues  5,475.1 5,219.3 4.9%
Operating Income  24.0 614.1 -96.1%
Pre-tax Profit  3.3 516.8 -99.4%
Profit/loss (after taxes and before minorities)  -16.5 294.3 -105.6%
EBITDA  1,131.4 1,681.7 -32.7%
Pro-forma* EBITDA  2,071.0 1,710.6 21.1%
CAPEX  680.2 843.6 -19.4%
Gross Debt  3,439.7 3,178.5 8.2%
Cash and cash equivalents  1,512.2 870.3 73.8%
Equity  4,513.4 4,831.4 -6.6%
CAPEX as % of Revenues  12.4% 16.2% -23.1%
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Note: Intercompany Adjustments and Eliminations: (€ 526m)

Greece
Employees: 14,741
2005 Turnover: 2,707m 

Romania
Employees: 13,078
2005 Turnover: 930m 

Greece
Employees: 2,182
2005 Turnover: 1,518m 

Albania
Employees: 385
2005 Turnover: 137m 

FYROM
Employees: 307
2005 Turnover: 40m

Greece
Employees: 1,537
2005 Turnover: 268m

Armenia
Employees: 5,286
2005 Turnover: 119 m

OTE is Greece’s leading telecommunications operator, providing 
fixed-line telephony services to Greek and foreign businesses, 
consumers and government agencies. The Group also offers 
mobile telephony, Internet access, broadband, ISDN, high-speed 
data communications and leased lines services.

During the last decade, the OTE Group acquired stakes in the 
incumbent telecommunications companies of Romania, Serbia and 
Armenia and established mobile operations in Albania, Bulgaria, 
FYROM and Romania. At present, OTE Group companies employ 
over 35,000 people in seven countries. Listed on the Athens Stock 
Exchange, the Company also trades on the New York and London 
Stock Exchanges.

Overview
OTE is the largest fixed-line 
telecommunications provider in Greece and 
the majority owner of RomTelecom, Romania’s 
incumbent operator. The Group is accelerating 
the rollout of new technologies, chief among 
them ADSL broadband, and pursuing the 
modernization of its networks to offset lower 
voice revenues and enhance customer loyalty.

Overview
Cosmote, the OTE Group’s mobile telephony  
arm is the leading mobile provider in Greece.  
The Company enjoys leading positions in 
Albania and Bulgaria and is also active in some 
of Europe’s fastest growing mobile markets 
(FYROM). In addition, Cosmote recently 
relaunched the Group’s mobile operations in 
Romania.

Overview
OTE is involved in a range of activities 
complementing its core 
telecommunications operations, 
notably in real estate, directories, 
satellite communications, and 
training. The Company is also present 
in Armenia and Serbia through its 
90% and 20% participation 
respectively, in the countries’ 
incumbent operators.

Fixed Telephony
Greece
Incumbent/Operator
Fixed-line market share (voice): 73%
Internet subscribers: 413,000
Mobile market share: 38%
Customers: 4,600,000

Romania
Incumbent/Operator
Fixed-line market share (voice): 90%
Internet subscribers: 1,200,000
Mobile was re-launched 
in December 2005

Albania
Leader
Mobile market share: 51%
Customers: 782,000

Bulgaria
Challenger
Mobile market share: 40%
Customers: 2,394,000

FYROM
Challenger
Mobile market share: 30.5% 
Customers: 384,000

OTE is also present in Armenia and Serbia

ADSL subscribers (000’s)

(OTE and Romtelecom)

Mobile subscribers (million)

(Greece, Albania, Bulgaria, FYROM,
Romania and Armenia)

Capitalization (billion €)

The Group at a Glance 

Hellenic Republic: 
38.7%

Shareholder structure 31 March 2006

International 
Institutional  
Shareholders: 
40.0%

Greek Institutional 
Shareholders: 
12.1%

Rest Shareholders: 
9.2%

Other Operations

Mobile Telephony Bulgaria
Employees: 848 
2005 Turnover: 274m

Romania
Employees: 399
2005 Turnover: 8m
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As Greece’s leading telecommunications company and the 
pre-eminent telecom player in the Balkans, Europe’s fastest growing 
region, the OTE Group is committed to providing increasing value 
to our shareholders and best-in-class products and services to 
our customers. With fixed and mobile telephony in Greece as the 
backbone of our business, the OTE Group aims to support the 
development of Greece and South East Europe through the provision 
of universal access, advanced telecommunications, cutting-edge 
technologies, and integrated solutions for everyone. 

To maintain OTE’s position as the provider of choice, we are now 
more committed than ever to unlocking the strengths that exist 
within our organization and to setting the foundations of sustained 
value-oriented growth, as well as increased customer satisfaction 
and loyalty. By working in partnership with our stakeholders and by 
fostering a culture of innovation, we look forward to the challenges 
of the future both in Greece and in the region we serve. 
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Dear Shareholders,

In 2005, OTE posted a consolidated net 
loss of €216.8 million, while the loss at 
OTE S.A., the Group’s parent company and 
operator of its Greek fixed-line operations, 
was €237.2 million. This performance is 
entirely due to the cost of the personnel 
Voluntary Retirement Plan we started 
implementing last year, an amount of 
€939.6 million, which under the newly 
introduced International Accounting 
Standards was charged to our 2005 
financial statements. The actual cost of the 
Voluntary Retirement Plan, which will be 
incurred from 2006 through 2012, will have 
no impact on our results for these years.

At the EBITDA level, OTE S.A. posted a 
loss of €279.8 million in 2005, compared 
to profit €549.8 million in 2004, while 
Group EBITDA dropped to €1,131.4 million 
in 2005, from €1,681.7 million in the 
prior year. ΟΤΕ will not pay a dividend for 
2005, as Greek Law precludes loss-making 
companies from doing so.

2005 was a year of considerable 
developments, chief among which were:

• The May 25, 2005, signing of a 
Collective Agreement with employee 
representatives (OME-OTE) abolishing 
tenure for employees hired after that 

• Finally, the Board of Directors approved 
a three-year business plan prepared 
with the active participation of all 
Departments. For the first time, the 
company will be able to work towards 
specific targets and to accurately 
measure productivity and personnel 
performance. The plan provides for a 
three-year capex budget of €945 million 
and for the completion of a number of 
projects aimed at transforming OTE, 
raising productivity, and reducing costs.

Major developments also took place in 
2005 in other parts of the Group:

• Cosmote assumed responsibility of all 
Group activities in mobile telephony 
following the transfer of Globul in 
Bulgaria and Cosmofon in FYROM, 
from OTE S.A., and the acquisition of a 
70% stake in Cosmorom, subsequently 
renamed Cosmote Romania. As a result, 
Cosmote now ranks among the leading 
European mobile operators. OTE S.A. 
raised its participation in Cosmote from 
58.77% to 64.37% in 2005 and to a two-
thirds (67%) majority in 2006.

• RomTelecom continued its upward course 
in 2005, more than doubling profits from 
€82.3 million in 2004 to €178.4 million 
last year. Subject to market conditions, 
RomTelecom is planning an Initial Public 
Offering on the London and Bucharest 
Stock Exchanges in 2006, with OTE S.A. 
retaining its controlling interest.

• The other subsidiaries of the Group in 
Greece and abroad also made further 
progress in 2005 with the exception of 
Hellas Sat, which, despite its substantially 
improved operations last year, continues 
to show losses.

OTE intends to continue buying out 
minorities in its subsidiaries and to 
exit from activities which are not core 
businesses or do not fit with its general 
strategy.

Particular attention to training was given 
in 2005 with the creation of the OTE 
Academy, which took over all Group 
training programs and is also engaging in 
general educational activities, utilizing the 
excellent installations of OTE.
In 2006 we will pursue our efforts to 

date. This paved the way for the 
legislative changes (Law 3371/05) 
required to make OTE’s Voluntary 
Retirement Plan possible. Out of a total 
of 5,200 employees qualifying for early 
retirement under the Plan, 4,859 or 93% 
of the total opted to leave the Company. 
Together with employees leaving after 
completing their years of service, a total 
of 5,400 people will have retired from 
OTE S.A. between October 2005 and 
the end of 2006. Implementation of the 
plan suffered a six-month delay due to 
the late signing of required Ministerial 
Decisions, but it is now on track and 
2,132 people had retired under the Plan 
as of the end of May 2006. The impact 
of headcount reduction on our operating 
costs will begin to be felt in the second 
half of 2006. We are also hiring 
approximately 1,200 new employees, 
under common employment contracts, 
to secure the talent we will need in the 
future.

• Throughout 2005, we intensified 
the campaign to increase broadband 
penetration that we had launched in 
late 2004. As a result, the number of 
installed ADSL ports rose from about 
17,000 in early 2004 to more than 
400,000 in June 2006, and operating 
connections increased from 7,200 to 
near 300,000 over the same period. This 
was achieved through an aggressive 
sales policy, attractive tariffs, and round-
the-clock hard work by our engineers 
and other employees. In addition to 
investment in materials and network 
support, the effort includes substantial 
outlays in promotion. OTE’s target is for 
the number of operating connections 
to surpass half a million by year end and 
double that by the end of 2007. Parallel 
efforts for providing broadband through 
Wifi-Wimax, or through our subsidiary 
Hellas Sat, are pursued in locations 
where conditions suit such solutions. 
Recently, OTE S.A. also made optical 
fiber connections available under deeply 
discounted tariffs in order to promote 
the use of broadband among students 
throughout the country.

Chairman’s Letter

Chairman’s Letter
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Transforming 
our business

transform OTE into a modern company 
able to compete in liberalized, deregulated 
markets. A key priority is to upgrade the 
skills and motivation of all of our employees. 
We aim to establish an organization based 
on merit, to return OTE to a position of 
technological leadership, and to sweep 
away the remnants of our legacy as a state-
owned agency.

Special attention will be paid to the 
reorganization of OTE Estate, in order to 
enable it to better exploit our considerable 
real estate holdings, and of OTEGlobe, 
which is responsible for the international 
activities of the Group.

The National Telecommunications and 
Post Commission will continue to have a 
major influence on our strategy. Its new 
leadership justifies on our part a degree of 
guarded optimism, insofar as it has made 
possible the beginning of a meaningful 
dialogue between the Regulator and 
the leader of the telecommunications 
industry. The aim of this dialogue, on OTE’s 
part, is to encourage the development of 
telecommunications in an environment 
of healthy competition, fostering new 
investments.

We are now almost mid-way through 
2006 and we should briefly refer to two 
significant developments that took place in 
the first half of the year.

• Cosmote has reached an agreement 
to acquire control of Germanos S.A. 
which will give the Group a strong retail 
organization throughout southeast 
Europe. The agreement is subject to 
regulatory approval.

• We have launched an international 
tender for the sale of OTE’s 90% interest 
in Armentel, a transaction which is 
currently in progress and could bring 
satisfactory results.

The performance of OTE S.A. in the first 
three months of 2006 was as per our 
Business Plan. Revenues were marginally 
better than projected, but costs continue 
to resist and their reduction remains a top 
priority.

Management will continue to pursue a 
constructive relationship with OME-OTE 
and its newly elected leadership, aimed 
at updating the General Regulation of 
Personnel. Our sole aspiration, as we enter 
this new phase of dialogue, is to promote 
the interests of all employees within a well-
functioning, competitive OTE.

In 2005, OTE S.A. embarked on a very 
difficult task – to reduce permanent 
headcount by approximately one third 
and simultaneously carry through a 
transformation program and major 
investments. We have made considerable 
progress throughout the year, and in 
the first months of 2006. None of this 
could have been accomplished without 
the mobilization and efforts of all OTE 
employees, to whom we express our 
sincere appreciation.

Panagis Vourloumis
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Chief Executive Officer of OTE S.A. 
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The world 
in which 
we operate

Business Environment
In Greece and South East Europe, new markets for 
mobile, broadband and integrated telecommunications 
solutions are expanding at a rapid pace, while 
traditional fixed-line services are experiencing major 
changes as a result of deregulation, heightened 
competition, technological changes and increasingly 
sophisticated customer demand. Against this 
backdrop, the OTE Group is transforming itself from a 
former national telecommunications company solidly 
rooted in fixed-line telephony, into a flexible, customer-
centric group of companies offering the whole array 
of fixed-line, mobile, broadband and integrated 
telecommunications services to the region.

Business Environment
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Market 
The telecommunications industry in the 
areas we cover—Greece, Romania, Bulgaria, 
FYROM, Albania—is in the middle of an 
evolutionary process. Markets are being 
liberalized or have been liberalized during 
recent years, new players have entered the 
scene offering innovative products and 
services to consumers, while regulatory 
authorities, with the mandate to promote 
competition, have been established. 

In Greece and Romania, our traditional 
fixed-line markets are maturing, and fixed-
to-mobile substitution is eroding revenue. 
At the same time, the development of 
broadband has opened the doors to new 
areas of potential growth but also to 
substantial risks for traditional “voice”. 
The gap in PC and Internet penetration 
relative to other European markets in the 
north and west is expected to narrow 
rapidly as the availability of content in 
local language overtakes the socio-cultural 
barriers of the past. Aggressive promotion 
of broadband through much improved 
offerings has accelerated product uptake, 
and penetration rates increase at a steady 
pace. According to many forecasters, 
technological changes should enable 
telecom operators to resume top-line 
growth, offering an expanding range of 
broadband-based products and services.

With growing opportunities has come 
intensifying competition. To date, 
competitors have favored the basic reseller 
approach requiring little capital investment. 
This standard however, is expected to 
evolve into an infrastructure-building 
model, more innovative, with higher quality 
of service, to the eventual benefit of all 
users. In this context, OTE in Greece and 

Romtelecom in Romania intend to retain 
their lead, and to remain the consumer’s 
first choice in terms of product quality, 
customer service, and competitive pricing. 

In mobile communications, while 
penetration levels in Greece would seem 
to point that the market is reaching 
maturity, there is still room for expansion 
in both voice and data traffic. Significant 
growth potential exists across all fronts 
in the rapidly developing markets of 
Bulgaria, Albania, FYROM and Romania. 
Last year, OTE’s mobile arm, Cosmote, 
was granted ownership and control over 
all of the Group’s mobile operations. 
Cosmote is implementing a strategy 
aimed at leveraging the synergies that 
come with its significant footprint in the 
region, in such areas as common platforms, 
shared branding and coordinated product 
development. 

Finally, OTE’s other operations in 
real-estate, directories, satellite 
communications, training, as well as its 
international investments in Armenia and 
Serbia, provide significant opportunities 
and are expected to contribute to the 
Group’s value-creation process.
 
Restructuring and the Voluntary 
Retirement Scheme
In 2005, OTE SA, the Greek fixed-line 
operation, took drastic measures to 
reduce its cost. Approximately one-third 
of the Company’s workforce, - 4,859 
employees -, elected to take part in the 
Company’s Voluntary Retirement Plan, at 
an accounting cost of €940 million. At the 
same time, OTE SA moved forward with 
the reorganization of its operations, an 
initiative that is expected to help achieve 
efficiency. 

Regulatory Framework
OTE operates in a deregulated market, 
and has done so since its monopoly in 
Greek fixed-line telecommunications was 
abolished in 2001. Much work remains 
to be done to create a level competitive 
playing field, thereby allowing OTE to 
operate as a genuinely private enterprise. 
The significant changes in the regulatory 
framework of the Greek market, contained 
in legislation adopted in early 2006, are 
the first steps towards creating a fair and 
liberalized market for all participants, in line 
with EU prescriptions.

Technology
The expansion of broadband, rapid and 
continuous advances in technology, the 
prospect of convergence - together with 
the economics of network maintenance and 
upgrading - make the development of a 
modern, flexible and efficient infrastructure 
imperative for all telecommunications 
operators. OTE’s investment program is 
largely focused on the optimization of 
its network using IP-based technology 
and on a continued offering of best-of-
class products to business and residential 
customers throughout Greece and South 
East Europe.
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Looking to the future
We intend to remain the customer’s first 
choice in terms of product quality, customer 
service and competitive pricing

Looking to the future
We intend to remain the customer’s first 
choice in terms of product quality, customer 
service and competitive pricing

OTE Annual Report 2005

OteAnnualReport05EnglishFirstPar6   6OteAnnualReport05EnglishFirstPar6   6 28/6/2006   3:17:37 µµ28/6/2006   3:17:37 µµ



7OTE Annual Report 2005

OteAnnualReport05EnglishFirstPar7   7OteAnnualReport05EnglishFirstPar7   7 28/6/2006   3:17:43 µµ28/6/2006   3:17:43 µµ



8

Promoting 
quality and 
innovation

Fixed Telephony
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Fixed 
Telephony

Domestic

During 2005, competition in fixed-line 
made further progress and OTE’s market 
share - measured in outgoing traffic 
excluding Internet -, fell to 73% at the 
end of the year, compared to 76% at the 
end of 2004. During the same period, the 
domestic fixed-line market continued to 
lose traffic minutes from mobile operators, 
as a result of fixed-to-mobile substitution. 

OTE defended its fixed-line market share 
vigorously, through a series of sales and 
marketing initiatives, and as a result, lost 
significantly less market share during 
2005, compared to previous years. OTE’s 
customer and revenue retention strategy 
is largely focused on the development of 
broadband, the introduction of products 
and services that address the needs of 
targeted customer groups and on the 
enhancement of customer service and 
support.

Network
At the end of 2005, OTE’s PSTN network 
had an installed capacity of 6,001,969 
digital lines, of a total of 6,022,358 
connections, as compared to 6,021,558 
digital and 800 analogue lines - total 
6,022,358 lines - at year-end 2004, posting 
a decrease of 0.34%. During the year, 
OTE phased out the last analogue lines, 
reaching a 100% network digitalization.

Occupied capacity, at the end of 2005, fell 
to 4,927,622 lines, compared to 5,078,709 
lines at year-end 2004, decreasing by 
3%, mainly as a result of fixed to mobile 
substitution. The ISDN network’s installed 
ISDN-BRA - two channel - capacity reached 
645,056 lines at year-end 2005, installed 
ISDN-PRA - 30 channels - capacity reached 
9,674 lines, while occupied capacity 
reached 578,505 BRA connections and 
7,094 PRA connections, posting an increase 
of 10% for the ISDN BRA connections and 
a decrease of around 1% for the ISDN PRA 
connections . At the end of 2005, OTE’s 
network comprised 21,284 km of optic 
fiber cables compared to 20,883 km at 

year-end 2004. Telephone density (PSTN 
lines and ISDN-64K equivalent lines per 
hundred inhabitants), reached 57%.

Value-added services 
As part of its customer-oriented strategy, 
OTE continues to develop value-added 
services, such as digital conveniences (call 
waiting, call divert, outgoing call barring, 
caller ID), voice mail, telematics (tele-
conference, tele-training and tele-working) 
and voice gate services.

In 2005, the take up of established 
digital value-added services, such as CLIP, 
call transfer and call barring increased 
significantly and new services were 
introduced, including, call completion 
to busy line and barring of calls to 901 
numbers. A new “Don’t Miss Calls” 
package was launched, comprising of a 
number of value-added and voice mail 
services.

Key targets for 2006 include an increase in 
the take up of value-added, digital services, 
as well as the introduction of new services 
such as “CLIP on Request”, a remote 
call diversion control, which is aimed at 
maximizing network’s utilization and 
increasing the answered calls ratio (ASR). 
Furthermore, the “Ring Back Tone” service, 
which will allow customers to change the 
default, network, ringing tone for incoming 
calls, is being developed and is expected 
to be launched in 2006. OTE’s priorities 
for the future include the commercial 
planning, development and launch of new, 
integrated services within the complex 
telecommunication environment where 
voice-data, fixed-mobile, IN (Intelligent 
Networks) and integration technologies 
converge with e-commerce, voice gates and 
informatics.

Broadband
During 2005, OTE focused on the 
promotion and rapid development of 
broadband in Greece, and undertook 
a series of commercial and technical 
initiatives, which prompted an increase 
in ADSL subscribers of over 250%, from 
43,758 at the end of 2004, to 154,530 at 
the end of 2005. At year-end, the ADSL 
network had 450 POPs (points of presence) 
compared to 204 POPs in 2004, with 
coverage reaching 80.4% of the population 
telephone network. OTE’s 2006 Business 
Plan projects the expansion of the network 

with 500 new POPs, the installation of 
additional ADSL ports to cater for the 
needs of 500,000 anticipated users - by 
the end of 2006 - and the introduction of 
IP DSLAMS and Metro Ethernet network. 
These initiatives are expected to reduce 
the complexity of the network and enable 
OTE to develop and provide advanced 
telecommunication services.

For 2006, OTE plans to stimulate ADSL 
demand with new services and integrated 
solutions offered to SMEs and targeted 
customer groups, through the development 
of content and VoIP services and through 
an enhanced customer service, while 
leveraging the strong brand loyalty of its 
CONN-X product and implementing a 
flexible tariff policy.

High-speed networks for business 
customers
OTE is developing high-speed and high-
capacity networks as a response to the 
increased needs of its business customers 
and as part of its strategy to become the 
provider of choice for both wholesale and 
business customers.

The HellasStream network is an ATM 
technology packet transfer network 
with 46 points of presence and 74 nodes 
across Greece. The network targets 
mainly business customers and provides 
the backbone for OTE’s ADSL network. 
Since 2003, the network offers Integrated 
ADSL Central Access to Internet Service 
Providers through cell relay. It is intended 
for customers wishing to interconnect to 
several partners or customers for different 
applications with each. The HellasStream 
network ensures the simultaneous 
transmission of all types of information 
such as voice, data, video and images. At 
year-end 2005, HellasStream network’s 
active connections reached 1,385. 

The HellasPac network is a public switched 
packet data network designed to facilitate 
communication between computers. It is 
a data switched network with 85 point-
to-point connected nodes. At year-end 
2005, it was servicing approximately 7,441 
fixed connections. OPAP is OTE’s largest 
customer with 5,500 connections. An 
agreement was signed between OTE and 
OPAP for the gradual transfer of all OPAP 
connections to an IP VPN network with DSL 
access connections. 
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The IP network, is based on a cell-based 
MPLS technology and has 82 IP Access 
router points of presence, five core routers 
network nodes and 13 BRAS across Greece. 
A network for the provision of VoIP over 
VPNs services is in place. Plans for 2006 
include the extension of the network to 
two new points and the addition of 12 new 
BRAS to support ADSL traffic.

OTE also offers services such as Intranet 
IP/VPN since June 2003, Extranet IP/VPN, 
since March 2004, as well as IP VPN 
dial-up access, since November 2005. 
In 2005, a total of 170 fixed Intranet/
Extranet IP/VPN termination points were 
activated. As of September 2005, OTEnet 
supplies wholesale IP VPN services to 
OTE. Company’s targets for 2006 include 
the offering of IP/VPN services and in 
particular Intranet/Extranet IP/VPN with 
1,313 termination points, Dial up Access 
VPN/VPDN with 300 termination points, 
and ADSL Access VPN with 300 termination 
points. The commercial launch of various 
value-added services has also been planned, 
including Dial up Access VPN/VPDN, Voice 
over IP (VoIP), Site Back & Resilience, 
Secure Internet Access, Advanced SLAs and 
Reporting, Variable Service Quality, end-
to-end managed VPN Services, while voice 
services will be offered as a package with 
IP/VPN service. The pilot operation of “Pay-
as-you-go Internet Access” was concluded 
in 2005, and commercial operation of this 
service is scheduled for 2006. With regard 
to VoIP services, the launch of VoIP over 
ADSL with 65,000 anticipated users, VoIP 
in OTEPIXEIRO package, and VoIP over VPN 
with a forecast of 100 termination points 
are also planned for 2006.

The HellasCom network is a data transfer 
network, which provides fixed point-to-
point digital links. It targets businesses, 
organizations, banks and industries and 
supports the provision of VPN services 
and IP network connections - point-to-
multipoint -, offering a transparent data 
transmission carrier where no protocols 
are required. During 2005, 2,420 new 
applications were submitted, compared 
to 2,700 in 2004 and 2,479 new circuits 
were activated, compared to 2,696 in 
2004 (a decrease of 10.37% and 8.05% 
respectively). In 2005, 300 new nodes were 
activated, some of which allow for the 
use of SDSL technology. As a result, the 
network consists of 5,400 nodes with a 
geographical coverage of 98% of Greece. 

The OTElink network (TETRA) is an 
advanced digital radio-communications 
public network. It provides voice and 
data communication to closed user 
groups through the use of ordinary 
telecommunications infrastructure. 
The Network is based on ETSI’s TETRA 
technology and allows its users to combine 
the advantages of Digital Mobile Telephony 
and Data Transfer Networks. During 2005, 
the installation and operation of seven new 
Base Stations and three repeaters of the 
OTElink-TETRA network was completed 
and their total number reached 73. 
Furthermore, 20 new customer groups 
were incorporated in the network with 
820 connections and the total number of 
users reached 4,513. OTE aims at increasing 
the number of connections, in 2006, by 
2,000 connections approximately, providing 
coverage along the main national roads.

Fault management
With regard to Management Network 
Systems, OTE aims to achieve a more 
efficient, cost-effective and systematic 
service in operations, maintenance, and 
fault repair as well as providing the relevant 
statistical data and reports on OTE’s 
telecommunication network. To this end, 
OTE has invested in the installation and 
operation of Management and Operation 
Support Systems for the equipment 
used by the Company. Network’s 
management will be centralized in 2006, 
via the establishment of a central Network 
Operations Centre (NOC) that will ensure 
the timely, effective and comprehensive 
handling of faults throughout the country.

International

International telecommunications 
infrastructure
OTE is the leading provider of international 
telecommunication services in Greece. 
The international telephony traffic of 
the Company is carried out via three 
international digital exchanges—two in 
Athens and one in Thessaloniki—and 
is routed via international networks, 
submarine and land cables as well as 
satellite links. OTE participates in various 
international submarine cable consortia. 
It has also installed its own DWDM/SDH 
international network, which connects 
initially Greece with Italy, and then with the 
large Western European cities, through a 
pan-European network.

Fixed Telephony
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The GWEN network, Greece’s main 
international telecommunications artery, 
began commercial operations in April 2004. 
This network, with a total capacity of 
16XSTM16, consists of the Greek Domestic 
Ring, the Submarine Ring, the Italian Ring 
and the Western European Ring. It features 
a ring-based design and provides fully 
protected, high-availability (99.95%), high-
speed services to Western Europe. Finally, 
two additional wavelengths are expected 
to be complete by the end of 2007.

OTEGlobe
OTEGlobe, OTE’s wholly owned subsidiary, 
offers international wholesale telephony 
services to the Greek market. The Company 
manages OTE’s international telephony 
networks and is engaged in:

• Developing, promoting and providing 
a wide range of Data/IP services, 
capacities, interconnection products and 
integrated services for the transfer of 
voice, data, video and multimedia

• Providing services to Telecommunication 
Operators in the Greek and international 
market, offering integrated and 
customized solutions

• Business operation and management of 
OTE’s international telephony services

• Providing integrated and fully managed 
international MPLS/IP services to large 
business customers and providers in the 
Balkans and South East Europe.
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During 2005, OTEGlobe increased its 
revenues by 57%, as a result of the 
substantial increase in revenue from 
provision of international MPLS/IP network 
data services and international leased 
circuits. Despite the continuing trend of 
falling prices, in the international wholesale 
market, the Company managed to grow its 
business. This came as a result of:

• Strengthening and enhancing customer 
relations

• OTEGlobe being awarded the two 
international tenders of Turk Telekom. 
The total value of the contracts exceeded 
€ 30 million

• Signing an agreement with DANTE 
(Delivery of Advanced Technology 
to Europe Ltd) for the provision of 
interconnection and capacity services in 
the South East Mediterranean region.

During the year, the Company, in its 
capacity as manager of OTE’s international 
network, increased the usage of the 
new, high-capacity network GWEN 
substantially, and signed agreements, 
with a value of over € 65 million, covering 
more than 90% of its development cost. 
In addition, OTEGlobe more than doubled 
the total capacity of the international 
MPLS/IP network to better serve the 
needs of international customers and the 
Greek broadband market, and routed 
international VoIP traffic through the 
International MPLS/IP network, covering 
30% of total international telephone traffic, 
with significant savings to transmission 
costs. 

Furthermore, the Company reinforced its 
presence in international exchanges (IXs), 
employed new international signalling 
and MTP routing (STP/SCCP) services and 
developed new services based on Ethernet 
technologies (International Ethernet 
Transport Service, International Ethernet 
VPN). 

During 2005, OTEGlobe formed 
partnerships with international 
telecommunication companies in the 
area of hubbing and refile services, and 
successfully met Cosmote’s and Globul’s 
needs for GPRS Roaming (GRX) services. 
Cosmote Romania is expected to join this 
service in the near future. 

Fixed Telephony
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Wholesale 
The Wholesale Division of OTE develops 
products and services for alternative 
operators. Since the liberalization of the 
market, in 2001, OTE offers wholesale 
services to other operators, so as to 
enable and promote the development of 
a competitive Greek telecommunications 
market. Traditional wholesale services 
include interconnection links, unbundled 
local loop, number portability, wholesale 
Dial-up Internet, leased lines and voice 
interconnection services, while new services 
are being continuously developed.

During the year, OTE’s wholesale division 
developed a series of products, such as: 
the OKSYA II service - Integrated Central 
Connection to ADSL Service - through 
Gigabit Ethernet and interconnection of the 
Operator at central or regional level and a 
Backbone IP service, and created the base 
of the Universal Telephone Directory (UTD), 
as part of OTE’s obligation to provide 
Universal Service. 

As a response to regulatory requirements, 
OTE also offered enhanced access by other 
operators to both full and shared local 
loop, and to related services, such as co-
location. By the end of 2005, more than 
5,000 local loops with full access were 
provided to 12 operators. In addition, more 
than 1,800 local loops with shared access 
were provided, compared to 928, in 2004. 
Four OTE local exchanges were provided 
for physical co-location, and were used by 
nine operators. Remote co-locations were 
provided at 159 exchanges - increasing 
from 107 in 2004 - and a total of 16 
operators were interconnected to the ADSL 
network. The number of wholesale ADSL 
connections exceeded 50,000 compared to, 
approximately, 5,900 in 2004.

OTE has setup procedures for the 
generation of ADSL statistical and 
information reports, carrier pre-selection 
and local loop services, as well as after-sales 
support and a helpdesk so as to manage 
operators’ requests in the most efficient 
manner. In addition, a special wholesale 
website has been set up under the domain: 
www.otewholesale.gr.

Internet
ΟΤΕnet

OTEnet offers Internet access and services, 
data and voice-integrated telecom services 
over the Internet Protocol (IP), as well as 
Web applications and hosting services to 
residential users and businesses. OTE is 
OTEnet’s main shareholder with a 94.59% 
stake, while the rest is held by two State 
educational and research institutions. In 
2005, OTEnet grew its customer base and 
continued with its investment program to 
ensure that all customers enjoy the quality, 
reliability, speed and consistency of the 
largest Internet and IP service provider in 
Greece.

Focused on developing cutting-edge, 
integrated solutions for medium and 
large companies, OTEnet improved its 
infrastructure significantly, to ensure secure 
and reliable Internet connections for both 
businesses and residential customers. 
Following a thorough assessment and 
evaluation of OTEnet’s network operation 
tools and processes - by Cisco Europe 
Advanced Services -, it was established 
that OTEnet’s network performance was 
20% higher than the industrial European 
average. 

In line with its strategy of providing 
innovative products and services to 
its customers, OTEnet carried out and 
completed 18 projects related to the 
development of new services, the 
upgrading of existing services and the 
optimization of the Company’s network 
infrastructure. During 2005, OTEnet 
completed the design and development of 
over 50 websites for key account customers.

OTEnet’s customer base, which includes 
state bodies, large corporations and 
organizations, increased significantly in 
2005. By year-end, OTEnet had 413,000 
active residential customers and almost 
14,000 active business customers. 
Reflecting this increase, operating revenues 
grew by 11.5% to € 97.2 million 
(€ 87.2 million in 2004).

OTEnet espouses and strongly promotes 
research and development. The Company 
explores new trends, technologies and 
applications and at the same time develops 
new services based on specific standards.

During 2006, OTEnet will focus on the 
following:

• Broadband Internet Access and 
Services: Market increase and boost, 
emphasizing competitive effectiveness

• Data and Voice Telecom Services for 
business customers, based on Internet 
Protocol (IP) Technologies

• Informatics and Hosting Services, based 
on Internet Protocol (IP) Technologies.

In 2006, OTEnet will continue to target the 
consumer and business markets, aiming at 
increasing the overall market size, with a 
corresponding increase in its own market 
share. Emphasis will be placed on the 
development of integrated solutions based 
on Internet technologies. In addition to 
access and hosting services, OTEnet aims 
at consolidating its presence in the value-
added services market by introducing a 
more user-friendly Internet access. 

Voice@net by OTEnet
Voice@net, OTEnet’s subsidiary, continued 
to grow at a rapid pace in 2005. The 
Company provides integrated solutions 
to businesses, meeting their specialized 
telecommunications needs. Areas covered 
include local, long distance, international 
telephony and calls to mobile phones. 
The Company, which is making impressive 
progress, reported, in 2005 a turnover of 
€ 22.2 million increased by 38%, as against 
2004 (€ 16.1 million) and continues to be 
profitable.

OTEnet Cyprus, in which OTEnet 
participates by 60%, provides services to a 
broad customer base offering integrated 
telephony service packages at competitive 
rates. The Company provides service to over 
600 business customers. 

Internet
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Investing in the future
We are developing cutting-edge integrated 
solutions based on Internet technologies

Investing in the future
We are developing cutting-edge integrated 
solutions based on Internet technologies
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Modernizing
the network

RomTelecom is increasing the efficiency of 
its businesses, digitalizing its network and 
building out broadband ADSL capabilities. 

The OTE Group acquired majority 
ownership - 54.01% - of RomTelecom’s 
share capital in the beginning of 2003, 
while the other 45.99 % remains under 
the ownership of the Romanian State. In 
2004, Romtelecom’s management team 
set off the implementation of an ambitious 
Transformation Plan, aimed at reforming 
and optimizing all company operations 
and systems. 

As a result of this process, Company’s 
organizational structure was significantly 
simplified. Regional operations were 
grouped under 7 Divisions, compared to 
41 previously, while the Company’s Human 
Resources, IT, Network, Administration, 
Finance and Procurement functions 
were centralized through the creation 
of a Corporate Center. Following this 
restructuring process, RomTelecom was 
able to proceed with a large voluntary 
retirement plan under which, headcount 
was reduced by 45% in the 2004-2005 
period. More than 5,000 employees left the 
Company during 2005, effecting thereafter 
significant operational efficiency. 

2005, the second year of the Transformation 
Plan’s implementation, was an outstanding 
year for the Company in terms of financial 
and operational performance. Most of the 
targets set in RomTelecom’s 2005 Business 
Plan were surpassed and financial results 
were significantly improved compared to 
those of 2004.

On a consolidated basis, revenue grew 
by 6.6% compared to 2004, reaching 
€ 929.7 million, while operating income 
before depreciation and amortization 
increased by 14%, reaching € 341.5 million. 
Net income reached € 178.4 million, 
increasing by 67%. At the end of 2005, 
the Company had 3,957,870 lines, bringing 
the number of lines per employee to 303, 
compared to 240 at the end of 2004.

During 2005, the Company proceeded 
with the consolidation of its operations 
by focusing on its core activities. The 
loss-making cable TV subsidiary CVR was 
sold to a local cable TV operator, and 
RomTelecom’s ISP subsidiary Artelecom 
was absorbed by the parent company so 
as to streamline operations related to the 
provision of advanced data services.

RomTelecom’s network was significantly 
improved via the replacement of all manual 
switches with digital ones, in urban areas. 
The overall network digitalization level 

now stands at 85%. At the same time, 
the access network is being gradually 
developed and optimized so as to enable 
the Company to expand its broadband 
services and capabilities.

Along with the new billing systems -
GENEVA for business and retail customers 
and PRM AMDOCS for interconnect 
partners -which were deployed in 2005, 
a financial e-business system was also 
introduced. 

In July, Cosmote, the mobile telephony 
arm of the OTE Group, acquired through 
a capital increase, a 70% stake and 
management control in RomTelecom’s 
mobile telephony company Cosmorom, 
which was subsequently renamed Cosmote 
Romania. RomTelecom still holds a 30% 
stake in Cosmote Romania.

RomTelecom’s targets, for 2006, include 
the optimization of key financial indicators, 
an increase in broadband/ADSL network’s 
capacity, the completion of an e-business 
system, the roll out of automation systems, 
and the enhancement of customer services.

Finally, the Romanian State has decided 
to proceed with the disposal of its stake 
in RomTelecom through an Initial Public 
Offering (IPO), expected to take place 
during 2006.

RomTelecom

RomTelecom
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Investing in 
tomorrow’s 
markets

Mobile Telephony
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Cosmote

Cosmote, which ranks among the fastest 
growing mobile operators in Europe for 
2005, - according to research and analyses 
of international investment firms with 
respect to the performance of European 
mobile operators -, was established by 
OTE in 1996 to provide DCS-1800 mobile 
telephony services at a national scale. 
Cosmote is licensed to provide mobile 
telecommunications services in the 1800 
frequency band with the spectrum of 2x25 
MHz and in the EGSM frequency with the 
spectrum 2x5 MHz. 

In October 2002, Cosmote was granted 
a Special License for the use of spectrum 
zone 2.4 GHz for the provision of Wireless-
Lan Public Mobile Communications 
Services. In the beginning of 2006, the 
Company was granted a license for the 
temporary use of spectrum zone 3.5 GHz 
from NTPC (National Telecommunications 
and Post Commission) for a pilot use of 
WiMax technology. 

At the end of 2005, the Company’s 
shareholding structure was the following: 
OTE owned 64.37% and the remaining 
35.63% was free float. After the increase 
of the Company’s share capital, following 
the Decision of 22.12.2005 for the exercise 
of Stock Options, the share capital of 
Cosmote amounts to € 156,833,411.70 and 
consists of 333,688,110 shares. During April 
2006, OTE acquired 9.5 million Cosmote 
shares. As a result, as from April 14, 2006, 
Cosmote’s shareholding structure was 
the following: OTE owned 67% and the 
remaining 33% was free float.

Cosmote’s network interconnects with 
OTE’s fixed network and other fixed 
networks as well as with the three other 
mobile telephony networks operated by 
Vodafone (Hellas), TIM (Hellas) and Q-
Telecom. In addition, the Company has an 
IN (Intelligent Network) platform that offers 
VPN and pre-paid services.

At the end of 2005, Company’s network 
consisted of 2,900 activated BTSs, 16 
Mobile Switching Centers (MSCs), out of 
which two were transit (TMSC), with a 
capacity of 4,550,000 subscribers and 6 
Home Location Registers (HLRs) with a 
capacity of 5,640,000 subscribers. At the 
same time, Cosmote’s network covered 
approximately 99.6% of the population of 
Greece, 95% of its mainland and islands 
and 97% of its territorial waters. Cosmote, 
achieved nationwide coverage in one third 
of the time it had taken its competitors and 
has thus been characterized as the most 
successful third entrant, mobile operator in 
Europe. 

Cosmote’s targets for 2006, with respect to 
its network, include: 

•  Installation of 100 additional BTSs and 
expansion of capacity in 300 BTSs 

•  Installation of approximately 250 3G BTS 
and 3 Radio Network Controller (RNC).

At year-end 2005, the Company’s 
subscriber base had reached 4,644,440, 
an 11.9% increase compared to the end of 
2004, with an estimated market share of 
around 37.3%. Cosmote retains the leading 
position in the contract market segment 
in Greece, with a total of 1,724,590 
post-paid customers, as of December 31, 
2005. Contract customers are considered 
an important source of revenues for the 
company. In addition to its standard and 
enhanced GSM 900 and 1800 services, 
including international dialling and 
roaming, the Company offers its customers 
a number of value-added services, including 
voice mail, short message services (SMS), 
multimedia message services (MMS), call 
diversion and caller identification, credit 
extension service, i-mode® services, video 
calling and video streaming. Specific value-
added services are offered to business 
customers, such as VPN and the data and 
fax transmission service, “Private Wire”. 

Cosmote holds the second position in the 
greek pre-paid mobile market segment. 
As of December 31, 2005, Cosmote had 

2,919,850 pre-paid customers (using 
the “COSMOKARTA” and “what’s up?” 
products). Pre-paid customers currently 
have access to a large number of value-
added services, including voice mail, SMS, 
MMS, credit extension service, customer 
care, directory inquiries and i-mode 
services.

In May 2004, Cosmote launched its 3G 
services, introducing video streaming for 
the first time in the Greek mobile market 
and also featuring video-calling. The 
Company’s 3G network at the end of 2005 
covered 48.4% of the country’s population, 
mostly the metropolitan areas of Athens 
and Thessaloniki, as well as other major 
Greek cities. 

In June 2004, Cosmote began offering 
exclusively to the Greek mobile market, 
i-mode, the world’s most popular mobile 
Internet service, following an exclusive 
partnership agreement with the Japanese 
leading provider of mobile communications 
services NTT DoCoMo. As a result of its 
i-mode service offering, Cosmote has 
significantly enriched its data services 
portfolio. 

The enhancement of i-mode services is a 
continuous process for Cosmote. Thus, 
by December 2005, the total number of 
i-mode sites increased to 176 - from 155 in 
the beginning of the year -, and more sites 
will be added in the course of 2006. 

Subscribers who have activated the i-mode 
service reached 184,919 by the end of 
December 2005, 76.6% of which are post-
paid users, 16.8% pre-paid and 6.6% large 
accounts. Along with the expansion of its 
content portfolio, with the inclusion of new 
sites, Cosmote launched 13 new i-mode 
handsets during 2005, raising the total 
number of available i-mode handsets to 23. 
During the first half of 2005, Cosmote, in 
cooperation with NTT DoCoMo, was the 
first company internationally—following 
Japan—to launch 3G i-mode services, 
which include Mobile Music, 3D Games, 
and updated Java applications.

Mobile telephony
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In April 2005, Cosmote introduced the 
Wireless Connect Card, an advanced 
PCMCIA data card, which offers fast access 
to the Internet, e-mail and corporate data 
applications through a personal computer 
(laptop). The data card can be used with all 
types of wireless networks 3G/GPRS/GSM/
WLAN.

In December 2005, Cosmote and Research 
In Motion (RIM) announced the launch 
of BlackBerry®, an integrated wireless 
solution that enables Cosmote customers 
to access information and communicate 
quickly, easily and efficiently via phone, 
e-mail, SMS, Internet, organizer and 
corporate data applications. 

Cosmote’s main strategic goal is to 
draw on business opportunities in the 
telecommunications market, so as to 
continually enhance its leading position 
in Greece and consolidate its presence in 
South Eastern Europe. In this context, the 
Company: 

• Has extended its international activities, 
since August 2000, with the purchase 
of 82.5% of the shares of the Albanian 
Mobile Communications company 
(AMC), which is one of the most 
profitable mobile companies in the 
sector, with an EBITDA margin of 60% at 
the end of 2005, among the highest in 
Europe 

• During the third quarter of 2005, 
Cosmote completed the acquisition 
of OTE’s two mobile telephony 
companies, GloBul in Bulgaria and 
Cosmofon in FYROM - through the 
acquisition of 100% of the shares of 
OTE MTS HOLDING B.V owner of 100% 
of Cosmofon’s shares -, which were 
managed since January 2003. The cash 
consideration was € 490 million, € 400 
million for GloBul and € 90 million for 
Cosmofon 

• On July 8, 2005 Cosmote completed 
the acquisition of 70% of the share of 
Cosmote Romania - former Cosmorom -, 
by participating with €120 million in a 
capital increase of the latter. RomTelecom 
retains the remaining 30% stake. All of 
Cosmote Romania’s liabilities, except 
for liabilities up to €18 million, were 
capitalized or written off. Additionally, 
Cosmote and RomTelecom have entered 
into a Shareholders’ Agreement providing 
for certain minority protection rights 
for RomTelecom. Cosmote re-launched 
Cosmote Romania, according to plan, 
on December 6, 2005 with a new 
Management 

• Since December 2005, Cosmote 
addresses approximately 45 million 
people, in five countries in South East 
Europe 

• Cosmote also participates in the 
first electronic commerce, Business 
to Business (B2B) venture in Greece, 
CosmoONE, following its affiliation with 
OTE DIENEKIS PLIROFORIKI, ALPHA 
BANK and NATIONAL BANK OF GREECE. 
The Company also participates in the 
biggest electronic music store in the 
Greek Internet, promoting a significant 
Business to Consumer (B2C) venture, 
through its participation with the 
company VIVERE ENTERTAINMENT, the 
Greek licensee of Virgin trademarks, 
to the share capital of the company 
COSMO-MEGALA KATASTIMATA

• In May 2006, Cosmote signed an 
agreement with Mr. P. Germanos, 
founder and major shareholder of 
Germanos S.A., and other shareholders to 
acquire 42% of the outstanding shares of 
Germanos S.A., at € 19 per share, subject 
to receiving the necessary approvals 
by the relevant regulatory authorities. 
Following this acquisition, Cosmote 
intends, through a special purpose vehicle 

company, to launch a public tender offer 
for the remaining shares of Germanos 
S.A. at the same price, in accordance with 
applicable Greek legislation. This public 
tender offer is expected to be completed 
by the end of September 2006. As part 
of the transaction, Mr. P. Germanos has 
agreed to offer to acquire certain assets 
which will not be core to the future of 
the Company.

• In addition to the aforementioned 
agreement, during May, 2006, Cosmote 
acquired free floated shares representing 
14.73% of Germanos S.A.

• The acquisition of Germanos S.A., one 
of the most successful brands and 
telecommunication retailers in Europe, 
is of major strategic importance to 
Cosmote, adding in one go the most 
efficient retail networks in four out of 
five countries of operation and capturing 
an important element of the mobile 
services value chain. With Germanos’ 
total network of 537 retail outlets in 
Greece, Bulgaria, Romania and FYROM, 
Cosmote will expand its retail presence 
and further grow its business. Addressing 
its customers directly, Cosmote will 
now be able to promote its commercial 
strategy through Germanos’ successful 
presence and established brand. Along 
with the potential for faster turnover 
growth, Cosmote will enjoy increased 
profitability in the mobile services 
through economies of scale and 
synergies and reduced operational and 
market risks.

Cosmote’s international roaming 
agreements - with mobile operators in 182 
countries -, which enable mobile phone 
users to make and receive calls using a 
foreign country’s GSM network while 
paying the home GSM provider for the calls, 
reached 391 as of December 31, 2005.

Mobile Telephony
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Cosmote’s Financial Performance 
(Under IFRS, Consolidated Results: 
Greece, Albania, FYROM, Bulgaria, 
Romania)
Group revenues for the full year 2005 
amounted to € 1,798 million, up by 13.2% 
compared to the same period last year. 
Turnover growth was driven by higher 
usage in Greece, the consolidation of 
Globul and Cosmofon for five and four 
and a half months respectively - adding 
approximately 9% - and the ongoing 
growth in Albania (up by 13.5%). Cosmote 
Group EBITDA increased by 11.8% year-
on-year, with EBITDA margin at 42%, 
compared to 42.5% reported in the 
previous year, due to the consolidation of 
new growth assets. 

Cosmote net income - on a consolidated 
basis - grew by 10% reaching € 339.9 
million with net income margin at 18.9%. 
Earnings per share (EPS) amounted to € 
1.02 compared to € 0.93 one year ago. 

Revenues in 2005, in Greece, amounted to 
€ 1,517.5 million, posting an annual 
increase of 3.2%. Growth in Greek core 
service revenues - monthly fees, airtime, 
SMS & data, roaming revenue -, was up 
by 4% in the 12 months, demonstrating 
the significant impact of higher usage. 
EBITDA in Greece increased by 5.6%, 
reaching € 639.3 million while the EBITDA 
margin continued its upward trend on 
an annual basis, reaching 42.1%, up by 1 
percentage point compared to 2004. The 
EBITDA margin enhancement is the result 
of improved overall cost management. 
Cosmote Greece net earnings amounted 
to € 315.6 million, posting an increase of 
13.6% versus 2004 with the net income 
margin reaching 20.8%. 

The Company’s total number of customers, 
at the end of 2005, exceeded 4.6 million, 
11.9% higher than the previous year. 
Cosmote’s market share was estimated to 
exceed 37%, reaffirming its leading position 
in the Greek mobile market.

Cosmote’s principal strategic objective is 
to further enhance Company’s value and 
to continue to capitalize on any attractive 
opportunities in the mobile markets of 
Greece and South East Europe. In pursuit 
of this objective, the Company remains 
focused on the following strategic 
priorities:

• Sustain profitability and leadership in 
market share, in the Greek market.

• Enhance voice usage, stimulate VAS and 
increase their revenue contribution. Build 
most reliable mobile networks and offer 
the most reliable services in all markets of 
operation 

• Establish model “work-place” 
organization, in terms of quality 
and efficiency

• Differentiate from competition on 
all fronts

• Optimize customer base management 
through an extensive distribution 
network in all markets it operates.

• Optimize capital structure and increase 
returns to shareholders

• Improve market position in all new 
markets it operates.

AMC, Albania 
Since August 2000, Cosmote’s 97% 
subsidiary, COSMOHOLDING ALBANIA, 
owns 85% of the shares of the Albanian 
Mobile Communications company. 
Following Cosmote’s take over of AMC 
operations, AMC’s network was upgraded.

AMC’s revenues for the full year 2005 
were 13.5% higher than the previous year, 
reaching € 137.6 million. AMC’s EBITDA 
margin reached 60%, while net income 
margin stood at 30.1%. 

At the end of December 2005, the 
Company had 781,496 customers - 
compared to 638,728 at the end of 2004 -, 
the majority of which were pre-paid. 

GloBul, Bulgaria
Cosmote began consolidating GloBul’s 
results in August 2005, when the 
acquisition of 100% of the shares of GloBul 
was completed. Since then GloBul has been 
delivering an impressive operational and 
financial performance. 

GloBul’s revenues for the full year 2005 
stood at €274.1 million, 54.4% higher than 
a year ago. EBITDA margin reached 34.2% 
while net income margin stood at 9.6%, 
turning positive for the first time on an 
annual basis.

GloBul’s total number of customers at 
the end of 2005 was 2,393,717, posting 
a 47.3% increase year-on-year and the 
Company held an estimated market 
share of 40%. Contract customers at the 
end of December 2005 accounted for, 
approximately, one third of the subscriber 
base, up by 44%, compared to the previous 
year, while pre-paid customers rose by 49% 
in relation to previous year’s figure. 

Cosmofon, FYROM
Cosmofon is 100% owned by Cosmote 
- through the acquisition of 100% of the 
shares of OTE MTS HOLDING B.V, owner of 
100% of Cosmofon’s shares - since August 
2005, when Cosmofon’s results were also 
consolidated. 

At the end of 2005, Cosmote 
addressed a population of 
approximately 45 million people in 
five countries in South East Europe

Mobile Telephony
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Cosmofon’s revenues increased by 72.2% 
year-on-year to € 40.4 million in 2005, 
driven mainly from a 56.6% increase in its 
subscriber base. Cosmofon’s EBITDA margin 
reached 5% for the year 2005, producing 
positive results, for the first time, for the 
full 12-month period after its third year of 
operation. 

As at December 31, 2005 Cosmofon had 
384,186 customers compared to 245,294 
in 2004. Its market share stands at 30.5% 
whilst the bulk of subscribers, about 90%, 
are pre-paid. 

Cosmote Romania, Romania 
Following an intensive network rollout 
period, since Cosmote acquired the 
majority (70%) stake of Cosmote Romania 
in July 2005, the Company launched its 
commercial operations on December 6, 
2005, as scheduled. The consolidation of 
Cosmote Romania’s results began during 
the 3rd quarter of 2005, at a time when 
all efforts and resources were targeted at 
re-launching the business.

Cosmote Romania’s consolidated results 
for 2005 reported € 5.1 million revenues, 
€ -13.8 million EBITDA and € 21 million 
net loss, reflecting primarily the financial 
requirements of the commercial launch and 
the first few weeks of operations. 
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In a highly contested environment, we 
are targeting opportunities in markets 
with a potential for the future
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OTE Estate 
OTE AKINHTA S.A. - brand name OTE 
Estate - is OTE’s 99.99% subsidiary. In 2001, 
OTE’s real estate property was transferred 
to OTE Estate through a “spin-off” 
procedure, which was concluded in 2003. 
As a result, OTE Estate currently owns and 
manages all of OTE’s properties, with OTE 
being the main tenant.

OTE Estate is focused on the utilization 
and commercial exploitation of OTE’s real 
estate and on achieving re-valuations 
through an efficient management of the 
properties.

OTE Estate’s strategic objectives include:

•  Efficient management of OTE’s housing 
needs, mainly aimed at optimizing 
occupancy levels at buildings with a 
strategic importance for OTE and at the 
reduction of housing costs

•  Utilization of the surplus of areas, 
effected by rapid technological 
developments in the telecommunications 
field and through a rational housing 
policy

•  Profitable investment of cash reserves  in 
the development of new properties and 
in the improvement of existing buildings.

The most important event in 2005 was 
the launch of the project: “New Materials 
Management Centre OTE at Parnitha” 
covering a total area of 11,500 sq.m. The 
project has since been completed and will 
be leased to OTE. 

During the same period, OTE Estate 
proceeded with the upgrading of its 
infrastructure in view of anticipated 
challenges. Indeed, OTE’s restructuring, 
along with the Voluntary Retirement 
Plan that is currently underway, further 
expand OTE Estate’s scope of work. The 
anticipated reduction of personnel will lead 
to a significant increase of available space 
- buildings for utilization -, will introduce 
further opportunities for new activities, 
and OTE Estate could thus become a 
new source of revenues, akin to the core 
telecommunications businesses of the 
Group. Ways in which the Company could 
become a new source of revenue, are 
anchored in the Company’s strategy, which 
focuses on the rationalization of OTE’s 

housing policy, while maintaining control 
of buildings with a strategic importance 
and on achieving re-valuations through the 
utilization, development and exploitation 
of the remaining real estate property. The 
realization of these targets requires the 
partial reorganization of the Company 
and recruitment of specialized personnel 
in key positions, a process that is currently 
underway. 

INFOTE 
INFOTE, which is 99,99% owned by OTE, is 
engaged in the promotion and advertising 
of businesses and professional services 
firms through directory services in printed 
and electronic form. The Company owns 
the largest businesses and professionals 
directory in Greece, which may be accessed 
through the Internet (www.xo.gr) or by 
phone (11811). INFOTE’s customer base 
provides the basis for the content of the 
44 printed professional directories that the 
Company brings out annually.

During 2005, the number of customers 
increased by 15% while advertisement 
revenues rose by 12.1%. Sales network 
expansion continued in Greece and Cyprus, 
along with the opening of new offices 
throughout the country. Furthermore, 
INFOTE published 44 professional 
directories, a Maritime Yellow Pages and 
five new Daily Yellow Pages. The Company 
also pursued the upgrading of www.
greekbiz.com, the Internet-based business 
club for companies owned by Greek 
nationals and launched a telephone-based 
information service in Cyprus.

INFOTE’s revenues for 2005 totaled 
€ 57.72 million against € 59.33 million in 
2004, representing a 2.8% decrease, due 
to a reduction in printing projects carried 
out for third parties. Company’s net profit 
before taxes declined by 2.3% and reached 
€ 15.38 million, as compared to
€ 15.74 million in 2004. Finally, EBITDA 
amounted to € 17.7 million, 0.8% higher 
than the previous year, while EBITDA 
margin rose from 29.5% in 2004, to 30.6% 
in 2005. 

Company’s targets for 2006 include the 
launch of a telephone-based information 
service “11844” in Greece and the launch 
of an international directories telephone-

based information service, including Cyprus, 
through the number 11822. INFOTE also 
plans the development of new services-
products through “11811” and “11822”, 
the upgrading of Regional Yellow Pages 
from two-colour to four-colour editions, 
and the expansion of VoIP to regional 
offices countrywide.

Further INFOTE objectives include the 
expansion of Daily Yellow Pages publication 
to the cities of Rodos, Ioannina, Volos, 
W. Thessaloniki and Nicosia, the release 
of an English version of Maritime Yellow 
Pages and a Russian version of the Greek 
Yellow Pages on the Internet, as well as the 
establishment of an INFOTE portal.

OTEAcademy
The company “ANONYMOS EKPEDEFTIKI 
OTE”, a 99.99% OTE subsidiary, operating 
under the business name “OTEAcademy” is 
providing, since February 2005, advanced 
vocational training and expanding the 
activities of OTE’s training center.

OTEAcademy is a Cisco Academy, providing 
CCNA training and certification and a 
Certiport authorized examination centre for 
Microsoft Office Specialist and IC3. Focused 
on establishing its position in the wider 
market as a Communication Technology 
Training Organization of an academic 
level, the Company provides high-standard 
training to both OTE Group employees and 
the broader public and private sectors.

OTEAcademy has certified Vocational 
Training Centers in Athens and Thessaloniki. 
It collaborates with Greek and foreign 
universities and educational institutes and 
applies a large variety of training practices, 
namely classroom teaching, e-learning, 
business games etc. The Company’s 
philosophy is based on the LEAP - Learn & 
Apply - Concept, and the training provided 
is enhanced both by a dynamic business 
environment as well as technology. The 
Training Centre includes 18,500 sq.m. of 
installations - classrooms, laboratories, 
video conference rooms, a fully-equipped 
Lecture Theatre, a 10,000-title library, 
lecture halls, vision theatre - in Athens and 
Thessaloniki.

Other Operations

Other Operations
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OTEAcademy’s investment plan, which 
is under way, entails the advancement 
and optimization of the Company’s 
infrastructure, such as network and 
telecommunications equipment, work 
environment equipment, Software 
applications - ERP, CRM, and Asset 
Management -, lab telecom equipment, 
classroom IT infrastructure, as well as 
e-learning system implementation. 

Company’s goals for 2006 include the 
provision of training services to OTE 
Group’s personnel, both in Greece and 
abroad, the establishment of partnerships 
with Greek and international educational 
institutes, a further boost in Company’s 
penetration levels in corresponding 
markets, and the successful implementation 
of the Company’s investment plan. 
 

Hellas Sat
Hellas Sat provides satellite services, 
including capacity for broadcasting, 
Internet trunking and direct access services 
- wholesale -, broadband services - retail -,
corporate networks and occasional use. 
The Company, in which OTE participates by 
95.69% is active in the regions of Western 
and central Eastern Europe, the Middle 
East, Africa, India and Pakistan.

In 2005, the Company’s operating 
revenues reached € 10.58 million. During 
the same year, Broadcasting revenues’ 
contribution to total revenues increased, 
and it is estimated that they will amount to 
80% of total revenues by 2008. In 2006, 
the Company launched the provision of 
broadband services, which are expected to 
comprise approximately 10% of the total 
revenues by 2008.

Hellas Sat’s strategy focuses on the 
development of the 39°E orbital position 
into an attractive alternative proposal 
in the international market, for video 
broadcasting applications
- wholesale -, “hot” value-added 
broadband neighborhood - wholesale - and 
the provision of value-added services to 
consumers - retail -. 

OTESat-Maritel
OTESat-Maritel is a 93.9% OTE owned 
subsidiary which provides Inmarsat satellite 
services with worldwide coverage and 
a single tariff per system, through the 
“Thermopile” Earth Satellite Station and 
collaborating stations. The Company 
also provides value-added services and 
integrated telecommunication solutions 
to the Greek and international maritime 
industry, by combining satellite and 
earth telecommunications networks and 
IT applications. It provides accounting 
authority services GR01 and GR12 and 
comprises a “one-stop shop” for products 
and services provided by OTE, Cosmote, 
and OTEnet to the Greek maritime market.

OTESat-Maritel commenced the commercial 
operation of new services including 
satellite broadband land and maritime 
communications and has also developed, 
as part of its international strategy, an 
intermediary sales network. 

In 2005, Company’s revenues increased 
by 2.4% as compared to 2004, reaching 
approximately € 20.95 million. Satellite 
traffic rose by 18.5%, and the Company 
held its leading position in the Greek 
maritime community with a market share 
of approximately 54% in ship-to-shore 
communications. 

OTEplus
OTEplus (previously Temagon), was 
established in 1987 as OTE’s consultancy 
subsidiary. To date, the 99% owned 
company has completed more than 250 
projects for both private and public 
companies and organizations, providing 
them with integrated consultancy services 
on issues relating to financial, regional and 
technological development. The Company 
has consolidated its position in the Greek 
consulting services market, due to its 
expertise and know-how in the field of 
new IT and Communications Technologies, 
including Management Consulting.

During 2005, OTEplus offered consultancy 
services to other OTE Group companies, 
and continued to participate in public 

tendering processes, undertaking and 
implementing projects, through European 
Union programs, which fund and promote 
research and technological development 
projects across all fields. 

OTEplus’ strategic objectives include:

•  Gradual shift from a strict 
implementation of technology and 
management consultancy projects to the 
provision of cost-oriented solutions and 
value-added services

•  Development of the appropriate know-
how and expertise through technology 
and management consultancy projects 
in areas of high potential interest and 
through the provision of engineering 
services and various construction 
projects.

CosmoONE
CosmoONE, OTE’s 30.87% owned 
subsidiary, operates an electronic 
marketplace for the provision of business-
to-business, electronic commerce 
applications and services with a focus on 
reducing costs, relating to the supply or 
commercial chain. Its customers include 
companies that are managing large supply 
volumes, complex organizational structures 
and business operations in geographically 
dispersed locations.

CosmoONE’s services include:

• e-Procurement: electronic order 
processing

• e-Auctions: electronic commercial 
negotiations

• e-Intelligent Reports: electronic 
procurement or sales data analysis for 
the purpose of decision-making in regard 
to transforming business data into useful 
information and knowledge

• e-RFx: product and suppliers’ search 
electronic systems and quote submission 
systems, including automatic evaluation, 
such as RFI (Request for Information), 
RFP (Request for Proposals), RFQ
(Request for submission of quotes and 
evaluation)

• e-invoices: electronic systems for 
invoice data transfer from suppliers’ to 
purchasers’ systems.
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Armentel, 90% owned by OTE since 1998, 
is Armenia’s incumbent operator, offering 
both fixed-line and mobile telephony 
services. In November 2004, following 
an agreement with the government 
of Armenia, the Company retained its 
monopoly in the fixed telephony market, 
whilst competition was introduced in the 
mobile telephony market.

During 2005, Company’s restructuring 
process was successfully completed, 
radically affecting the organizational 
structure as well as executives’ appraisal 
and compensation structure. Following 
the re-organization process and seeking to 
develop a new communication platform, 
that would reflect the Company’s 
customer-oriented strategy, Armentel 
redesigned its corporate logo and altered 
the look of its sales points.

During 2005, negotiations with the new 
mobile telephony operator were concluded 
and an interconnection agreement was 
signed. At the same time, Armentel’s 
mobile telephony network was further 
developed, with an increase in the number 
of base stations by 55% and a respective 
capacity increase so as to accommodate 
higher demand. The quality of the network 
was also significantly enhanced. Through 
these initiatives the Company was able 
to meet competition requirements and, 
thus, maintain its leading position in the 
deregulated mobile telephony market. As a 
result, its customer base increased by 66%, 
reaching 368,756 customers by the end of 
2005. 

Special emphasis was also placed on the 
development of the Company’s IT systems, 
focusing on the setup of a new data centre, 
the implementation of post-paid billing, the 
upgrading of the pre-paid billing platform, 
and the completion of the Corporate Data 
Network throughout Armenia. 

In fixed telephony, where Armentel still 
maintains a monopoly, the Company 
moved forward with its network’s 
digitalization plan. Digitalization levels 
reached 42%, telephone density reached 
20%, in line with its obligations against the 
revised fixed telephony operating license for 
2005, while the number of fixed telephony 
subscribers reached 594,404. In relation to 
new technologies, a study was carried out 
for the introduction of ADSL2+ and for the 
further development of VoIP technology 
for the rapidly increasing incoming and 
outgoing international traffic. Finally, 
the International Exchange was radically 
upgraded to fully meet the current and 
future needs of international telephony, 
offered exclusively by Armentel. 

The Company’s revenues in 2005 stood 
at € 119.1 million, which account for a 
39.5% increase compared to previous year’s 
results. The net income amounted to 
€ 45 million, increased by 54% compared to 
2004 (€ 29.2 million), while the net income 
margin increased from 34.2% in 2004, to 
37.8% in 2005. Moreover, in 2005, for the 
first time, a dividend of € 5 million, in total, 
was distributed to Armentel’s shareholders.

Armentel

Armentel
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Telekom Srbija (Telecom Serbia), in which 
OTE holds 20% since 1997, is Serbia’s 
incumbent operator, providing fixed-line 
and mobile telecommunications services. 
In December 2004, a New Shareholders 
Agreement was signed, increasing OTE’s 
minority rights, and thus ascertaining its 
ability to appoint two of the nine members 
of the Board of Directors, as well as the 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the 
Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

During 2005, Telecom Serbia proceeded 
with the implementation of a new 
organizational structure and, at the same 
time, with the provision of new fixed 
telephony products, such as ADSL and 
Value-Added Services.

In mobile telephony, the number of 
subscribers reached 2,993,029 (29% 
increase compared to the previous year), 
while the market share reached 60%. 
2,709,177 (94.1%) of mobile telephony 
connections were pre-paid mobile 
telephony connections and 283,252 
(9%) were contract subscribers. In 
mobile telephony, Telecom Serbia has a 
94.1% population coverage and a 87.6% 
geographical coverage.

At the end of 2005, operational revenues 
of Telecom Serbia reached 51.52 billion 
Dinar (€ 599 million), an increase of 19% 
compared to the previous year. At the same 
time Telecom Serbia had 2,698,678 fixed 
telephony connections and the network 

digitalization percentage increased from 
68.2% at year-end 2004 to 83.0% at year-
end 2005.

In June 2005, a dividend of € 5 million 
was distributed to Telecom Serbia’s 
shareholders for the financial year 2004. 
The total dividend paid to OTE, for fiscal 
year 2004, amounted to € 9.8 million, 
while in December 2005 OTE received € 3.7 
million as a pre-dividend for the financial 
year 2005. 

Key events of 2005 in the Serbian 
telecommunications market, include the 
end of fixed telephony monopoly, the 
establishment of a Telecommunications 
Regulatory Authority and the revoking of 
Mobitel’s (competing company) mobile 
telephony license.

Focused on maintaining its leading position 
in the telecommunications market, over the 
next four years, the Company will remain 
loyal to its customer-oriented strategy, 
focus on the development of its sales 
network and on a further reduction in its 
personnel numbers. 

Telekom Srbija 

Telekom Srbija
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Everyday, over 35,000 people, 
in seven countries, invest their 
knowledge and skills in the Group’s 
development and contribute 
to our shared success

Human Resources
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Upon completion of the Voluntary 
Retirement Plan, Company’s productivity, 
as measured by lines per employee, will 
increase from 428 lines at the end of 
2005, to more than 500 lines reaching the 
European average.

Along with the implementation of the 
Voluntary Retirement Plan, the Company 
is proceeding with the hiring of 1,233 
new employees with specialized skills, in 
targeted areas. This mix of new and current 
employees is expected to raise productivity 
levels, and bring OTE employee’s age 
average to satisfactory levels. 

New employees will be recruited on a 
private law non-fixed term basis, following 
a reasonable trial period of seven (7) 
months. During this time, all new recruits 
will receive the necessary basic training in 
order to adjust to the Company milieu and 
requirements.

Company’s Management is also focused 
on providing its current employees with 
the appropriate training so as to enhance 
their skills in planning, implementing 
and supporting the various operations 
and systems. To this end, the Company 
transformed its training centre into a 

At year-end 2005, OTE S.A., the parent 
company of the OTE Group, had a 
workforce of 14,741 full-time employees -
including those seconded to subsidiaries -
and 3,041 part-time (temporary) employees 
serving mainly in the company’s call 
centers.

In 2005, following an agreement with the 
unions, the Company proceeded with the 
implementation of a Voluntary Retirement 
Plan, which was executed in two phases. 
The first phase, which was concluded 
in the first half of the year, involved the 
departure of 635 employees out of a pool 
of approximately 800 eligible people. 
The second phase was more radical in 
nature and required legislation from the 
part of the Greek State, as it offered early 
retirement to much younger employees 
than previous early retirement plans. This 
plan addressed a pool of 5,200 employees, 
and was finally accepted by 4,859 of them. 
The departure schedule of the second 
phase of the plan spans from October 2005 
to October 2006, when the Voluntary 
Retirement Plan is concluded. An additional 
350 employees are expected to leave 
during 2006 through normal retirement. 

Human Resources 

 31/12/2003 31/12/2004 31/12/2005 ** 31/12/2006

Permanent 17,169 16,302 14,741  11,600 *

Temporary 1,564 438 615  650

Part-Time (call centers) 1,830 2,400 2,403  2,400

Total 20,563 19,140 17,782  14,650

* 2006 forecast is based on 4,400 anticipated dismissals and on 1,233 anticipated recruitments
** During 2005, the Company had 23 additional, indefinite time contract employees employed on a part-time basis

The table below displays the number of employees in 2004, 2005 and 2006 (forecast).

Training Societe Anonyme, with the brand 
name OTEAcademy. OTEAcademy’s role 
is to align its training processes with 
OTE’s training needs so as to provide the 
necessary training programs in a timely and 
efficient manner. 

In 2005, OTE implemented a new 
organizational structure, which is expected 
to ensure greater flexibility in the manner in 
which customer needs are served, simplify 
operational processes and ultimately effect 
the rationalization of operational expenses.

Another important issue for the Company is 
personnel’s evaluation. Hence, OTE decided 
to review and reform its HR appraisal 
system, which will ensure the proper 
evaluation of both high-level executives 
and the rest of employees’ performance, 
making it possible for the Company to 
single out those employees, eligible for 
promotions to higher-ranking positions and 
to reward the best performing ones.

The implementation of a human resources 
policy, which fosters evaluation, motivation 
and reward, as well as life-long training, will 
ultimately bring about a shift in employees’ 
performance, and subsequently benefit 
employees, the Company and customers.
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Through the “Building Ties” CSR program, 
our OTE fixed-line business seeks to make 
a positive difference in four defined areas: 
our people, society, the marketplace 
and the environment. Our core values of 
quality, transparency, responsibility, social 
awareness, consistency and continuity of 
actions run as themes throughout this 
program.

OTE is one of the most active and major 
supporters of children’s voluntary support 
organizations such as “The Child’s Smile” 
and “Cerebral Palsy Greece”, making 
significant contributions through social 
marketing activities. During the past two 
years, we have donated over € 2 million to 
children’s causes.

When it comes to caring for the 
environment, we have an extensive 
paper-recycling program and make use 
of renewable energy. Every year, OTE 
departments recycle about 280 tons of 
paper, donating the proceeds to various 
internal and external social causes.

In addition, the will of our employees to 
contribute to volunteerism is expressed in 
our company’s participation in the Athens 
Olympic Games, as well as in our blood 
donation program, both embraced by the 
entire OTE Group. 

OTE Group’s approach to Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) reflects the nature of 
its business and place in society. We aim 
to ensure that the people of Greece and 
South East Europe have access to modern 
telecommunications, and to do so in an 
ethical manner that strikes a balance 
between the creation of profit and the 
interests of our stakeholders. 

Social responsibility is an integral part of 
our culture and has a strong influence 
on our decision-making process. We 
continuously seek to uphold the highest 
standards of business ethics.

OTE is committed to taking a positive and 
responsible role in society, believing that 
a reputation for integrity is one of the 
most important assets that a company can 
possess.

OTE fixed-line
During the past two years we have 
incorporated our CSR program into the 
Company’s strategic planning and it is now 
being implemented in a systematic and 
planned manner. We have broadened our 
scope of activity, aiming to cover all of our 
business endeavors. Social responsibility is 
ingrained in our way of thinking, playing 
an important part in how we carry out our 
day-to-day business.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Our ongoing dialogue with society 
and our active involvement in the 
communities in which we operate, 
are the defining values underpinning 
our corporate culture 

Corporate Social Responsibility
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We take an active interest in refining 
our CSR strategy, as is reflected by our 
membership of the Hellenic Network for 
Corporate Social Responsibility (member 
of the CSR Europe Network, based in 
Brussels). 

Moreover, in 2005, we were included in 
the Hellenic Network’s first Guide titled 
“CSR 50+ Best Practices”. The Guide 
includes over 50 best CSR practices from 27 
corporate members of the network, which 
were selected based on their voluntary 
nature, originality, social impact and 
business approach. We were chosen for 
two of our best practices, namely our active 
involvement in the SOS “1056” Helpline 
of the society “The Child’s Smile” and our 
endeavors towards preventing telecom and 
internet fraud. 

Our efforts have been recognized by a 
variety of independent observers, including 
the Athens Chamber of Commerce & 
Industry, the largest Chamber in Greece, 
which this year awarded OTE with a prize 
for its Corporate Social Responsibility 
Program.

CSR in our subsidiaries
OTE Group’s main subsidiaries, namely 
Cosmote, OTEnet and INFOTE, share the 
same strong belief in Corporate Social 
Responsibility. Although they share 
common CSR values and policies, they 
have designed and implement their own 
programs.

All three companies have adopted a holistic 
approach towards social responsibility, 
acknowledging its three primal dimensions 
as being financial, social and environmental.

Cosmote, our mobile operator, is 
implementing an extended CSR program 
entitled “Participation”, focused on 
environmental sustainability, education, the 
promotion of volunteerism and social care, 
with child care, preventive medicine and 
the support of socially vulnerable groups as 
main axes. 

Under its CSR program titled, “OTEnet, 
You and I Together”, our Internet service 
provider, is striving to be omnipresent 
where there is need for social solidarity and 
organized action.

INFOTE, which recognizes the importance 
of supporting non-profit organizations 
issues the “Yellow Pages of Volunteerism”, 
a telephone directory of voluntary 
organizations.

The future
Looking to the future, OTE will continue to 
broaden and formalize its CSR activities. We 
will explore further ways to make a positive 
difference to our employees, customers, 
society and the environment. 

Aiming to ensure that CSR considerations 
become even more integral to our decision-
making, we plan to further monitor and 
report on our social and environmental 
performance.

Enhancing our CSR program is an ongoing 
process, to which both OTE’s Management 
and its employees are committed. 

We pledge to build on our current 
strengths and accomplishments, as we 
strongly believe that when it comes to CSR 
a company should give back to society 
nothing but its very best.
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Management

OTE’S Board of Directors consists of the following members:

Name     Capacity

Panagis Vourloumis   Chairman / CEO -Executive Member

Iakovos Georganas    Vice-Chairman / Non-Executive Member

Georgios Bitros    Non-Executive / Independent Member

Charalambos Dimitriou   Non-Executive Member

Ilias Gounaris    Non-Executive Member

Georgios Gerapetritis  Non-Executive / Independent Member

Xeni Skorini-Paparrigopoulou   Non-Executive / Independent Member

Nikolaos Stefanou    Non-Executive Member

Panagiotis Tabourlos   Non-Executive / Independent Member

Georgios Tzovlas    Non-Executive / Independent Member

Theodoros Veniamis   Non-Executive Member

Chief Financial Officer

Iordanis Aivazis

Legal Counsel

Paraskevas Passias 

OTE’S Board of Directors for fiscal year 2005 consists of the following members:

Name     Capacity

Panagis Vourloumis    Chairman / CEO

Iakovos Georganas     Vice-Chairman

Georgios Bitros     Member

Charalambos Dimitriou    Member

Ilias Gounaris    Member

Georgios Gerapetritis  Member from 16-6-2005

Xeni Skorini-Paparrigopoulou   Member

Nikolaos Stefanou     Member

Panagiotis Tabourlos    Member

Georgios Tzovlas     Member

Theodoros Veniamis   Member

Georgios Linardatos    Member until 16-6-2005

Management
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As a publicly traded (listed) company, OTE 
operates within the context of the Greek 
Capital Market and is regulated by the 
relevant provisions of the laws governing 
the stock exchange and the capital 
market. The Athens Stock Exchange and 
the Hellenic Capital Market Committee 
constitute the Company’s supervisory 
bodies.

Company’s obligations are embodied in the 
key decision 5/204/2000 of the Hellenic 
Capital Market Committee, which was 
revised by decision 3/348/2005, and in 
conjunction with decision 7/372/2006. 
The Company is also obliged to follow 
the provisions of L. 3016/2002, which 
introduces the principles of corporate 
governance in the Greek legislation 
framework.

Since the introduction and trading of OTE 
shares on the New York Stock Exchange 
(NYSE) in November 1998, OTE is also 
bound by the regulations of the U.S. Stock 
Exchange Committee (SEC).

Audit committee
In April 1999, OTE established an 
Internal Audit Committee. According to 
its Regulation, the Audit Committee is 
comprised of three independent non-
executive members of the Board of 
Directors, of which, at least one is of 
economic expertise. One of the members 
also serves as chairman. The role of this 
Committee is to supervise internal auditors, 
to assist OTE’s Board of Directors with its 
overseeing responsibilities, by checking 
the financial information that is published, 
the audit systems, established by the 
management and the Board of Directors, 
as well as the audit process, based on the 
legislative and regulatory framework for the 
Organization’s operation and the current 
legislation on the operation of certified 
public auditors.

The Audit Committee is convened in four 
regular sessions every year following the 
preparation of the financial statements 
but before their publication. It may also 
be convened in extraordinary sessions 
whenever this is deemed necessary. The 
Audit Committee is in full session when 
all the members are present and any 
decisions are taken unanimously. The Audit 
Committee’s responsibilities are supervisory 
and have an advisory character. 

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance

Compensation &
Human Resources Committee
The Compensation & Human Resources 
Committee was established by OTE’s 
Management, in 2004. The Committee 
is appointed by the Company’s Board of 
Directors and consists of a minimum three 
members, two of which - at least - are non-
executive. The Chairman of the Committee 
is also appointed by the Board of Directors. 
The Committee meets at least twice a 
year and reports directly to the Board of 
Directors. 

The Compensation & Human Resources 
Committee sets the principles of the 
Company’s human resources policy and 
defines the Company’s compensation and 
remuneration strategy. Furthermore, the 
Committee approves compensation and 
benefits plans, stock option right programs, 
reward plans for target achievement, and 
sets the principles of Corporate Social 
Responsibility.
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Looking to the future
We remain focused on attaining 
the operational excellence that 
will allow our customers to enjoy 
best-of-class products and services

Looking to the future
We remain focused on attaining 
the operational excellence that 
will allow our customers to enjoy 
best-of-class products and services

Looking to the future
We remain focused on attaining 
the operational excellence that 
will allow our customers to enjoy 
best-of-class products and services

OTE Annual Report 2005
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Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2005For the year ended 31 December 2005
In accordance with International In accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards Financial Reporting Standards 
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40 Financial Statements

Balance sheets (stand-alone and consolidated)
as of 31 December 2005

(Amounts in millions of Euro) Notes
2005

Company
2005

Group
2004

Company
2004

Group

ASSETS

Non - current assets:
Telecommunication property, plant and equipment 5 3,032.2 6,739.6 3,404.7 6,909.7
Goodwill 6 - 72.4 - 70.8
Telecommunication licenses 7 4.2 393.0 4.6 381.0
Investments 8 1,684.1 159.3 1,834.5 221.3
Advances to pension funds 17 180.7 180.7 215.8 215.8
Deferred taxes 20 222.2 257.7 17.7 66.3
Other non-current assets 9 63.2 126.6 89.8 195.3

Total non - current assets 5,186.6 7,929.3 5,567.1 8,060.2

Current assets: 
Materials and supplies 29.7 130.3 34.6 132.4
Accounts receivable 10 779.4 1,066.7 908.3 1,071.7
Other current assets 11 321.1 411.1 188.5 269.4
Cash and cash equivalents 12 844.3 1,512.2 370.0 870.3
Total current assets 1,974.5 3,120.3 1,501.4 2,343.8

TOTAL ASSETS 7,161.1 11,049.6 7,068.5 10,404.0

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent:
Share capital 13 1,172.5 1,172.5 1,174.1 1,174.1
Paid-in surplus 13 486.6 486.6 487.5 487.5
Treasury stock 13 (5.9) (5.9) (15.1) (15.1)
Legal reserve 14 256.7 256.7 256.7 256.7
Retained earnings 798.0 1,401.6 1,037.6 1,685.0

2,707.9 3,311.5 2,940.8 3,588.2
Minority interest - 1,201.9 - 1,243.2

Total equity 2,707.9 4,513.4 2,940.8 4,831.4

Non – current liabilities:
Long-term debt 16 1,951.9 3,104.3 2,446.2 2,820.6
Reserve for staff retirement indemnities 17 162.1 172.7 278.5 284.6
Reserve for voluntary retirement program 17 603.8 603.8 - -
Reserve for Youth Account 17 284.0 284.0 301.9 301.9
Other non – current liabilities 18 43.6 139.9 43.5 162.3

Total non – current liabilities 3,045.4 4,304.7 3,070.1 3,569.4

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 558.8 720.6 662.5 843.4
Short-term borrowings 19 - 14.3 - 37.3
Current maturities of long-term debt 16 14.9 321.3 13.7 320.6
Income taxes payable 20 - 81.9 - 99.8
Deferred revenue 102.2 179.1 77.7 156.2
Reserve for voluntary retirement program 17 434.9 434.9 - -
Dividends payable 15 5.3 5.2 7.2 7.2
Other current liabilities 21 291.7 474.2 296.5 538.7

Total current liabilities 1,407.8 2,231.5 1,057.6 2,003.2

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 7,161.1 11,049.6 7,068.5 10,404.0

The accompanying notes on pages 45-86 form an integral part of these Financial Statements

The Financial Statements presented on pages 39-86, were approved by the Board of Directors on 7 March 2006 and are signed on its behalf by:

 Chairman & Managing Director Vice-Chairman Chief Financial Officer  Accounting Manager

 Panagis Vourloumis  Iakovos Georganas Iordanis Aivazis Antonis Mavromaras
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Income statements (stand-alone and consolidated)
for the year ended 31 December 2005

(Amounts in millions of Euro, except share and per share data) Notes
2005

Company 
2005

Group
2004

Company 
2004

Group

Revenues:
Domestic telephony 22 1,617.3 2,312.2 1,641.4 2,271.7
International telephony 22 216.0 391.0 217.2 376.6
Mobile telephony 22 - 1,752.2 - 1,555.6
Other revenues 22 873.7 1,019.7 887.8 1,015.4

Total revenues 2,707.0 5,475.1 2,746.4 5,219.3

Operating expenses:
Payroll and employee benefits (849.8) (1,327.1) (818.5) (1,234.3)
Charges for voluntary retirement program (939.6) (939.6) (28.9) (28.9)
Charges from international operators (103.1) (175.1) (130.7) (189.6)
Charges from domestic operators (372.7) (665.5) (394.9) (647.2)
Depreciation and amortization (542.6) (1,107.4) (552.7) (1,067.6)
Reversal of fixed assets’ impairment 8 - 75.7 - -
Extinguishment of liabilities 8 - 23.8 - -
Other operating expenses 23 (721.6) (1,335.9) (823.6) (1,437.6)

Total operating expenses (3,529.4) (5,451.1) (2,749.3) (4,605.2)

Operating income (822.4) 24.0 (2.9) 614.1

Other income/ (expense):
Interest expense (130.1) (163.2) (127.8) (165.3)
Interest income 39.4 53.9 49.1 43.6
Foreign exchange gains/ (losses), net (2.6) 34.7 (10.3) 33.0
Write-off of receivables 8 - - (21.3) (21.3)
Dividends 8 335.3 20.4 122.0 9.5
Gains/(losses) from investments 150.2 33.5 (0.4) 3.2

392.2 (20.7) 11.3 (97.3)

Profit before tax (430.2) 3.3 8.4 516.8

Income taxes 20 193.0 (19.8) (41.9) (222.5)
Profit for the period (237.2) (16.5) (33.5) 294.3

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (237.2) (216.8) (33.5) 117.1
Minority interest - 200.3 - 177.2

(237.2) (16.5) (33.5) 294.3

Basic earnings per share (0.4839) (0.4424) (0.0683) 0.2389

Diluted earnings per share (0.4839) (0.4424) (0.0683) 0.2389

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 490,150,389 490,150,389 490,150,389 490,150,389

The accompanying notes on pages 45-86 form an integral part of these Financial Statements
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42 Financial Statements

Statements of changes in equity (stand - alone)
for the Year Ended 31 December 2005

(Amounts in millions of Euro) Share Capital Paid-in Surplus Treasury Stock Legal Reserve
Retained 
Earnings Total equity

Balance at 31 December 2003 1,204.7 505.6 (276.6) 256.7 1,451.2 3,141.6

Dividends declared - - - - (171.6) (171.6)
Treasury stock cancelled (30.6) (18.2) 261.5 - (212.7) -
Deferred compensation - 0.1 - - - 0.1
Unrealized gains on available-for-
sale securities - - - - 4.2 4.2

Net income recognized directly in equity (18.1) 261.5 - (380.1) (167.3)

Profit / (loss) for the year - - - - (33.5) (33.5)

Balance at 31 December 2004 1,174.1 487.5 (15.1) 256.7 1,037.6 2,940.8

Balance at 31 December 2004 1,174.1 487.5 (15.1) 256.7 1,037.6 2,940.8

Treasury stock cancelled (1.6) (0.9) 9.2 (6.7) -
Unrealized gains on available-for-
sale securities 4.3 4.3

Net income recognized directly in Equity (1.6) (0.9) 9.2 - (2.4) 4.3

Profit / (loss) for the year (237.2) (237.2)

Balance at 31 December 2005 1,172.5 486.6 (5.9) 256.7 798.0 2,707.9

The accompanying notes on pages 45-86 form an integral part of these Financial Statements
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Statements of changes in equity (consolidated)
for the year ended 31 December 2005

Attributable to equity holders of the parent
 (Amounts in millions of Euro)

Share 
Capital 

Paid-in 
Surplus

Treasury 
Stock

Legal
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings Total

Minority 
Interest

Total
equity

Balance at 31 December 2003 1,204.7 505.6 (276.6) 256.7 1,876.7 3,567.1 1,072.6 4,639.7

Dividends declared - - - - (171.6) (171.6) (68.3) (239.9)
Treasury stock cancelled (30.6) (18.2) 261.5 - (212.7) - - -
Deferred compensation 0.1 - - - 0.1 - 0.1
Unrealized gains on available-for-
sale securities - - - - 4.2 4,2 - 4.2
Foreign currency translation - - - - 71.3 71.3 56.2 127.5
Net participation of minority shareholders - - - - - - 5.5 5.5

Net income recognized directly in equity (30.6) (18.1) 261.5 - (308.8) (96.0) (6.6) (102.6)

Profit for the period - - - - 117.1 117.1 177.2 294.3

Balance at 31 December 2004 1,174.1 487.5 (15.1) 256.7 1,685.0 3,588.2 1,243.2 4,831.4

Balance at 31 December 2004 1,174.1 487.5 (15.1) 256.7 1,685.0 3,588.2 1,243.2 4,831.4

Dividends declared - - - - (191.6) (191.6)
Treasury stock cancelled (1.6) (0.9) 9.2 (6.7) - -
Unrealized gains on available-for-
sale securities - - - - 4.3 4.3 - 4.3
Foreign currency translation 91.7 91.7 63.6 155.3
Net change of investment in subsidiaries (155.9) (155.9) (113.6) (269.5)

Net income recognized directly in equity (1.6) (0.9) 9.2 - (66.6) (59.9) (241.6) (301.5)

Profit for the period (216.8) (216.8) 200.3 (16.5)

Balance at 31 December 2005 1,172.5 486.6 (5.9) 256.7 1,401.6 3,311.5 1,201.9 4,513.4

The accompanying notes on pages 45-86 form an integral part of these Financial Statements 
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Statements of cash flows (stand-alone and consolidated)
for the year ended 31 December 2005

(Amounts in millions of Euro)
2005

Company
2005

Group
2004

Company
2004

Group

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxes (430.2) 3.3 8.4 516.8

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 542.6 1,107.4 552.7 1,067.6
Provision for voluntary retirement 914.5 914.5 - -
Provisions 271.4 280.8 314.0 327.6
Reversal of fixed assets’ impairment - (75.7) - -
Extinguishment of liabilities - (23.8) - -
Investment and financial (income)/ loss (522.3) (142.4) (160.4) (89.3)
Amortization of advances to pension funds 35.2 35.2 35.2 35.2
Interest expense 130.1 163.2 127.8 165.3
Adjustments for working capital movements related to operating activities:
Decrease in materials and supplies 4.9 2.1 8.4 15.7
Decrease/ (increase) in accounts receivable 33.6 (125.5) 138.7 26.4
Decrease in liabilities (190.3) (183.0) (145.2) (200.3)
Minus: 
Interest paid (178.6) (193.8) (128.5) (177.8)
Income taxes paid - (229.5) (145.3) (291.7)

Net cash provided by operating activities 610.9 1,532.8 605.8 1,395.5

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary or associate, net of cash acquired (299.2) (294.2) (45.7) (12.8)
Loans granted (23.0) - (26.3) -
Proceeds from loans 11.8 7.8 107.8 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets (209.5) (680.2) (344.4) (843.6)
Proceeds from sale of investment 524.8 34.8 1.7 -
Interest received 10.8 27.9 21.5 24.9
Dividends received 342.2 26.4 113.0 -

Net cash provided by /(used in) investing activities 357.9 (877.5) (172.4) (831.5)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from minority shareholders for issuance of subsidiary’s share capital - 12.8 - 11.1
Proceeds from long-term debt and short-term borrowings 11.4 588.3 (147.6) (86.2)
Repayment of long-term debt and short-term borrowings (504.0) (422.4) - 0.9
Dividends paid (1.9) (192.1) (149.8) (220.8)

Net cash used in financing activities (494.5) (13.4) (297.4) (295.0)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 474.3 641.9 136.0 269.0

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 370.0 870.3 234.0 601.3

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 844.3 1,512.2 370.0 870.3

The accompanying notes on pages 45-86 form an integral part of these Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements as of 31 December 2005
(Amounts in millions of Euro, unless otherwise stated)

1. Company’s formation and operations

The Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A. (hereinafter referred to as the “Company” or “OTE”), was founded in 1949 in accordance 
with Law 1049/49, as a state-owned Societe Anonyme. The address of its registered office is: 99 Kifissias Avenue – 151 24 Maroussi Athens, 
Greece, while its website is www.ote.gr. OTE operates pursuant to Law 2246/94 (as amended), Law 2257/94 (OTE’s Charter) and Presidential 
Decree 437/95. Until 31 December 2000, based on an extension granted by the European Commission to the Greek State, OTE had the exclusive 
rights to install, operate and exploit the public fixed switched telecommunications network in Greece and to provide public fixed switched voice 
telephony services. Effective 1 January 2001 and pursuant to the provisions of the new Telecommunications Law 2867/2000, issued in December 
2000, which amended certain provisions of the previous Law 2246/1994, the above mentioned exclusivity rights expired and the relevant market 
is open to competition. 

The accompanying annual stand-alone and consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2005 were approved for issue, by the Board of 
Directors on 7 March 2006 but they are subject to the final approval of OTE’s General Assembly.

OTE Group (hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) include the accounts of OTE and the following subsidiaries where OTE has control: 

Company Name Line of Business
Ownership 

interest 
Ownership 

interest

2005 2004

• COSMOTE MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS S.A. (“COSMOTE”) Mobile telecommunications services 64.37% 58.77%

• OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LTD Investment holding company 100.00% 100.00%

• ROMTELECOM S.A. (“ROMTELECOM”) Fixed line and mobile telephony services 54.01% 54.01%

• COSMOTE ROMANIA S.A. (ex COSMOROM) Mobile telecommunications services 61.26% 54.01%

• ALBANIAN MOBILE COMMUNICATIONS Sh.a (“AMC”) Mobile telecommunications services 53.07% 48.46%

• ARMENIA TELEPHONE COMPANY CJSC (“ARMENTEL”) Fixed line and mobile telephony services 90.00% 90.00%

• OTE MTS Holding B.V. Investment holding company 64.37% 100.00%
• COSMOFON MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES A.D. 
– SKOPJE (“COSMOFON”)

Mobile telecommunications services 64.37% 100.00%

• OTE AUSTRIA HOLDING GMBH Investment holding company 100.00% 100.00%

• COSMO BULGARIA MOBILE EAD (“GLOBUL”) Mobile telecommunications services 64.37% 100.00%

• HELLAS SAT CONSORTIUM LIMITED (“HELLAS-SAT”) Satellite communications 95.69% 83.34%
• COSMO-ONE HELLAS MARKET SITE S.A. 
    (“COSMO-ONE”)

E-commerce services 50.74% 49.01%

• OTENET S.A. (“OTENET”) Internet services 94.59% 90.20%

• HELLASCOM INTERNATIONAL S.A. (“HELLASCOM”) Telecommunication projects 100.00% 51.40%

• OTE PLC Financing services 100.00% 100.00%

• OTE SAT-MARITEL S.A. Satellite telecommunications services 93.99% 93.99%

• OTE PLUS S.A. (“OTE PLUS”) Consulting services 99.00% 99.00%

• ΟΤΕ ESTATE S.A. (“ΟΤΕ ESTATE”) Real estate 100.00% 100.00%

• INFOTE S.A. (“INFOTE”) Directory and other information services 100.00% 100.00%

• OTE INTERNATIONAL SOLUTIONS S.A. (“OTE-GLOBE”) Wholesale telephony services 100.00% 100.00%
• HATWAVE HELLENIC-AMERICAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS
    WAVE LTD. (“HATWAVE”)

Holding company 52.67% 52.67%

• OTE INSURANCE AGENCY S.A. (“OTE INSURANCE”) Insurance brokerage services 100.00% 100.00%

• COSMO-HOLDING ALBANIA S.A. (“CHA”) Investment holding company 62.44% 57.00%

• ΟΤΕ ACADEMY Α.Ε. (“OTE ACADEMY”) Training services 100.00% 100.00%

OteAnnualReport05English_9a.indd45   45OteAnnualReport05English_9a.indd45   45 28/6/2006   3:21:13 µµ28/6/2006   3:21:13 µµ



46 Financial Statements

2. Basis of preparation of financial statements

(a) Basis of preparation of financial statements:
The accompanying Stand-Alone and Consolidated Financial Statements (hereinafter «Financial Statements») have been prepared on a historical 
cost basis except for the available for sale securities (See note 8 (c)) which are at fair value with the changes recognized directly in equity. 
The accompanying Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the 
Interpretations that have been adopted by the European Union. These are the first annual Financial Statements prepared under IFRS and as such, 
they are covered by IFRS 1 “First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards” with the transition date being the 1 January 
2004.

(b) First Time Adoption of IFRS:
Up to 31 December 2004, the Company’s Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with the Greek Accounting Standards (Codified Law 
2190/1920 and Greek Chart of Accounts), which in many cases were different with IFRS. According to the EU Legislation 1606/2002 and based 
on Law 3229/04 (as amended by Law 3301/04), the Greek companies whose securities are listed in a stock exchange, shall prepare their financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS effective 1 January 2005. Based on the requirements of IFRS 1 and the requirements of the Greek law as well, 
the presentation of comparative financial statements in accordance with IFRS is required for at least one year (31 December 2004). 

In accordance with IFRS 1, for the preparation of these financial statements an entity shall use the same accounting policies that comply with each 
IFRS effective at the reporting date in its opening IFRS balance sheet and throughout all periods presented. Consequently, as the reporting date 
for the first annual IFRS financial statements is 31 December 2005, all the approved standards described above, were used for the preparation 
of these financial statements. 

In the preparation of the first annual Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS, certain adjustments and reclassifications have been made to 
the presentation of the 2004 comparative data to conform with those of 2005.

The Group has applied the transitional provisions of IFRS 2 «Share Based Payment», which was issued on 19 February 2004, for share options that 
were granted after the 7 November 2002 and had not yet vested at the effective date of this IFRS. 

The accounting policies presented below (See Note 3), have been followed on a consistent basis in all years presented by the whole Group.

The effect of transition from Greek GAAP to IFRS on the statements of changes in equity and on the income statements (stand alone and 
consolidated) are presented in Note 4. 
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3. Significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies followed by OTE for the preparation of the accompanying financial statements under IFRS are as follows:

1.  Principles of Consolidation and Investments 
a)  Subsidiaries: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of OTE and all subsidiaries where OTE has control. Control is 
presumed to exist when OTE has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the subsidiary so as to obtain benefits from its 
activities. The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared on the same reporting date with those of the parent, using consistent accounting 
policies. Appropriate adjustments are made when necessary to ensure consistency in accounting policies used. Ιntercompany balances and 
transactions and any intercompany profit or loss on assets remaining within the Group, are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred out of the Group. The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method of accounting that measures 
the acquiree’s assets and liabilities at their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

b)  Associates: The Group’s investments in other associates, in which the Group exercises significant influence, are accounted for using the 
equity method. Under this method the investment is carried at cost, and is adjusted to recognize the investor’s share of the earnings or losses 
of the investee after the date of acquisition and is adjusted for any accumulated impairment loss. The investment of an investor is also adjusted 
to reflect the investor’s share of changes in the investee’s capital. Furthermore the investment is adjusted for any accumulated impairment loss. 
When the Group’s share of losses, exceed the carrying amount of the investment over the associate company, the carrying amount is reduced to 
nill and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extend that the Group has incurred obligations or has made payments to the 
associate company. Dividends received from an investee reduce the carrying amount of the investment.

In the parent company’s separate (stand-alone) financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and associates are accounted for at cost and they 
are adjusted for impairment when necessary.

2.  Investments on Financial Assets
Investments in which the Group does not exercise significant influence (financial assets) are initially recognized at cost being the fair value of the 
consideration given. After initial recognition, according to the purpose for which the assets were acquired, they are classified in the following 
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity and available for sale financial assets. Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss are measured at fair value and gains or losses are recognized in income. Held-to-maturity investments are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method and gains or losses through the amortization process are recognized in income. Available 
for sale financial assets are measured at fair value and gains or losses are recognized directly in equity. The fair values of quoted investments are 
based on quoted market bid prices. For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. 

3.  Use of Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions which may 
affect the application of the principles and the amounts recorded in the financial statements. Those estimates and assumptions are revised on a 
continuous basis. The revisions are recognized in the period they incur and affect the related reporting periods. These estimates and assumptions 
are based on the existing experience and on other factors that are considered reasonable, under the current conditions. These estimates are the 
basis for decision making related to the accounting value of assets and liabilities, which are not available form other sources. The actual final 
outcomes may vary from the above estimates and these variations may have significant effect on the financial statements.

4.  Foreign Currency Translation
OTE’s functional currency is the Euro. Transactions involving other currencies are translated into Euro using the exchange rates, which are in 
effect at the time of the transactions. At the balance sheet dates, monetary assets and liabilities, which are denominated in other currencies, 
are adjusted to reflect the current exchange rates. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency remeasurement are reflected in the income 
statements, except for the differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity. Non-
monetary assets that are measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary 
assets that are measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Except for operations in highly inflationary economies, where the financial statements are restated to current purchasing power prior to 
translation to the reporting currency, the functional currency of the Group’s operations outside of Greece is the local country’s foreign currency. 
Consequently, assets and liabilities of operations outside Greece are translated into Euro using exchange rates at the end of each reporting 
period. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates prevailing during the period. All resulting exchange differences are 
recognized as a separate component of shareholders’ equity and are recognized in the income statements on the disposal of the foreign entity.

5.  Goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. For business combinations occurred subsequent to the date of transition 
to IFRS, goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired in business combinations accounted for 
as a purchase. For business combinations occurred prior to the date of transition to IFRS, goodwill is recorded on carrying value at the date of 
transition, based on previous GAAP. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually. The goodwill impairment test is a process required by IAS 
36 “Impairment of assets”. Thus, after initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. An impairment loss 
recognized for goodwill shall not be reversed in a subsequent period. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is presented as an intangible asset. 
Negative goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is recorded directly in earnings. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in investments 
in associates. Goodwill on acquisitions of minority interests of subsidiaries where control already exists, is recorded directly in equity. 
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6.  Property, Plant and Equipment
Telecommunication property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of subsidies received, plus interest costs incurred during periods 
of construction, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Any statutory revaluations based on the Greek legislation, are 
reversed.

Subsidies are presented as a reduction of cost of fixed assets and are recognized to income over the life of the assets through the reduced 
depreciation expense. 

Newly constructed assets are added to property, plant and equipment at cost, which includes cost of materials, direct technical payroll costs 
related to construction, applicable general overhead costs, as well as the cost related to asset retirement obligations in the period in which they 
are generated if a reasonable estimate of a fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying 
amount of the long-lived asset. Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. The cost and related accumulated depreciation 
of assets retired or sold are removed from the accounts at the time of sale or retirement, and any gain or loss is included in the income 
statements. 

7.  Depreciation
Depreciation is computed based on the straight-line method on the estimated useful life of tangible assets, which is periodically reassessed. The 
estimated useful life and the respective rates are as follows:

Classification
Estimated
Useful Life

Annual
Depreciation Rates

Buildings 20-40 Years 2.5%-5%
Telecommunication equipment and installations:
• Telephone exchange equipment 8-12 Years 8-12.5%
• Radio relay stations 8 Years 12.5%
• Subscriber connections 10 Years 10%
• Local and trunk network 8-17 Years 6-12.5%
• Other 5-10 Years 10-20%
Transportation equipment 5-8 Years 12.5-20%
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 Years 20%-33%

8.  Employee Benefits

a)  Defined Contribution Plans: Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as an expense in the Income 
Statement as incurred. 

b)  Defined Benefit Plans: Obligations derived from defined benefit plans are calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of 
future benefits employees have earned in return for their service at the date of the balance sheet. These benefits are discounted to their present 
value after the deduction of the fair value of any plan asset. The discount rate is the yield of the Greek Government bonds with maturity that 
approximates the term of the obligations. These obligations are calculated on the basis of financial and actuarial assumptions which are carried 
out by an independent actuarial company using the Procected Unit Credit Method. Net pension cost for the period is recognized in the income 
statement and consist of the present value of the accrued benefits, interest cost on the benefits obligation, prior service cost and actuarial gains 
or losses. Prior service costs are recognized on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. All actuarial gains 
or losses are recognised during the average remaining working life of active employees and are included in the service cost of the year, if –at the 
beginning of the year- they exceed 10% of the projected benefit obligation. Contributions that are related with employees who retire under the 
voluntary retirement program are recognized when employees accept the offer and the amounts can be reasonably estimated.

9.  Income Taxes
Income taxes for the year include current income taxes and deferred income taxes. Current income taxes are measured on the taxable income 
at the balance sheet date using enacted tax rates at the balance sheet date. Deferred income taxes are provided using the liability method on all 
temporary differences arising between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in 
which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward 
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which can be 
utilized. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 

Income tax (current and deferred) is recognized in the Income Statement, except to the extend that it relates to items recognized directly in equity.

10. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
For purposes of cash flow statements, time deposits and other highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, are 
considered to be cash equivalents.
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11. Advertising Costs
All advertising costs are charged to expenses as incurred.

12. Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

13. Recognition of Revenues and Expenses
Fixed revenues primarily consist of connection and subscription fees, exchange network and facilities usage charges, other value added 
communication services fees, and sales of handsets and accessories. Revenues are recognized as follows:

• Connection charges: Connection charges for the fixed network are deferred and amortized to income over the estimated service life of a 
subscriber’s life. No connection fees are charged for mobile services. 

• Monthly network service fees: Revenues related to the monthly network service fees are recognized in the month that the telecommunication 
service is provided. 

• Usage Charges and Value Added Services Fees: Call fees consist of fees based on airtime and traffic generated by the caller, the destination 
of the call and the service utilized. Fees are based on traffic, usage of airtime or volume of data transmitted for value added communication 
services. Revenues for usage charges and value added communication services are recognized in the period when the services are provided. 
Revenues from outgoing calls made by OTE’s subscribers to subscribers of mobile telephony operators are presented at their gross amount 
in the income statements as the credit and collection risk remains solely with OTE. Interconnection fees for mobile-to-mobile calls are 
recognized based on incoming traffic generated from other mobile operators’ networks. Unbilled revenues from the billing cycle date to the 
end of each period are estimated based on traffic. 

Revenues from the sale of pre-paid airtime cards and the pre-paid airtime, net of discounts allowed, included in the Group’s pre-paid services 
packages, are recognized based on usage. Such discounts represent the difference between the wholesale price of pre-paid cards and boxes 
(consisting of handsets and prepaid airtime) to the Group’s Master Dealers and the retail sale price to the ultimate customers. Unused airtime is 
included in “Deferred revenue” in the balance sheets. Upon the expiration of pre-paid airtime cards, any unused airtime is recognized to income.

Airtime and acquisition commission costs due to the Group’s Master Dealers for each subscriber acquired through their network are expensed 
as incurred. Commissions paid for each contract subscriber acquired by the Master Dealers as well as bonuses paid to Master Dealers in respect 
of contract subscribers who renew their annual contracts, are deferred and amortized to expense over the contract period. Bonuses for the 
achievement of mutually agreed targets and commissions based on revenues billed to each subscriber acquired by the Master Dealers are 
expensed as incurred. 

• Handsets and Accessories: Revenues from the sale of handsets and accessories, net of discounts allowed, are recognized at point-of-sale, 
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer. 

• Rendering of Services: Revenues from rendering of services are recognized in the period in which the services are rendered by reference to 
the stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date. 

• Revenues form dividends: Revenues from dividends are recognized when the shareholders’ right to receive payment is established.

• Revenues from interest: Revenue from interest are recognized as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method) to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset.

• Revenues from construction projects: Revenue from construction projects are recognized in accordance with the percentage of completion method.

In an agency relationship, amounts collected by the agent on behalf of the principal do not result in increases in equity of the agent and thus, 
they are not revenues for the agent. Instead, revenue for the agent is the amount of commission received by the principal. On the other side, the 
principal’s revenues consist of the gross amounts described above and the commission paid to the agent is recognized as an expense.

14. Earnings per Share
Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during each year. 

15. Segment Reporting
IAS 14 “Segment Reporting” sets criteria for the determination of the reportable business and geographical segments of enterprises. Segments 
are determined based on the Group’s legal structure, as the Group’s chief operating decision makers review financial information separately 
reported by the parent company (OTE) and each of the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries. The reportable segments are determined using the 
quantitative thresholds required by the Standard. Information for operating segments that do not constitute reportable segments are combined 
and disclosed in an “All Other” category. Each segment performance is evaluated based on operating income and net profit. 
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16. Dividends
Dividends declared to the shareholders are recognized and reflected as a liability in the period they are approved by the General Assembly.

17. Long-term Receivables/Payables
Long-term receivables and payables are initially recorded at their fair value. Subsequent to the initial recognition, they are measured at amortized 
cost and the differences between that cost and the amount of receipt/ payment are recognized in the income statement over the life of the 
receivable/payable using the effective interest rate.

18. Stock Issuance Costs
Stock issuance costs, net of related deferred tax, are reflected as a deduction of Paid-in-Surplus. 

19. Treasury Stock
Treasury stock consists of OTE’s own stock, which has been issued, subsequently reacquired by the company and not yet cancelled. Treasury 
stock does not reduce the number of shares issued but does reduce the number of shares outstanding. The gross cost of the shares reacquired is 
reflected as a reduction to equity. Upon retirement, the acquisition cost of treasury stock reduces the Share Capital and Paid-in-Surplus and any 
deficiency is charged to Retained Earnings. 

20. Leases
A lease that transfers substantially all of the benefits and risks incident to ownership of property are accounted for by the lessee as the acquisition 
of an asset and the incurrence of a liability, and by the lessor as a sale and/or financing. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charges and the reduction of the lease liability. Finance charges are recognized directly as an expense. Financial leases are presented in the 
lower amount, between their fair value and the present value of the minimum leased payments at the beginning of the lease, decreased by the 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. If the lease does not transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incident to ownership 
of property, it is classified as an operating lease by the lessee and the rental payments are recognized as an expense as incurred. 

21. Related Parties
Related party transactions and balances are disclosed in the financial statements under IFRS. Such related parties principally consist of an 
enterprise’s principal owners and management, companies with common ownership and/or management with the enterprise and its consolidated 
subsidiaries, or other affiliates of such companies. 

22. Licenses and Similar Rights
Licenses and similar rights are accounted for at cost, are amortized over their term of life and they are tested for impairment at least annually. 

23. Materials and Supplies
Materials and supplies are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The cost is determined using the weighted average cost method. 
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. The reversal of any previous write-down, arising from an increase in net realizable value, is required. 

24. Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable are recognized at their fair value. Subsequently they are measured at fair value less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. 
At each reporting period/date, all accounts receivable are assessed based on historical trends and statistical information and a provision is recorded 
for the probable and reasonably estimable loss for these accounts. The balance of such allowance for doubtful accounts is adjusted by recording 
a charge to the statement of income of the reporting period. Any amount written-off with respect to customer account balances is charged 
against the existing allowance for doubtful accounts. All accounts receivable for which collection is not considered probable are written-off.

25. Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalized at cost, while those acquired from a business combination are capitalized at fair value as at 
the date of acquisition. Subsequently, they are measured at that amount less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 
The useful lives of the intangible assets are assessed to be either infinite or indefinite. Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortized 
with the straight-line method over their useful life. Amortization of intangible assets with a finite useful life begins when the asset is available 
for use. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortized but instead they are tested for impairment at least annually. No residual 
values are recognized. The useful lives of the intangible assets are reviewed on an annual basis, and adjustments, where applicable, are made 
prospectively. 

26. Borrowing Costs
Underwriting, legal and other direct costs incurred in connection with the issuance of long-term debt adjust the carrying amount of the liability 
and are amortized using the effective interest rate method over the life of the debt. Borrowing costs incurred during the construction period of 
telecommunication property, plant and equipment which are attributable to these assets, are capitalized to the cost of these assets. All other 
borrowing costs are recognized as an expense when incurred. 
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27. Borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of issuance costs associated with the borrowing. After initial recognition, 
borrowings are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses through the amortization process are 
recognized in the income statement. 

28. Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the 
increase of the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a borrowing cost. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, they are reversed. 
Provisions are used only for expenditures for which they were originally recognized. No provisions are recognized for future operating losses. 
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognized. Provisions for restructuring are recognized when the Group has an approved, 
detailed and formal plan of restructuring which has started to be implemented or it has been announced to those affected by it. 

29. Impairment of Assets
The carrying values of the Group’s assets are tested for impairment, whenever indications exist that their carrying amount is not recoverable. In 
such cases, the recoverable amount is estimated and if the carrying amount of the asset exceed its estimated recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognized in the Income Statement. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its values in use. 
In measuring value in use, estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to that asset. If an asset does not generate cash flows individually, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

At each reporting date the Group assess whether there is an indication that an impairment loss recognized in prior periods may no longer exist. If 
any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of that asset and the impairment loss is reversed, increasing the carrying 
amount of the asset to its recoverable amount, to the extend that the recoverable amount does not exceed the carrying value of the asset that 
would have been determined (net of amortization or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. 

30. Stock Based Compensation
The fair value of the stock based compensation is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity, while the fair value of any 
other rights is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in liability.

Fair value is determined at the grant date and is allocated to the vesting period without any vesting conditions.

Fair value is measured based on generally accepted methods, taking into account the terms and conditions (except of market conditions) under 
which these rights have been granted. 

For all other rights, the liability is remeasured at each Balance Sheet date and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value recognized 
as interest expense. 

31. Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Instruments
Derivative financial instruments include interest rate swaps, currency swaps and other instruments.

Derivatives for trading purposes: Derivatives that do not qualify for hedging, are considered as derivatives for trading purposes. Initially, these 
derivatives are recognized at their fair value (which is essentially the transaction cost) at the commencement date. Subsequent to the initial 
recognition, they are measured at fair value based on quoted market prices, if available, or based on valuation techniques such as discounted 
cash flows. There derivatives are classified as assets or liabilities depending on their fair value, with any changes recognized in the Income 
Statement. 

Hedging: Hedging relationships are the following: Fair Value Hedge, where the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or 
liability is hedged, or Cash Flow Hedge, where the exposure to variability in cash flows associated with a recognized asset or liability is hedged. At 
the inception of the hedge there is formal documentation which includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the hedging 
relationship, the nature of the risk being hedged and the company’s risk strategy. Furthermore, the documentation include an analysis of whether 
the hedging is effective in offsetting the exposure to changes in the fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. In a fair value hedge, 
the gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognized in the Income Statement and the gain or loss on the hedged 
item adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged item and is recognized in the Income Statement. In a cash flow hedge, the portion of the gain 
or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognized directly in equity and the ineffective portion of the 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized in the Income Statement.
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4. Reconciliation of financial statements
between IFRS and Greek GAAP (Law 2190/20)

The following tables present the effect of transition to IFRS on the Balance Sheets (Stand-Alone and Consolidated) as of 31 December 2003 and 
2004, as well as on the Income Statements (Stand-Alone and Consolidated) for the year ended 31 December 2004. Furthermore, the effect of 
transition on shareholders’ equity and income statement is set out at the end of this note through reconciliation of shareholders’ equity and 
income statement between previous GAAP (Law 2190/20) and IFRS.

Reconciliation of balance sheets as of 31 December 2003
Company Group

(Amounts in millions of Euro)
Previous GAAP

Law 2190/20

Effect of 
transition

to IFRS IFRS

Previous
GAAP

Law 2190/20

Effect of 
transition

to IFRS IFRS

ASSETS
Non - current assets:
Telecommunication property, plant and equipment 3,213.7 444.1 3,657.8 6,652.8 338.7 6,991.5
Goodwill 13.4 (13.4) - 73.9 (16.4) 57.5
Telecommunication licenses 5.0 - 5.0 400.9 0.3 401.2
Investments 1,389.6 468.0 1,857.6 164.7 64.3 229.0
Advances to pension funds 253.3 (2.0) 251.3 253.3 (2.0) 251.3
Deferred taxes - 48.1 48.1 - 84.6 84.6
Other non-current assets 216.4 (129.7) 86.7 362.8 (190.0) 172.8

Total non - current assets 5,091.4 815.1 5,906.5 7,908.4 279.5 8,187.9

Current assets: 
Materials and supplies 43.0 - 43.0 149.2 (1.1) 148.1
Accounts receivable 996.4 117.8 1,114.2 1,288.1 8.7 1,296.8
Other current assets 1,262.6 (1,065.4) 197.2 843.0 (579.3) 263.7
Cash and cash equivalents 234.0 - 234.0 601.3 - 601.3

Total current assets 2,536.0 (947.6) 1,588.4 2,881.6 2,309.9

TOTAL ASSETS 7,627.4 (132.5) 7,494.9 10,790.0 (292.2) 10,497.8

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent:
Share capital 1,204.7 - 1,204.7 1,204.7 - 1,204.7
Paid-in surplus 716.7 (211.1) 505.6 716.7 (211.1) 505.6
Treasury stock - (276.6) (276.6) - (276.6) (276.6)
Legal reserve 256.7 - 256.7 278.6 (21.9) 256.7
Retained earnings 868.7 582.5 1,451.2 1,376.1 500.6 1,876.7

3,046.8 94.8 3,141.6 3,576.1 (9.0) 3,567.1

Minority Interest - - - 1,022.5 50.1 1,072.6

Total equity 3,046.8 94.8 3,141.6 4,598.6 41.1 4,639.7

Non – current liabilities:
Long-term debt 2,590.7 - 2,590.7 3,220.9 (75.5) 3,145.4
Reserve for staff retirement indemnities 258.4 9.7 268.1 262.0 9.1 271.1
Reserve for Youth Account 227.7 82.2 309.9 227.7 82.2 309.9
Other non – current liabilities 126.5 (114.7) 11.8 363.3 (59.4) 303.9

Total non – current liabilities 3,203.3 (22.8) 3,180.5 4,073.9 (43.6) 4,030.3

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 491.2 144.6 635.8 767.0 155.3 922.3
Short-term borrowings - - - 51.7 - 51.7
Current maturities of long-term debt 12.6 - 12.6 74.8 - 74.8
Income taxes payable 145.3 (74.2) 71.1 347.4 (191.7) 155.7
Deferred revenue 36.2 66.7 102.9 85.4 84.2 169.6
Dividends payable 180.2 (171.6) 8.6 180.2 (171.6) 8.6
Other current liabilities 511.8 (170.0) 341.8 611.0 (165.9) 445.1

Total current liabilities 1,377.3 (204.5) 1,172.8 2,117.5 (289.7) 1,827.8

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 7,627.4 (132.5) 7,494.9 10,790.0 (292.2) 10,497.8
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Reconciliation of balance sheets as of 31 December 2004

Company Group

(Amounts in millions of Euro)
Previous GAAP

Law 2190/20

Effect of 
transition

to IFRS IFRS

Previous 
GAAP

Law 2190/20

Effect of 
transition

to IFRS IFRS

ASSETS

Non - current assets:
Telecommunication property, plant and equipment 2,901.7 503.0 3,404.7 6,464.2 445.5 6,909.7
Goodwill 13.0 (13.0) - 68.5 2.3 70.8
Telecommunication licenses 4.6 - 4.6 376.6 4.4 381.0
Investments 1,645.5 189.0 1,834.5 158.6 62.7 221.3
Advances to pension funds 217.1 (1.3) 215.8 217.1 (1.3) 215.8
Deferred taxes - 17.7 17.7 - 66.3 66.3
Other non-current assets 170.2 (80.4) 89.8 336.9 (141.6) 195.3

Total non - current assets 4,952.1 615.0 5,567.1 7,621.9 438.3 8,060.2

Current assets: 
Materials and supplies 34.6 - 34.6 131.4 1.0 132.4
Accounts receivable 817.8 90.5 908.3 1,107.1 (35.4) 1,071.7
Other current assets 614.7 (426.2) 188.5 518.5 (249.1) 269.4
Cash and cash equivalents 370.0 - 370.0 870.3 - 870.3

Total current assets 1,837.1 (335.7) 1,501.4 2,627.3 (283.5) 2,343.8

TOTAL ASSETS 6,789.2 279.3 7,068.5 10,249.2 154.8 10,404.0

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital 1,174.1 - 1,174.1 1,174.1 - 1,174.1
Paid-in surplus 698.5 (211.0) 487.5 698.5 (211.0) 487.5
Treasury stock - (15.1) (15.1) - (15.1) (15.1)
Legal reserve 256.7 - 256.7 286.2 (29.5) 256.7
Retained earnings 498.8 538.8 1,037.6 1,122.3 562.7 1,685.0

2,628.1 312.7 2,940.8 3,281.1 307.1 3,588.2

Minority Interest - - - 1,008.6 234.6 1,243.2

Total equity 2,628.1 312.7 2,940.8 4,289.7 541.7 4,831.4

Non – current liabilities:
Long-term debt 2,442.1 4.1 2,446.2 2,822.0 (1.4) 2,820.6
Reserve for staff retirement indemnities 272.0 6.5 278.5 277.4 7.2 284.6
Reserve for Youth Account 221.7 80.2 301.9 221.7 80.2 301.9
Other non – current liabilities 149.0 (105.5) 43.5 497.0 (334.7) 162.3

Total non – current liabilities 3,084.8 (14.7) 3,070.1 3,818.1 (248.7) 3,569.4

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 559.3 103.2 662.5 731.9 111.5 843.4
Short-term borrowings - - - 37.3 - 37.3
Current maturities of long-term debt 13.7 - 13.7 430.6 (110.0) 320.6
Income taxes payable - - - 244.4 (144.6) 99.8
Deferred revenue 60.7 17.0 77.7 126.3 29.9 156.2
Dividends payable 7.2 - 7.2 7.2 - 7.2
Other current liabilities 435.4 (138.9) 296.5 563.7 (25.0) 538.7

Total current liabilities 1,076.3 (18.7) 1,057.6 2,141.4 (138.2) 2,003.2

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6,789.2 279.3 7,068.5 10,249.2 154.8 10,404.0
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Reconciliation of income statement for the year ended 31 December 2004

Company Group

(Amounts in millions of Euro) 
Previous GAAP

Law 2190/20

Effect of 
transition

to IFRS IFRS
Previous GAAP

Law 2190/20

Effect of 
transition

to IFRS IFRS

Revenues 2,846.7 (100.3) 2,746.4 5,213.0 6.3 5,219.3

Operating expenses:
Cost of sales (2,648.4) (3,991.5)
Administrative expenses (56.7) (115.7)
Distribution expenses - (324.9)
Other income/(expense) 3.8 11.4

Total operating expenses (2,701.3) (48.0) (2,749.3) (4,420.7) (184.5) (4,605.2)

Operating income 145.4 (148.3) (2.9) 792.3 (178.2) 614.1

Financial and extraordinary results (279.1) 290.4 11.3 (373.0) 275.7 (97.3)

Profit before tax (133.7) 142.1 8.4 419.3 97.5 516.8

Income taxes - (41.9) (41.9) - (222.5) (222.5)

Profit for the period (133.7) 100.2 (33.5) 419.3 (125.0) 294.3

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (133.7) 100.2 (33.5) 172.1 (55.0) 117.1
Minority interest - - - 247.2 (70.0) 177.2

(133.7) 100.2 (33.5) 419.3 (125.0) 294.3

Reconciliation of shareholder’s equity and income statement
between Greek GAAP and IFRS (stand-alone financial statements)

(Amounts in millions of Euro)
Total equity 

31.12.2003

Profit (loss) for
the year ended

31.12.2004 
Total equity 

31.12.2004

Balances in accordance with Greek GAAP 3,046.8 (133.7) 2,628.1

IFRS Adjustments
Recognition of dividends declared in the period they are approved by the general Assembly 171.6 - -
Presentation of treasury stock as a reduction of equity (276.6) - (15.1)
Transfer of subsidies out of equity (reduction of fixed assets) (98.3) - (78.7)
Adjustment of depreciation of fixed assets and subsidies
based on useful lives and reversal of statutory revaluations 320.9 55.9 376.8
Capitalization of interest related to construction period and respective depreciation 186.6 (3.3) 183.3
Reserves for employee benefit plans based on IAS 19 (110.0) 53.2 (56.8)
Presentation of revenues in accordance with IFRS (17.0) - (17.0)
Investments at cost less impairments (98.1) 45.4 (52.7)
Inclusion of income tax in the income statement and recognition of deferred taxes 33.1 (41.9) (5.3)
Reversal of capitalized expenses and reversal of respective amortization (11.8) (6.8) (18.6)
Other adjustments (5.6) (2.3) (3.2)

Total IFRS adjustments 94.8 100.2 312.7

Balances in accordance with IFRS 3,141.6 (33.5) 2,940.8
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Reconciliation of shareholder’s equity and income statement
between Greek GAAP and IFRS (consolidated financial statements)

(Amounts in millions of Euro)
Total equity 

31.12.2003
Profit for the year  
ended 31.12.2004 

Total equity 
31.12.2004

Balances in accordance with Greek GAAP 4,598.6 419.3 4,289.7

IFRS Adjustments
Recognition of dividends declared in the period they are approved by the general Assembly 171.6 - -
Presentation of treasury stock as a reduction of equity (276.6) - (15.1)
Transfer of subsidies out of equity (reduction of fixed assets) (118.3) - (100.6)
Adjustment of depreciation of fixed assets and subsidies
based on useful lives and reversal of statutory revaluations 170.9 47.9 72.1
Capitalization of interest related to construction period and respective depreciation 198.1 (3.3) 194.8
Reserves for employee benefit plans based on IAS 19 (109.4) 53.2 (56.2)
Presentation of revenues in accordance with IFRS (17.0) - (17.0)
Investments at cost less impairments (46.1) - (8.5)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates resulting
from consolidation of subsidiaries operating outside Greece 38.3 - 241.8
Inclusion of income tax in the income statement and recognition of deferred taxes 39.8 (222.5) 245.7
Reversal of capitalized expenses and reversal of respective amortization (14.0) (7.9) (21.9)
Other adjustments 3.8 7.6 6.6

Total IFRS adjustments 41.1 (125.0) 541.7

Balances in accordance with IFRS 4,639.7 294.3 4,831.4
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5. Telecommunication property, plant and equipment

Telecommunication property, plant and equipment is analyzed as follows:

Company

Buildings
Telecommunication 

equipment 
Transportation 

Means
Furniture and 

fixtures
Construction in 

progress
Investment 

supplies Total

31/12/2003
Cost 23.7 6,105.8 42.8 164.5 612.4 197.3 7,146.5
Accumulated depreciation (1.4) (3,321.6) (32.2) (133.5) - - (3,488.7)

Net Book Value 31/12/2003 22.3 2,784.2 10.6 31.0 612.4 197.3 3,657.8

1/1/2004
Net Book Value 01/01/2004 22.3 2,784.2 10.6 31.0 612.4 197.3 3,657.8
Additions 4.7 454.7 3.7 5.7 335.6 69.6 874.0
Disposals, cost - (32.9) (0.9) - (435.7) (105.6) (575.1)
Disposals, accumulated depreciation - - 0.3 - - - 0.3
Depreciation for the year (1.3) (529.5) (3.0) (18.5) - - (552.3)

Net Book Value 31/12/2004 25.7 2,676.5 10.7 18.2 512.3 161.3 3,404.7

31/12/2004
Cost 28.4 6,527.6 45.6 170.2 512.3 161.3 7,445.4
Accumulated depreciation (2.7) (3,851.1) (34.9) (152.0) - - (4,040.7)

Net Book Value 31/12/2004 25.7 2,676.5 10.7 18.2 512.3 161.3 3,404.7

1/1/2005
Net Book Value 01/01/2005 25.7 2,676.5 10.7 18.2 512.3 161.3 3,404.7
Additions 0.2 418.8 - 4.8 225.8 64.4 714.0
Disposals, cost (0.1) (54.2) (7.5) (5.4) (413.1) (111.0) (591.3)
Disposals, accumulated depreciation - 35.5 6.8 4.7 - - 47.0
Depreciation for the year (1.3) (527.4) (3.1) (10.4) - - (542.2)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 24.5 2,549.2 6.9 11.9 325.0 114.7 3,032.2

31/12/2005
Cost 28.5 6,892.2 38.1 169.6 325.0 114.7 7,568.1
Accumulated depreciation (4.0) (4,343.0) (31.2) (157.7) - - (4,535.9)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 24.5 2,549.2 6.9 11.9 325.0 114.7 3,032.2

There are no restrictions on title on telecommunications property, plant and equipment.
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Group

Land Buildings
Telecommunication 

equipment 
Transportation 

Means
Furniture and 

fixtures
Construction in 

progress
Investment 

supplies Total

31/12/2003
Cost 25.7 797.7 9,031.1 51.5 401.8 873.4  203.9 11,385.1
Accumulated depreciation - (186.2) (3,911.2) (37.2) (259.0) - - (4,393.6)

Net Book Value 31/12/2003 25.7 611.5 5,119.9 14.3 142.8 873.4 203.9 6,991.5

1/1/2004
Net Book Value 01/01/2004 25.7 611.5 5,119.9 14.3 142.8 873.4 203.9 6,991.5
Additions 0.3 22.4 797.9 7.4 26.4 335.6 92.6 1,282.6
Disposals, cost - (4.4) (134.4) (5.3) (25.7) (512.9) (105.6) (788.3)
Disposals, accumulated 
depreciation - 1.5 - 4.6 24.7 - - 30.8
Foreign exchange differences, 
cost 0.2 (17.5) 497.4 1.5 (3.0) 5.0 0.2 483.8
Foreign exchange differences, 
accumulated depreciation - (2.7) (331.1) (1.4) 18.2 - - (317.0)
Depreciation for the year - (16.5) (693.2) (7.9) (56.1) - - (773.7)

Net Book Value 31/12/2004 26.2 594.3 5,256.5 13.2 127.3 701.1  191.1  6,909.7

31/12/2004
Cost 26.2 798.2 10,192.0 55.1 399.5 701.1 191.1 12,363.2
Accumulated depreciation - (203.9) (4,935.5) (41.9) (272.2) - - (5,453.5)

Net Book Value 31/12/2004 26.2 594.3 5,256.5 13.2 127.3 701.1 191.1 6,909.7

1/1/2005
Net Book Value 01/01/2005 26.2 594.3 5,256.5 13.2 127.3 701.1 191.1 6,909.7
Additions 0.6 31.8 940.5 3.7 40.9 425.4 73.6 1,516.5
Disposals, cost - (16.3) (387.3) (11.1) (36.9) (457.4) (120.6) (1,029.6)
Disposals, accumulated 
depreciation - 27.0 284.1 10.3 34.8 - - 356.2
Foreign exchange
differences, cost 0.5 41.3 311.2 2.7 11.1 4.7 2.1 373.6
Foreign exchange differences,
accumulated depreciation - (21.6) (265.0) (2.5) (12.5) - - (301.6)
Depreciation for the year - (46.7) (998.1) (5.9) (34.5) - - (1,085.2)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 27.3 609.8 5,141.9 10.4 130.2 673.8 146.2 6,739.6

31/12/2005
Cost 27.3 855.0 11,056.4 50.4 414.6 673.8 146.2 13,223.7
Accumulated depreciation - (245.2) (5,914.5) (40.0) (284.4) - - (6,484.1)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 27.3 609.8 5,141.9 10.4 130.2 673.8 146.2 6,739.6
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6. Goodwill

Goodwill included in the consolidated financial statements is analyzed as follows:

31/12/2003 Amount

Cost 74.8
Accumulated amortization (17.3)

Net Book Value 31/12/2003 57.5

2004
Net Book Value 1/1/2004 57.5
Additions 9.1
Foreign exchange differences 4.2
Amortization for the year -

Net Book Value 31/12/2004 70.8

Cost 88.1
Accumulated amortization (17.3)

Net Book Value 31/12/2004 70.8

2005
Net Book Value 01/01/2005 70.8
Additions -
Foreign exchange differences 1.6
Amortization for the period -

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 72.4

Cost 89.7
Accumulated amortization (17.3)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 72.4

Foreign exchange differences arise from the translation of the acquired goodwill on AMC in the presentation currency (Euro) at the date of each 
balance sheet.

The above mentioned goodwill has been allocated to the reporting units that it relates. The fair value of the reporting units as at 31 December 
2005 was above the carrying amount of such goodwill, thus there is no indication of impairment of goodwill. 

OteAnnualReport05English_9a.indd58   58OteAnnualReport05English_9a.indd58   58 28/6/2006   3:21:18 µµ28/6/2006   3:21:18 µµ



OTE Annual Report 2005 59

7. Telecommunication licenses

Telecommunication Licenses are analyzed as follows:

2003 Company Group

Cost 6.2 443.1
Accumulated amortization (1.2) (42.8)

Net Book Value 5.0 401.2

2004
Net Book Value 1/1/2004 5.0 401.2
Additions/(Disposals), Foreign exchange differences - 5.7
Amortization for the year (0.4) (25.9)

Net Book Value 31/12/2004 4.6 381.0

Cost 6.2 449.7
Accumulated amortization (1.6) (68.7)

Net Book Value 4.6 381.0

2005
Net Book Value 1/1/2005 4.6 381.0
Additions/(Disposals), Foreign exchange differences - 36.1
Amortization for the period (0.4) (24.1)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 4.2 393.0

Cost 6.2 485.8
Accumulated amortization (2.0) (92.8)

Net Book Value 31/12/2005 4.2 393.0
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8. Investments

Investments are analyzed as follows:
2005

Company
2005

Group
2004

Company
2004

Group

Investments in subsidiaries 1,526.3 - 1,615.0 -
Other investments 157.8 159.3 186.2 188.0
Available for sale securities - - 33.3 33.3

1,684.1 159.3 1,834.5 221.3

(a) Investments in subsidiaries are analyzed as follows:

Country 2005 2004

• COSMOTE Greece 365.6 91.4
• OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LTD Cyprus 497.9 497.9
• ARMENTEL Armenia 55.0 58.9
• OTE MTS HOLDING B.V. Holland - 140.1
• OTE AUSTRIA HOLDING GMBH Austria 0.1 0.1
• GLOBUL Bulgaria - 250.9
• HELLAS-SAT Cyprus 189.5 179.9
• COSMO-ONE Greece 3.2 3.2
• OTENET Greece 24.7 18.8
• HELLASCOM Greece 20.4 8.9
• OTE SAT- MARITEL Greece 11.2 11.2
• ΟΤΕ PLUS Greece 2.6 2.6
• ΟΤΕ ESTATE Greece 336.3 336.3
• INFOTE Greece 12.4 12.4
• OTE-GLOBE Greece 0.9 0.9
• OTE INSURANCE Greece 0.6 0.6
• OTE ACADEMY Greece 0.9 0.9

1,526.3 1,615.0

Included in investments in subsidiaries are the amounts of loans granted by ΟΤΕ to its subsidiaries and are outstanding at the balance sheet date.

The movement of investments in subsidiaries in the years presented is as follows:

Company

Balance at 1 January 2004 1,630.4
Participation in share capital increase 31.3
Acquisition of additional share in subsidiary 12.8
Loans granted/ (Repayment of loans granted) (59.5)

Balance at 31 December 2004 1,615.0

Acquisition of additional share in subsidiary 299.2
Sale of investments (366.6)
Loans transferred to other non-current assets (22.0)
Loans granted/ (Repayment of loans granted) 0.7

Balance at 31 December 2005 1,526.3
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During 2005, ΟΤΕ purchased additional share in certain of its subsidiaries as follows:

Within the first half of 2005, OTE acquired 19,400,955 shares of COSMOTE for a total consideration of Euro 274.2 increasing its participating 
interest in COSMOTE’s share capital from 58.77% to 64.37%.

In June 2005, OTE acquired the remaining 48.6% minority interests in HELLASCOM for a cash consideration of Euro 11.5, which became a wholly-
owned subsidiary.

In the third quarter of 2005, OTE participated in OTE ACADEMY’s (wholly-owned subsidiary) share capital increase in the anount of Euro 5.0 and 
consequently the carrying amount of the investment therein was equally increased.

In the fourth quarter of 2005, OTE increased its participation interest in OTENET by 4.39% through the acquisition of minority interests for a 
consideration of Euro 5.9, increasing its participating interest in OTENET’s share capital from 90.20 % to 94.59%.

Finally, in the second half of 2005, ΟΤΕ increased its participation interest in HELLAS- SAT by 12.35% through the acquisition of minority interests 
for a consideration of Euro 2.6, increasing its participating interest in HELLAS-SAT’s share capital from 83.34 % to 95.69%.

The differences between the consideration given to acquire the additional share the subsidiaries’ share capital and the minority interest’s share at 
the dates of acquisition, have been accounted for as equity transactions and have been recognized directly in equity in the consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

These differences are analyzed as follows:

Investment Amount

Cosmote 235.6
Hellascom (3.3)
Οtenet 5.3
Hellas-Sat 1.2

238.8

On 20 April 2005, the Board of Directors of OTE and COSMOTE decided on the acquisition, by COSMOTE, of OTE’s two wholly owned subsidiaries, 
GLOBUL and COSMOFON. The transaction was approved by the General Assemblies’ meetings of OTE’s and COSMOTE’s shareholders on 16 
June 2005. 

The total consideration was Euro 490 (Euro 400 for GLOBUL and Euro 90 for COSMOFON), and as the carrying amount of these investments in 
OTE’s financial statements was Euro 366.6, OTE recognized a pre-tax gain from the sale of these investments of Euro 123.4.

After the completion of the above transactions, the Group’s interest in GLOBUL’s and COSMOFON’s share capital (through COSMOTE) was 
reduced from 100% to 64.37%.

Because of the sale of COSMOFON to COSMOTE, a loan that had been granted to COSMOFON for an amount of Euro 22.0 and was included 
in the carrying amount of the investment as of 31 December 2004, was transferred to “Other non-current assets” in the 31 December 2005 
Balance Sheet (See Note 9).

On 27 May 2005, COSMOTE, ROMTELECOM and COSMOROM agreed the sale to COSMOTE by ROMTELECOM of 70% of COSMOROM’s share 
capital. The transaction was approved by the General Assembly of COSMOTE’s shareholders on 27 June 2005. Subject to the completion of that 
transaction, the dispute related to the liabilities of COSMOROM was settled and the parties agreed to end the arbitration proceedings before the 
ICC. As a result of that settlement, COSMOROM was released from liabilities of Euro 23.8 and that amount is presented as “Extinguishment of 
Liabilities” in the 2005 consolidated income statement. 

On 7 July 2005 the acquisition by COSMOTE of 70% of COSMOROM’s share capital for a total consideration of Euro 120 as share capital increase, 
was completed. After the completion of this acquisition, ROMTELECOM’s interest in COSMOROM’s share capital is 30%,and thus, the Group’s 
interest in COSMOROM’s share capital (through COSMOTE and ROMTELECOM) increased by 7.3% from 54.01% to 61.26%.

As a result of that agreement for the acquisition by COSMOTE of COSMOROM’s 70% and the relaunching of COSMOROM’s activities based 
on the new conditions and the new business plan of the company under COSMOTE’s leadership, it was assessed that there were indications 
showing that the impairment loss recognized in prior years relating to COSMOROM’s fixed assets was no longer exist. Based on the above, the 
recoverable amount of the fixed assets was determined and a reversal of impairment loss of Euro 75.7 was recognized in the 2005 consolidated 
income statement. 
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(b) Other investments
OTE’s other investments are analyzed as follows:

2005 2004

Telecom Srbija 155.1 170.6
Satellite organizations - 12.9
Other 2.7 2.7

157.8 186.2

The movement of other investments in the years presented is as follows:

Company Group

Balance at 1 January 2004 200.6 202.4
Dividends (2.2) (2.2)
Impairment of investment (2.1) (2.1)
Loans granted/ (Repayment of loans granted) (10.1) (10.1)

Balance at 31 December 2004 186.2 188.0

Sale of investment (12.9) (12.9)
Loans granted/ (Repayment of loans granted) (15.5) (15.5)
Other movements - (0.3)

Balance at 31 December 2005 157.8 159.3

TELEKOM SRBIJA: During June 1997, OTE acquired a 20% interest in TELEKOM SRBIJA, a company which was established on 23 May 1997, 
through the contribution of the telecommunications sector of the Public Enterprise of PTT Traffic, Serbia effective 1 June 1997. The acquisition 
cost amounted to Euro 312.0 and was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The resulting excess of the acquisition cost over 
the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets, or goodwill of Telekom Srbija, which amounted to Euro 80.1 and was amortized on a straight-
line basis over twenty (20) years. In 2002, OTE recorded an impairment charge of Euro 114.9, through which the remaining amount of goodwill 
was written off.

In February 2003, Telecom Italia, the other minority shareholder, which held 29% of TELEKOM SRBIJA, sold its participating interest to the 
Serbian Government, which acquired 80% stake in the company. OTE, in May 2003, served arbitration notices on TELEKOM SRBIJA, Telecom 
Italia and its affiliates and the Serbian PTT, in order to protect its interest in TELEKOM SRBIJA and requesting, among others, the collection of 
outstanding management fees of approximately Euro 29 due from Telecom Italia and of the loan of Euro 12.5 granted to TELEKOM SRBIJA plus 
interest and penalties. Furthermore, after considering the Serbian Government’s 80% stake in the company, the fact that the Board of Directors 
of the company is not actually convening and that significant decisions are being taken without the consent of OTE’ s representative, OTE has 
concluded that it does not exercise significant influence and, consequently, effective 1 July 2003, it accounts for its investment in TELEKOM 
SRBIJA at cost. 

In September 2004, a memorandum of understanding was signed between OTE, TELEKOM SRBIJA, the Serbian PTT and Telecom Italia. It was 
agreed that the arbitration initiated by OTE will be halted, provided that:

• OTE would not be prevented from participating in a potential sell of shares in a company to whom the mobile business of TELEKOM SRBIJA 
may have been transferred

• TELEKOM SRBIJA should pay to OTE the loan, the respective stamp duty and part of the accrued interest

• All parties should waive their claims from each other

• A new shareholders’ agreement should be executed

As a result of the above, OTE wrote-off management fees of approximately Euro 21.3 as well as accrued interest of approximately Euro 3, which 
amounts were charged to its 2004 income statement. The loan receivable, the respective stamp duty and part of the accrued interest were fully 
repaid by the end of May 2005. The new shareholders’ agreement was signed in December 2004. Consequently, the arbitration proceedings 
were terminated.

OteAnnualReport05English_9a.indd62   62OteAnnualReport05English_9a.indd62   62 28/6/2006   3:21:19 µµ28/6/2006   3:21:19 µµ



OTE Annual Report 2005 63

During December 2004, TELEKOM SRBIJA’s Shareholders’ Meeting decided to distribute dividends out of the 2003 profits and an interim 
dividend out of the expected 2004 profits. 

Furthermore, on 29 June 2005, TELEKOM SRBIJA’s Shareholders’ Meeting decided the final distribution of dividends out of the 2004 profits, 
which will be paid through December 2005.

Satellite Organizations: OTE participated in satellite organizations Intelsat και Eutelsat. These were not traded investments, and since OTE did 
not exercise significant influence, they were carried at cost. Within the first half of 2005, OTE sold its participation in these satellite organizations 
for an aggregate consideration of Euro 26.6, resulting in a gain of sale of investments of Euro 13.7. 

(c) Available for sale securities
Available for sale securities represent investments in equity securities, which are traded on the Athens Stock Exchange and are carried at their 
fair value. As management has decided to sell these securities, they are included in “Other current assets” in the accompanying 31 December 
2005 Balance Sheet. 

Dividends from investments are analyzed as follows:
Company

2005
Company

2004

COSMOTE 297.9 97.3
TELEKOM SRBIJA 14.5 9.0
INFOTE 9.3 8.7
OTE-GLOBE 2.5 -
OTE ESTATE 1.1 6.1
ARMENTEL 4.5 -
EUTELSAT 4.9 -
HELLASCOM - 0.4
OTHER 0.6 0.5

335.3 122.0

Group
2005

Group

2004

TELEKOM SRBIJA 14.5 9.0
EUTELSAT 4.9 -
OTHER 1.0 0.5

20.4 9.5
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9. Other non - current assets

Other non-current assets are analyzed as follows:
2005

 Company
2005

Group
 2004

Company
2004

Group

Loans and advances to employees 19.3 19.5 97.8 98.0
Discounting (3.8% interest rate) (1.2) (1.2) (8.1) (8.1)
Loans to COSMOFON 45.0 - - -
Other intangible assets - 58.3 - 50.5
Deferred expenses (long term) - 39.8 - 45.7
Other 0.1 10.2 0.1 9.2

63.2 126.6 89.8 195.3

Employees with service exceeding 25 years are entitled to draw loans against the accrued indemnity payable to them upon retirement (See Note 
17). The effective interest rate of these loans is 1.2%. 

Loans to COSMOFON include two loans of Euro 22.0 and Euro 23.0 granted by OTE. As dislosed in Note 8 above, after the sale of COSMOFON to 
COSMOTEe, the outstanding amount of these loans was transferred form Investments to Other non-current Assets in the 2005 Balance Sheet.

10. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are analyzed as follows:
 2005

Company
 2005

Group
 2004

Company
 2004

Group

Subscribers 992.1 1,387.7 1,012.9 1,349.9
Intenational traffic 120.6 168.6 88.3 124.0
Due from subsidiaries 87.9 - 153.6 -
Accrued unbilled revenues 82.9 134.5 69.6 112.7

1,283.5 1,690.8 1,324.4 1,586.6

Minus
Allowance for doubtful
accounts (504.1) (624.1) (416.1) (514.9)

779.4 1,066.7 908.3 1,071.7

The movement of the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:
Company Group

Balance at 01/01/2004 (349.6) (457.9)
Addition for the year (120.0) (137.6)
Write-offs 53.5 80.6

Balance at 31/12/2004 (416.1) (514.9)

Balance at 01/01/2005 (416.1) (514.9)

Addition for the year (91.0) (110.4)
Write-offs 3.0 4.0
Foreign exchange differences - (2.8)

Balance at 31/12/2005 (504.1) (624.1)
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11. Other current assets

Other current assets are analyzed as follows:
2005

Company
2005

Group
 2004

Company
2004

Group

Available for sale securities (See Note 8 (c)) 32.9 32.9 - -
Advances to pension funds (See Note 17 (b)) 35.7 35.7 35.7 35.7
Due from State for income tax advance (See Note (20)) 95.2 95.2 91.5 91.5
Due form ΟΤΕ Leasing’s customenrs (See Note 27 (ii)) 17.1 17.1 25.4 25.4
Loans and advances to employees 102.7 102.8 14.5 14.8
Tax on sale of investments 25.8 25.8 - -
VAT receivable - 19.5 - 6.1
Prepayments - 24.2 - 9.0
Deferred expenses 3.7 22.9 2.9 37.9
Other 8.0 35.0 18.5 49.0

321.1 411.1 188.5 269.4

Loans and advances to employees as at 31 December 2005, include an amount of Euro 94.5 relating to loans granted to eligible employees who 
participate in the Voluntary Retirement Program, against the accrued indemnity payable to them upon retirement. As the total amount of these 
loans will be settled during 2006, these loans are included under current assets in the 2005 Balance Sheet.

Tax on sale of investments relates to the one-of taxation of the consideration received from the sale of GLOBUL and COSMOFON to COSMOTE 
(euro 490.0) and the consideration received from the sale of the satellite organizations (€ 26.6), with a tax rate of 5% (See Note 8). 

12. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are analyzed as follows:

 2005
Company

2005
Group

 2004
Company

2004
Group

Cash in hand 1.3 2.7 1.2 1.7
Short term bank deposits 843.0 1,509.5 368.8 868.6

844.3 1,512.2 370.0 870.3
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13. Share capital

OTE’s share capital as at 31 December 2003 amounted to Euro 1,204.7 divided into 504,054,199 registered shares with a nominal value Euro 2.39 
(two point thirty nine Euro) each, while the respective paid-in surplus amounted to Euro 505.6. 

OTE’s General Assembly had granted authorization to OTE to buy back up to 10% of its own shares on the Stock Exchange. As of 31 December 
2003, OTE had repurchased 13,903,810 million shares (about 2.76% of its outstanding share capital) at cost of approximately Euro 276.6. The 
extraordinary General Assembly of 17 June 2004, resolved to cancel 12,794,900 shares, as the period that these shares could be hold by OTE had 
expired. Following such resolution, as of 31 December 2004, OTE owned 1,108,910 shares representing 0.23% of its outstanding share capital, 
at cost of approximately Euro 15.1. 

OTE’s share capital as at 31 December 2004 amounted to Euro 1,174.1 divided into 491,259,299 registered shares with a nominal value Euro 2.39 
(two point thirty nine Euro) each, while the respective paid-in surplus amounted to Euro 487.5. 

The extraordinary General Assembly of 6 July 2005, resolved to cancel 676,420 own shares, as the period that these shares could be hold by 
OTE had expired. Following such resolution, OTE owns 432,490 own shares representing 0.09% of its outstanding share capital, at cost of 
approximately Euro 5.9.

OTE’s share capital as at 31 December 2005 amounts to Euro 1,172.5 divided into 490,582,879 registered shares with a nominal value Euro 2.39 
(two point thirty nine Euro) each, while the respective paid-in surplus amounted to Euro 486.6.

The Greek State is the major shareholder of OTE. On 2 August 2005, as a bond convertible to OTE’s shares was matured, the Greek State bought 
back 53,679,000 OTE’s shares. On 9 September 2005, the Greek State placed with institutional investors 49,058,200 OTE’s shares. As at 31 
December 2005 its direct participation was approximately 35.63% while together with DEKA S.A. its participation was approximately 38.70%. 

14. Legal reserve

Under Greek corporate law, corporations are required to transfer a minimum of five percent of their annual net profit shown in their statutory 
books to a legal reserve, until such reserve equals one-third of the outstanding share capital. As at 31 December 2004 and 2005, this reserve 
amounted to Euro 256.7. This legal reserve cannot be distributed to shareholders.

15. Dividends

Under Greek corporate law, each year companies are generally required to declare from their statutory profits, dividends of at least 35% of after-
tax profits, after allowing for legal reserve, or a minimum of 6% of the paid-in share capital, whichever is the greater. However, companies can 
waive such dividend payment requirement with the unanimous consent of their shareholders.

Dividends declared in 2004 amounted Euro 171.6, representing a dividend per share of Euro 0.35 (zero point thirty-five Euro). The General 
Assembly of 16 June 2005 decided that no dividends will be declared in 2005.
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16. Long-term debt

Long-term debt is analyzed as follows:

2005 2004

Company
(a) Loan from European Investment Bank 67.4 81.1
(b) Intercompany loan from ΟΤΕ PLC 1,899.4 2,378.8

Total long-term debt 1,966.8 2,459.9
Current maturities (14.9) (13.7)

Long-term portion 1,951.9 2,446.2

Group
(a) Loan from European Investment Bank 67.4 81.1
(b) Loans from suppliers and their affiliates 33.5 34.2
(c)  Consortium loans 500.0 259.5
(d) Eurobond 1,108.9 1,097.5
(e)  Global Medium Term Note Program 1,489.1 1,491.7
(f)  Other bank loans 226.7 177.2

Total long-term debt 3,425.6 3,141.2
Current maturities (321.3) (320.6)

Long-term portion 3,104.3 2,820.6

(a) Loan from European Investment Bank
The long-term loan to OTE by the European Investment Bank (“EIB”) was granted in 1995 and is denominated in Euro. The loan bears interest at 
8.3% and after an amendment to the agreement on 30 June 2002, is repayable in annual instalments through 2009. Within 2005 OTE paid Euro 
13.7 based on the repayment schedule of the loan from European Investment Bank. 

(b) Loans from suppliers and their affiliates
ARMENTEL has obtained vendor-financing facilities from suppliers, in relation with the supply of equipment and services. These facilities bear 
interest based on London Interbank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”) plus margins.

(c) Consortium loans
(i) COSMOTE: On 12 November 2002, COSMOTE entered into an agreement with a consortium of banks, which provided it with a consortium 

loan of US $ 420 million bearing interest at the LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 0.50% - 0.70%. The loan was repayable in full 
by the latest on 12 November 2005. In September 2005, COSMOTE prepaid the balance of that loan.

(ii) On 2 September 2005, OTE PLC signed a Euro 850 million Syndicated Credit Facility guaranteed by OTE S.A. The facility consists of a Euro 
500 million Term Loan and a Euro 350 million Revolving Credit Facility. The main terms of the facility are: the interest rate is floating euribor + 
margin. The margin is adjustable based on OTE S.A. long term credit rating. With the current OTE S.A.’s credit rating the margin is 0.2125% 
p.a. for the Term Loan and 0.1875% p.a. for the Revolving Credit Facility. The facility matures in September 2010 and has an extension option 
of 1+1 year subject to lenders’ consent. On 6 September 2005 OTE PLC drew Euro 500 million under the Term Loan, while up to 31 December 
2005, no draw-downs had been made from the Revolving Credit Facility. 
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(d) Eurobond
On 7 February 2000 ΟΤΕ PLC issued a bond of Euro 1,100 fully and unconditionally guaranteed by OTE, bearing interest at 6.125%, maturing on 
7 February 2007. 

In November 2005, OTE PLC completed the Exchange Bond Program in order to refinance part of the Eurobond of Euro 1.1 billion, bearing 
interest at 6.125%, maturing on 7 February 2007. Based on that Program, Euro 608.4 in principal amount of existing bonds was submitted by 
bondholders and given the exchange ratio of 1.0455, Euro 636.0 in principal amount of new notes were issued under the Global Medium Term 
Loan. For rounding purposes additional notes for an amount of Euro 14.0 were issued. After the completion of the transaction, the part of the 
Eurobond that was refinanced amounted to Euro 650.0, bearing interest at 3.75%, maturing in 2011.

On 13 September 2005, OTE PLC entered in an Interest Rate Swap (IRS) agreement for the amount of Euro 289 million until 7 February 2007. 
Under the IRS OTE PLC will pay annually euribor + 3.7775% and will receive 6.125%. 

(e) Global Medium Term Note Program
On 7 November 2001, OTE PLC established a Global Medium Term Note Program for the issuance of up to Euro 1,500 (the amount was raised 
to Euro 2,500 within November 2004) fully and unconditionally guaranteed by OTE. Through 31 December 2005, OTE PLC had issued notes 
amounting to € 1,500, in two tranches as follows:

(i) Euro 1,250 notes, issued in August 2003 maturing in 2013.

(ii) Euro 250 notes, issued in November 2003 maturing in 2006.

(f) Other bank loans
ROMTELECOM has obtained long-term loans in Euro and Korea Won, amounting to Euro 148.4 as of 31 December 2005 and Euro 175.5 as of 
31 December 2004, a part of which (approximately 25%) bear interest at floating rates, while the remaining bear interest at fixed rates ranging 
from 2.5% - 6.12%. 

On 10 May 2005, GLOBUL entered into a credit facility agreement with Austria Bank which provided it with a three year credit facility of Euro 
75.0, bearing interest at LIBOR+1.25 %. Draw-downs under the facility through 31 December 2005, amounted to Euro 75.0, which were partially 
used for the repayment of the company’s short term borrowings.

(g) Revolving credit facilities
On 2 March 2004, OTE PLC entered into a credit facility agreement with a consortium of banks, which provided it with a revolving credit facility 
of Euro 350, guaranteed by OTE. Draw-downs under the facility are repayable within one year from the date of the agreement. On 15 February 
2005 OTE-PLC received unanimous Bank Consent for the extension of the existing facility of Euro 350 for another 364 days. The new maturity 
date of the extended facility has been set to 28 February 2006. On 8 September 2005 the above mentioned credit facility was cancelled. On 
8 September 2005, the Euro 350 million Revolving Credit Facility was cancelled and refinanced by the Euro 350 million Revolving Credit Facility 
described in (c) (ii) above. 
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17. Reserves for pensions, staff retirement indemnities and other benefits

OTE employees are covered by various pension, medical and other benefit plans as summarized below:

Defined Contribution Plans:
(a) Main Pension Fund (TAP-OTE)
The TAP-OTE fund, a multi-employer fund to which OTE contributes, is the main fund providing pension and medical benefits to OTE employees. 
The employees of the National Railway Company and the Greek Post Office are also members of this fund. 

According to Law 2257/94, OTE was liable to cover the annual operating deficit of the TAP-OTE up to a maximum amount of Euro 32.3, which 
could be adjusted with the Consumer Price Index. Pursuant to Greek legislation (Law 2768/99), a fund was incorporated on 8 December 1999, as 
a societe anonyme under the name of EDEKT-OTE S.A. (“EDEKT”), for the purpose of administering contributions to be made by OTE, the Greek 
State and the Auxiliary Pension Fund, in order to finance the TAP-OTE deficit. The Greek State’s and the Auxiliary Pension Fund’s contributions 
to the fund were set to Euro 264.1 and Euro 410.9, respectively. Pursuant to Law 2937/01, OTE’s contribution has been set at Euro 352.2, 
representing the equivalent to the net present value of ten (10) years’ (2002-2011) contributions to TAP-OTE. This amount was paid on 3 August  
2001 and is being amortized over the ten-year period. Pursuant to Law 2843/00, any deficits incurred by TAP-OTE are covered by the Greek State.

Pursuant to Law 3029/02, TAP-OTE’s Pension Fund part only, is to merge with IKA-ETEAM (the main social security Fund in Greece) the latest 
by 1 January 2008. In accordance with the provisions of this law, the duration of employers’ obligations to cover the annual operating deficits of 
their employees’ Pension Funds, as defined by Law 2084/92 will be determined through a Ministerial Decision. 

(b) Auxiliary Pension Fund
(ι) The Auxiliary Lump Sum benefit fund provides members with a lump sum benefit upon retirement or death. 
(ιι) The Auxiliary Pension Benefit fund provides members, who were members prior to 1993, with a pension of 20% of salary after 30 years 

service. Law 2084/92 has fixed minimum contributions and maximum benefits, after 35 years of service, for new entrants from 1993.

Based on actuarial studies performed in prior years and on current estimations, these pension funds incur (or will incur in the future) increased 
deficits. OTE does not have a legal obligation to cover any future deficiencies of these funds and, according to management, neither does it 
voluntarily intend to cover such possible deficiencies. However, there can be no assurance that OTE will not be required (through regulatory 
arrangements) to make additional contributions in the future to cover operating deficits of these funds.

Advances to pension funds are analyzed as follows:

2005 2004

Non-interest bearing payments and advances:
EDEKT 176.1 211.3
Auxiliary Fund 5.3 5.8

181.4 217.1
Unamortized discount based on imputed interest rate 3.8% for 2004 and 2005 (0.7) (1.3)

Long-term portion 180.7 215.8

Non-interest bearing payments and advances:
 EDEKT 35.2 35.2
 Auxiliary Fund 0.5 0.5

Short-term portion (See Note 11) 35.7 35.7

Advances to pension funds are reflected in the financial statements at their present values, discounted by the use of risk-free interest rates 
prevailing in the Greek market, for periods approximating the periods of the expected cash flows. Discount derived from the initial recognition of 
present values and amortization are included in interest expense and interest income, respectively, in the income statements.
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Defined Benefit Plans:
(a) Reserve for Staff Retirement Indemnities
Under the Greek labor law, employees are entitled to termination payments in the event of dismissal or retirement with the amount of payment 
varying in relation to the employee’s compensation, length of service and manner of termination (dismissal or retirement). Employees who resign 
(except those with over fifteen years of service) or are dismissed with cause are not entitled to termination payments. The indemnity payable in 
case of retirement is equal to 40% of the amount which would be payable upon dismissal. In the case of OTE employees, the maximum amount 
is limited to a fixed amount (which for 2004 amounted to Euro 0.02 and is adjusted annually according to the inflation rate), plus 7 months salary. 
In practice, up to 31 December 2003, OTE employees received the lesser amount between 100% of the maximum liability and Euro 0.02 plus 7 
months’ salary. On 19 May 2004, OTE signed a new collective labor agreement with its employees, which, among other things, increased the 
maximum amount of retirement indemnities payable to its employees by an additional two months’ salary, effective 2 January 2005. Employees 
with service exceeding 25 years are entitled to draw loans against the accrued indemnity payable to them upon retirement.

The provisions and liability for such retirement indemnities have been accounted for in the accompanying condensed stand-alone and consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IAS 19 and are based on an independent actuarial study. 

The components of the staff retirement indemnity expense are as follows:

2005  2004

Service cost-benefits earned during the year 19.1 14.7
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 18.4 19.0
Amortization of past service cost 15.1 9.1
Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss 2.6 -

55.2 42.8

The following is a reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation to the liability recorded for staff retirement indemnities in OTE’s financial
statements:

2005 2004

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year 278.5 268.1
Service cost 19.1 14.7
Interest cost 18.4 19.0
Amortization of past service cost 15.1 9.1
Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss 2.6 -
Benefits paid (47.4) (32.4)
Termination benefits based on Voluntary Retirement Program 118.5 -

Projected benefit obligation at end of year 404.8 278.5
Total reserve for staff retirement indemnities for eligible employees
of the Voluntary Retirement Program

(242.7) -

162.1 278.5

The assumptions underlying the actuarial valuation, in percentages, of staff retirement indemnities are as follows:

2005 2004

Discount rate 3.7% 3.8%
Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels  5.5% 4.5%

(b) Reserve for Youth Account
The Youth Account provides OTE’s employees’ children a lump sum payment generally when they reach the age of 21. The lump sum payment is 
made up of employees’ contributions, interest thereon and OTE’s contributions which can reach up to a maximum 10 months’ salary of the total 
average salary of OTE employees depending on the number of years of contributions.

The provisions and liability for the Youth Account benefits have been accounted for in the accompanying condensed stand-alone and consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IAS 19 and are based on an independent actuarial study.
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The components of the Youth Account expense recognized in the periods presented are as follows:

2005  2004

Service cost-benefits earned during the year 20.9 20.1
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 10.2 13.3
Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss 6.5 4.8

37.6 38.2

The following is a reconciliation of the projected benefit obligation to the liability recorded for the Youth Account benefits:

2005 2004

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year 229.5 237.1
Service cost-benefits earned during the year 20.9 20.1
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 10.2 13.3
Amortization of unrecognized actuarial loss 6.5 4.8
Benefits paid (54.7) (45.8)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year 212.4 229.5
Employee’s accumulated contributions 71.6 72.4

284.0 301.9

The assumptions underlying the actuarial valuation, in percentages, of the Youth Account benefits are as follows:

2005 2004

Discount rate 3.6% 3.8%
Assumed rate of increase in future compensation levels 4.5% 3.5%

Voluntary Retirement Program
On 25 May 2005 OTE signed a collective labor agreement with its employees, which determines the employment status of all new employees 
recruited by OTE, who will be employed on the basis of employment contracts subject to private labor laws. Effectiveness of this agreement is 
conditioned upon the enactment by the Greek Parliament of the relevant law for the voluntary retirement scheme. 

The enactment of Law 3371/2005 and the collective labor agreement signed between OTE and its employees on 20 July 2005, institute the 
framework for the voluntary retirement scheme. Pursuant to this law and the collective labor agreement, employees who would complete the 
number of years of service required for retirement within the period from 2005 to 2012 will be entitled to full pension and other benefits. Eligible 
employees should submit irrevocable applications within three months from the law’s enactment (until 14 October 2005).

The estimated total cost of the Voluntary Retirement Program in terms of payments amounts to approximately Euro 1.1 billion. This amount refers 
to 4,859 eligible employees who have submitted irrevocable applications.
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The above mentioned amount includes:

• The total cost of employer’s and employees’ contributions to TAP-OTE for the period required to the employees in order to be entitled to 
pension

• The amount of pensions TAP OTE will be required to prepay for these employees

• The total cost of employer’s and employees’ contributions to Auxiliary Fund for the period required to the employees in order to be entitled 
to pension

• The amount of pensions the Auxiliary Fund will be required to prepay for these employees

• The total cost of employees’ contributions to Auxiliary Fund for the Lump Sum benefit

• The total cost of bonuses based on the collective labor agreement signed on 20 July 2005

• The termination payments upon retirement of the employees (staff retirement indemnities)

Because of the periodical payments of the majority of the above mentioned costs (payments through 2012), the nominal amounts of these 
payments were discounted at their present values, using a discount rate of 3%, which approximates the rate of the Greek Government bonds 
with an equal duration as that of the Voluntary Retirement Program.

The components of the estimated cost of the Voluntary Retirement Program and the reconciliation with the amounts presented in the Financial 
Statements is presented in the table below: 

Category of obligation Amount

Total employer’s and employees’ contributions to TAP-OTE & Auxiliary Fund 232.2
Total pensions from TAP-OTE & Auxiliary Fund 576.4
Total bonuses based on the collective labor agreement 55.0
Total termination payments upon retirement (staff retirement indemnities) 242.7

Total nominal cost of the Program 1,106.3

Effect of discounting at present values (67.6)

Discounted present value of the total obligation 1,038.7

Minus already established reserves for staff retirement indemnities (124.2)

Cost of Voluntary Retirement Program 914.5
Cost of earlier voluntary retirement plan during the 1st half of 2005 25.1

Total cost of the Voluntary Retirement Program charged in 2005 939.6

Based on the estimated period of settlement (payment), these obligations are classified as follows: 

Reserve for Voluntary Retirement Program (Short-term portion)  434.9
Reserve for Voluntary Retirement Program (Long-term portion) 603.8

Total 1,038.7

Based on Law 3371/2005, the Greek State will contribute a 4% stake in OTE’s share capital to TAP-OTE for the portion of the total cost 
that relates to employer’s and employees’ contributions to TAP-OTE and to the amount of pensions TAP OTE will be required to prepay. This 
contribution is subject to EU approval. In case that EU approves the Greek State’s contribution, the charge for the Voluntary Retirement Program 
might be partly reversed.
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18. Other non-current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities are analyzed as follows:
2005

Company
2005

Group
2004

Company
2004

Group

Reserve for pension contributions under voluntary retirement program 7.3 7.3 7.5 7.5
Amount due for Cosmote’s 3G license - 14.7 - 30.0
Asset retirement obligation - 4.5 -  4.1
Amounts due based on performance of satellite transmitters - - - 6.1
Reserve for obligation of free units 36.1 36.1 34.1 34.1
Deferred revenues (long-term) - 39.8 - 45.7
Long-term liabilities to suppliers - 26.8 - 15.6
Other 0.2 10.7 1.9 19.2

43.6 139.9 43.5 162.3

19. Short-term borrowings

Short-term borrowings represent draw-downs under various lines of credit maintained by the Group with several banks. The weighted average 
interest rates on short-term borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2004 and 2005, was approximately 4.3% and 4.0%, respectively.
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20. Income taxes

In accordance with the Greek tax regulations, the income tax rate through 31 December 2004, was 35%, but based on Law 3296/2004 will be 
reduced to 32% in 2005, 29% in 2006 and 25% in 2007 and onwards.

Tax returns are filed annually but the profits or losses declared for tax purposes remain provisional until such time as the tax authorities examine 
the returns and the records of the tax payer and a final assessment is issued. Net operating losses which are tax deductible, can be carried forward 
against taxable profits for a period of five years from the year they are generated. 

Under Greek tax regulations, an income tax advance of each year’s current income tax liability is paid to the tax authorities. Such advance is then 
netted off with the following year’s income tax liability. Any excess advance amounts are refunded to the companies following a tax examination. 
As of 31 December 2005, an amount of Euro 95.2, representing income tax advances paid by OTE in excess of its current income tax liability based 
on its statutory taxable profits is included under “Other current assets” in the accompanying balance sheets. OTE expects the tax examination 
and the refund of the above mentioned amount.

The parent company and its subsidiaries have not been audited by the tax authorities as described below:

Company Unaudited Tax Years

• OTE From 2002
• COSMOTE From 2004 
• OTE INTERNATIONAL From 1998
• ROMTELECOM From 2001 
• AMC From 2002 
• ARMENTEL None

• COSMOFON
Full income tax exemption for a period of three years

commencing from the first year taxable profits are reported
• GLOBUL From 2005
• COSMOTE ROMANIA From 2004
• HELLAS SAT From 2003
• COSMOONE From 2002
• OTENET From 2004
• HELLASCOM From 2003
• OTE PLC From 2000 
• OTE SAT-Maritel From 2000
• OTE PLUS From 2005
• ΟΤΕ ESTATE From 2001 
• INFOTE From 2001 
• OTE GLOBE From 2002
• OTE INSURANCE From 2003
• CHA From 2000
• OTE ACADEMY From 2000
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Income taxes reflected in the accompanying income statements are analyzed as follows:

2005
Company Group

2004
Company Group

Current taxes 5.0 211.7 13.9 216.8
Deferred taxes (198.0) (191.9) 28.0 5.7

(193.0) 19.8 41.9 222.5

The reconciliation of income taxes included in the income statements to the amount determined by the application of the Greek statutory tax 
rate (2004: 35% 2005: 32%), to the profit before tax is summarized as follows:

2005
Company Group

2004
Company Group

Profit / (loss) before tax (430.2) 3.3 8.4 516.8
Statutory tax rate 32% 32% 35% 35%

(137.7) 1.1 2.9 180.9

Non-taxable income (131.5) - (35.7) -
Effect of different tax rates applicable 55.7 1.4 17.6 (8.9)
Expenses non-deductible for tax purposes 15.5 18.9 46.2 46.2
Other 5.0 (1.6) 10.9 4.3

Income taxes (193.0) 19.8 41.9 222.5

Deferred taxes are analyzed as follows:

2005
Company

2005
Group

2004
Company

2004
Group

Employee benefits 308.1 308.1 139.8 139.8
Revaluations of fixed assets deductible for tax purposes - 118.8 - 118.8
Reserve for litigation and claims – accrued and other liabilities 53.9 53.9 50.9 50.9
Net operating losses carry forwards - 7.6 - 18.9
Property, plant and equipment (138.7) (229.6) (161.9) (234.5)
Other (1.1) (1.1) (11.1) (27.6)

Deferred taxes 222.2 257.7 17.7 66.3
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21. Other current liabilities

Other current liabilities are analyzed as follows:
2005

Company
2005

Group
2004

Company
2004

Group

Accrued social security contributions 51.5 69.5 53.2 68.9
Accrued payroll 1.2 14.0 17.1 24.2
Other taxes payable 27.5 75.3 2.5 49.9
Accrued interest payable 39.3 59.0 87.9 89.6
Reserve for pension contributions 6.3 6.3 8.3 8.3
Reserve for litigation and claims 95.6 105.3 47.9 47.9
Customer advances 38.2 40.4 46.8 56.2
Derivative liability - - - 90.7
Short-term portion of amount due for Cosmote’s 3G license - 16.1 - 16.1
Due to subsidiaries 13.9 - 14.5 -
Other 18.2 88.3 18.3 86.9

291.7 474.2 296.5 538.7
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22. Revenues

Revenues in the accompanying income statements consist of income from:
Company

2005
Company

2004
Group

2005
Group

2004

(i)  Domestic Telephony 
 • Monthly network service fees 669.8 631.6 954.2 860.7

 • Local and long-distance calls
  - Fixed to fixed 511.0 554.9 759.1 798.3
  - Fixed to mobile 367.4 383.9 515.7 527.5

878.4 938.8 1,274.8 1,325.8

 • Other 69,1 71.0 83.2 85.2

1,617.3 1,641.4 2,312.2 2,271.7

(ii) International Telephony 
 • International traffic 93.4 117.0 150.5 169.0
 • Payments from international operators 89.3 62.5 202.4 169.9
 • Payments from mobile operators 33.3 37.7 38.1 37.7

216.0 217.2 391.0 376.6

(iii) Mobile Telephony - - 1,752.2 1,555.6

(iv) Other revenues
 Traditional Services:
 • Prepaid cards 91.2 109.2 126.6 148.8
 • Directories - 3.2 56.0 54.1
 • Radio communications 6.8 3.1 24.1 18.9
 • Audiotex 20.4 72.2 26.0 75.3
 • Telex and telegraphy 3.1 5.8 3.6 6.5

121.5 193.5 236.3 303.6

 New Business:
 • Leased lines and Data communications 219.5 151.3 211.4 151.2
 • Integrated Services Digital Network 132.6 114.3 141.4 121.2
 • Sales of telecommunication equipment 60.3 76.5 112.2 119.2
 • Internet services 26.6 10.4 81.0 61.1
 • Asynchronous Transfer Mode 30.2 26.0 23.1 26.0

469.2 378.5 569,1 478.7

 Other
 • Services rendered 171.8 207.9 72.3 84.2
 • Interconnection charges 103.9 91.2 101.7 93.9
 • Miscellaneous 7.3 16.7 40.3 55.0

283.0 315.8 214.3 233.1

Total other revenues 873.7 887.8 1,019.7 1,015.4

Total revenues 2,707.0 2,746.4 5,475.1 5,219.3
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23. Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are analyzed as follows:
Company

2005
Company

2004
Group

2005
Group

2004

Services and fees 122.0 133.1 155.9 152.5
Cost of telecommunication material, repairs and maintenance 107.4 126.2 205.7 245.5
Advertising costs 38.4 38.9 133.3 141.8
Cost of equipment sold 99.4 109.1 149.7 143.4
Utilities 94.0 77.6 142.8 119.3
Provision for doubtful accounts 91.0 120.0 110.4 137.6
Other provisions 47.8 35.0 37.8 35.3
Travel costs 7.2 9.6 17.0 15.4
Cost of prepaid airtime cards 8.0 8.4 31.1 39.4
Commissions to independent distributors - - 166.9 137.2
Payments to audiοtex providers 14.6 51.4 21.7 60.6
Rent 59.3 57.3 77.9 57.1
Taxes, other than income taxes 11.0 11.2 30.1 41.9
Transportation 5.0 5.5 7.0 7.0
Other 16.5 40.3 48.6 103.6

721.6 823.6 1,335.9 1,437.6
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24. Segment reporting

The following information is provided for the reportable segments, which are separately disclosed in the financial statements and is regularly 
reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision makers.

Segments were determined based on the Group’s legal structure, as the Group’s chief operating decision makers review financial information 
separately reported by the parent company (OTE) and each of the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries.

Using the quantitative thresholds OTE, Cosmote and, Romtelecom, have been determined as reportable segments. Information about operating 
segments that do not constitute reportable segments have been combined and disclosed in an “All Other” category. 

Accounting policies of the segments are the same as those followed for the preparation of the financial statements. The Group evaluates 
segment performance based on operating income and net income. 

Segment information and reconciliation to the Group’s consolidated figures are as follows:

Year ended 31/12/2005 OTE COSMOTE ROMTELECOM ALL OTHER TOTALS
ADJUSTMENTS- 
ELIMINATIONS GROUP

Revenues from 
external customers

2,509.5 1,618.7 921.1 425.8 5,475.1 - 5,475.1

Intersegment Revenues 197.5 178.9 8.6 141.1 526.1 (526.1) -

Interest income 39.4 7.6 1.9 160.7 209.6 (155.7) 53.9

Interest expense (130.1) (24.8) (14.7) (149.3) (318.9) 155.7 (163.2)

Depreciation and Amortization (542.6) (229.2) (238.0) (100.8) (1,110.6) 3.2 (1,107.4)

Earnings in equity-method investments 20.0 - - 0.4 20.4 - 20.4

Income tax expense 193.0 (164.6) (0.7) (47.5) (19.8) - (19.8)

Operating income (822.4) 525.3 203.0 118.5 24.4 (0.4) 24.0

Net income (237.2) 339.9 214.8 81.5 399.0 (615.8) (216.8)

Investments in and advances to associates 157.8 0.9 - 0.6 159.3 - 159.3

Segment assets 7,161.1 2,549.2 2,464.4 4,820.1 16,994.8 (5,945.2) 11,049.6

Expenditures for segment assets 209.5 259.3 92.0 119.4 680.2 - 680.2

Year ended 31/12/2004 OTE COSMOTE ROMTELECOM ALL OTHER TOTALS
ADJUSTMENTS- 
ELIMINATIONS GROUP

Revenues from 
external customers

2,554.7 1,387.9 864.2 5,219.3 - 5,219.3

Intersegment Revenues 191.7 199.9 7.7 82.5 (481.8) -

Interest income 49.1 5.2 10.4 146.5 211.2 (167.6) 43.6

Interest expense (127.8) (11.3) (19.8) (174.0) (332.9) 167.6 (165.3)

Depreciation and Amortization (552.7) (188.0) (218.9) 112.0 1,071.6 4.0 (1,067.6)

Earningsin equity-method investments 9.5 - - - 9.5 - 9.5

Income tax expense (41.9) (167.2) 10.6 (24.0) (222.5) - (222.5)

Operating income (2.9) 487.0 80.8 57.0 621.9 (7.8) 614.1

Net income (33.5) 309.1 118.7 108.2 502.5 (208.2) 294.3

Investments in and advances to associates 219.5 1.7 - 0.1 221.3 - 221.3

Segment assets 7,068.5 1,679.0 2,409.9 4,065.4 15,222.8 (4,818.8) 10,404.0

Expenditures for segment assets 344.4 227.5 146.0 125.7 843.6 - 843.6
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25. Related party transactions

OTE’s transactions with its consolidated subsidiaries are analyzed as follows:

2005
ΟΤΕ’s revenues

2005 
ΟΤΕ’s expenses

2004
ΟΤΕ’s revenues

2004
ΟΤΕ’s expenses

COSMOTE 566.6 174.1 236.3 199.4
OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LTD 2.1 7.0 13.4 12.9
ROMTELECOM 0.3 1.5 0.6 3.8
ARMENTEL 5.3 0.2 0.8 0.2
COSMOFON - - 2.0 -
HELLAS-SAT 8.5 2.0 7.2 0.2
COSMO-ONE - 1.3 - 1.0
OTENET 25.1 11.8 20.6 12.8
HELLASCOM 0.2 4.7 0.7 13.1
OTE SAT- MARITEL 1.2 2.3 1.4 2.8
ΟΤΕ PLUS 0.4 12.6 0.3 10.7
ΟΤΕ ESTATE 9.1 52.3 12.2 50.0
INFOTE 20.1 1.4 22.1 7.6
OTE GLOBE 62.6 76.2 38.9 48.3
OTE ACADEMY 0.1 1.2 - -
OTE PLC - 135.6 3.8 134.3

701.6 484.2 360.3 497.1

31.12.2005 31.12.2004

ΟΤΕ’s 
receivables ΟΤΕ’s payables

ΟΤΕ’s 
receivables ΟΤΕ’s payables

COSMOTE 35.9 45.1 24.4 42.8
OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LTD 6.0 7.4 15.7 12.3
ROMTELECOM 0.3 1.4 0.4 2.3
ARMENTEL 6.0 - 10.1 0.1
COSMOFON - - 22.5 -
HELLAS-SAT 147.2 0.4 138.4 0.1
COSMO-ONE - 0.5 - -
OTENET 7.2 7.3 9.4 3.6
HELLASCOM 1.3 1.4 1.3 5.8
OTE SAT- MARITEL 0.8 1.2 10.3 4.1
ΟΤΕ PLUS 4.7 5.6 1.9 3.4
ΟΤΕ ESTATE 8.7 104.1 6.7 80.3
INFOTE 5.4 24.4 13.7 34.7
OTE GLOBE 23.9 27.6 79.1 67.7
OTE ACADEMY 0.3 1.5
OTE PLC - 1,962.8 - 2,459.8

247.7 2,190.7 333.9 2,717.0

OteAnnualReport05English_9a.indd80   80OteAnnualReport05English_9a.indd80   80 28/6/2006   3:21:24 µµ28/6/2006   3:21:24 µµ



OTE Annual Report 2005 81

The transactions between OTE and its consolidated subsidiaries are described below:

a.  ΟΤΕ GLOBE
i. OTE GLOBE is invoicing OTE for commissions relating to revenue earned by OTE from international telephony and for the administration offers 

to OTE. 
ii. OTE GLOBE earns revenue on behalf of OTE from VoIP, which is invoiced by OTE to OTE GLOBE. Additionally the VoIP related expenses are 

invoiced to OTE by OTE GLOBE. 
iii. OTE GLOBE invoices OTE for commissions related to (ii) above. 
iv. OTE GLOBE leases lines to customers on behalf of OTE. The total revenue from leased lines, invoiced by OTE Globe, is transferred to OTE. 

Additionally, OTE GLOBE’s expenses are invoiced to OTE by OTE GLOBE. 

b.  INFOTE
i. INFOTE invoices OTE for the production of the white pages directories.
ii. INFOTE earns revenues from the advertisement of its customers through the certain directories published. OTE collects these revenues from 

its subscribers on behalf of INFOTE and pays them back to INFOTE.
iii. ΟΤΕ invoices INFOTE with a commission for the agency relationship described in (ii) above.
iv. INFOTE invoices ΟΤΕ for a part of revenues generated from additional entries made on the directories.

c.  OTENET
OTE is acting as a dealer selling internet services and other products on behalf of OTENET and collects these amounts on behalf of OTENET and 
pays them back to OTENET. Additionally OTE invoices OTENET with a commission for this agency relationship.

d.  OTE ESTATE
i. OTE ESTATE ears rental revenue from OTE and subsidiaries. 
ii. OTE invoices OTE ESTATE for additions made on the land and buildings that belong to OTE ESTATE. The related costs of these additions, 

representing labor and materials costs, are included in OTE’s income statement.

e.  ΟΤΕ INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS
OTE INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS invoices OTE and subsidiaries for the administration services provided to foreign subsidiaries.

f.  COSMO-ONE
COSMO-ONE invoices OTE and subsidiaries for e-commerce services.

g.  OTE SAT – MARITEL 
i. ΟΤΕ invoices ΟΤΕ SAT- MARITEL for the usage of OTE’s facilities for INMARSAT services. 
ii. OTE SAT - MARITEL invoices ΟΤΕ for the land to mobile connection, which is invoiced by INMARSAT to OTE SAT - MARITEL. 

h.  OTE PLUS
OTE PLUS provides consulting services and prepares studies upon OTE’s request.

i.  COSMOTE
i. OTE invoices COSMOTE with commissions for the mobile connections made through OTE. 
ii. ΟΤΕ invoices COSMOTE for leased lines.
iii. OTE and COSMOTE have interconnection revenues and expenses depending on who’s network the calls have terminated, including the traffic 

from International Telephony that passes through both networks.
iv. COSMOTE invoices ΟΤΕ with management fees for the administration of GLOBUL and COSMOFON.

j.  OTE ACADEMY
OTE ACADEMY rents the Training Centers in Athens and Thessaloniki to OTE.

k.  HELLASCOM
HELLASCOM provides OTE and its subsidiaries consulting services and construction projects.

l.  ARMENTEL
ΟΤΕ has granted an interest bearing long-term loan to ARMENTEL.
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m. COSMOFON
ΟΤΕ has granted an interest bearing long-term loan to COSMOFON.

n.  HELLAS SAT
i. HELLAS SAT invoices OTE for transmitter’s rental and the provision of satellite capacities.
ii. ΟΤΕ invoices HELLAS SAT with a commission on the rental of satellite capacities. 
iii. ΟΤΕ has granted an interest bearing long-term loan to HELLAS SAT.

o.  OTE PLC
ΟΤΕ PLC has granted interest bearing long-term loans to ΟΤΕ and GLOBUL.

Fees paid to the members of the Group companies’ Board of Directors, which have been charged to the 2005 Income Statement amounted to 
Euro 0.5, of which Euro 0.3 related to the Company.

26. Stock based compensation

A. OTE’s Plan
Based on decisions of the Extraordinary General Assemblies of 4 September 2001 and 28 January 2002, two plans were approved and were 
administered by the Board of Directors.

Under the First Plan, OTE’s Board of Directors issued 4,881,000 option rights that were granted to OTE’s management, specifically to the 
Managing Director, to the Deputy Managing Director, to General Directors, to the Legal counsel and Section Managers. Under the Second Plan, 
OTE’s Board of Directors issued 8,920,000 option rights that were granted OTE’s employees and 720,000 option rights that were granted to 
the management of OTE’s Greek, non listed subsidiaries, specifically to their Managing Directors, to the Deputy Managing Directors and to their 
General Directors. The exercise price payable for each share under options granted was set as the average price of OTE’s share’s price for the 
month preceding the grant of options determined by reference to the Daily Bulletin of the Athens Stock Exchange, equal to € 17.07 (seventeen 
point zero seven Euro) at the grant date.

The extraordinary General Assembly of 4 November 2005, approved the termination of the two compensatory share option plans described 
above. None option right had been exercised up to that date.

B.  COSMOTE’s Plan
COSMOTE has established a Management Stock Option Plan for the purchase of COSMOTE’s shares. The Plan was approved by resolution of the 
General Meeting held on 6 September 2000 and amended by resolutions of the General Meetings held on 12 June 2001 and 21 February 2002. 
Eligible persons are entitled to options in respect of ordinary shares with an aggregate value of between two and five times their respective 
annual gross salaries, depending on their position (Basic Options). 

Further grants of options may be made by the Board of Directors to participants at the end of each year in respect of ordinary shares with an 
aggregate value equal to their respective annual gross salary (Additional Options). In the framework of the law and the Company’s Articles of 
Association, the Company reserves the right to choose the procedure to be followed for the granting of shares to eligible persons (i.e. by increase 
of the Company’s share capital according to article 13 par. 9 of Codified Law 2190/20), by an undertaking by the Company of its own shares.

The Exercise Price for acquiring shares is defined as follows: 
a) The exercise price payable for each ordinary share under options granted at the time of the establishment of the Management Incentive Plan 

was 10% below the bottom end of the range for the Offer Price determined.
b) The exercise price for the purchase of ordinary shares under options granted on subsequent occasions by the Board of Directors will be the 

average closing price of the shares for the month preceding the grant of options, determined by reference to the Daily Bulletin of the ASE.
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The same exercise price will be valid for Additional Options as well. The aggregate number of ordinary shares which may be issued in any five year 
period pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan and all other share option schemes or employee share schemes (if any) adopted by COSMOTE 
may not exceed 5% of COSMOTE’s share capital and, in any event, may not exceed 10% of the existing shares of the Company. Basic Options vest 
over three years, as follows: 40% after one year from the date of their grant, 30% after two years and 30% after three years. 

The Basic Options granted to the Chairman vest in full after one year. Additional Options vest after three years. Basic Options, once vested, can 
be exercised in whole or in part until the fourth year from their grant, while the Additional Options, once vested, can be exercised in whole or 
in part during their maturity year or the year after. Share options expire if the beneficiary leaves the Company or is fired before the options vest, 
irrespective of their exercise date.

For the preparation of these Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS, on 1 January 2005 the Group applied IFRS 2 «Share – based payment». 
According to the transitional provisions, this standard is applied on the stock options that have been granted to the employees subsequent to 
7/11/2002 but have not been vested until 1st January 2005.

The issued shares are measured at their fair value at the grant date. Fair value is charged in the Income Statement uniformly during the period 
that the employee’s right is vested.

Fair value has been calculated by the Black Scholes model. The significant data is the stock price, the dividend yield, the discount rate and the 
volatility of stock. Volatility (standard deviation of the stock ‘s price) is calculated by statistical analysis of daily stock’s price for the last 12 months.

2005 2005 2004 2004

Stock option 
(number of stocks)

Weighted average 
exercise price

Stock option 
(number of stocks)

Weighted average 
exercise price

Outstanding shares at the beginning of the year 2,259,610 11.87 1,251,960 10.23
Granted shares during the year 1,209,390 15.95 1,172,260 13.46
Forfeited (99,290) 12.03 (73,960) 11.26
Exercised during the year - - (90,650) 10.23

Outstanding shares at the end of the year 3,369,710 - 2,259,610 11.87

Exercisable at the end of the year 117,633 12.35 23,100 10.23

The following weighted average assumptions were used: 

2005 2004

Weighted average stock price 15.73 13.14
Weighted average exercise price 15.95 13.46
Volatility 22.10% 25.10%
Volatility of exercising the right 3 years 3 years
Risk free interest rate 2.61% 2.98%
Dividend yield 10.60% 7.60%

Volatility has been calculated using the standard deviation of the COSMOTE’s stock during the relative year.

Compensation expense recorded for 2005 and 2004 amounted to Euro 0.9 and Euro 0.5, respectively.
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27. Litigation and claims

The most significant legal cases on 31 December 2005 are the following:

(i)  Stamp Tax Assessment: The tax authorities assessed stamp taxes and penalties against OTE of approximately Euro 27.9, relating to the 
period from 1982 to 1992. These taxes were assessed on interest on the balances due to/from the Greek State which were netted off during 
1993 in accordance with the provisions of Law 2167/93. OTE’s management and tax consultants strongly disputed the above assessments and 
had filed an appeal with the tax courts. By its decisions, the Administrative Court of Appeal in Athens accepted OTE’s appeal and nullified the 
stamp taxes and penalties assessed against OTE. The tax authorities disputed these decisions before the Council of State, which accepted the 
appeals filed by the tax authorities and ordered for the re-examination of this case by the Administrative Court of Appeal. By its decision, The 
administrative Court of Appeal in Athens rejected OTE’s appeals. Based on that decision, a provision of Euro 27.9 has been charged in the 2005 
the Income Statement. 

(ii) OTE Leasing: On 11 December 2001, OTE disposed of its wholly owned subsidiary, OTE Leasing, to Piraeus Financial Leasing S.A., a subsidiary 
of Piraeus Bank S.A. for a consideration of Euro 21.0. Out of the sale proceeds, Euro 5.9 was collected in cash and the balance of Euro 15.1 in 
shares in Piraeus Bank S.A. based on their fair value at that date. The disposal of OTE Leasing had no material effect on the Group’s financial 
position or results of operations. As prescribed in the agreements signed for the sale of OTE Leasing, OTE is committed to indemnify Piraeus 
Financial Leasing S.A. up to an amount of approximately Euro 28.0, for possible losses to be incurred from the non-performance of lessees 
for contracts signed through to the date of sale of OTE Leasing. The conditions under which a lessee’s contract will be characterized as non-
performing are described in detail in the sale agreements. Such OTE’s obligation is in force for a period between 3.5-5.5 years, depending on 
the nature of the lease contracts. OTE has raised a provision of Euro 28.0 for expected losses based on circumstances prevailing at 31 December 
2005.

(iii) Alpha Digital Synthesis S.A.: During January 2002, Alpha Digital Synthesis S.A., a Greek company licensed to provide subscriber television 
services in Greece, filed a law suit against OTE before the Athens Court of First Instance, claiming an amount of Euro 55.5 for alleged damages 
incurred as a result of an alleged breach by OTE of the terms of a memorandum of understanding signed by the two parties. Alpha Digital 
Synthesis S.A. has withdrawn this claim and, in accordance with the terms of the memorandum of understanding, it submitted a request for 
arbitration according to the Greek Civil Procedure Code on 7 May 2003, claiming an amount of approximately Euro 254.2. The arbitration 
proceedings that commenced on 27 April 2004, are completed and a decision is expected to be issued. Management and legal counsel believe 
that this claim is without merit and unlikely to be accepted by the court.

(iv) Hellenic Radio and Television Broadcasting S.A. (“ERT”): During May 2002, ERT, the Greek publicly-owned television radio broadcaster, 
filed a law suit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an amount of Euro 42.9 for alleged damages 
incurred by it as a result of an alleged infringement by OTE of the terms of a memorandum of understanding signed by the two parties. The case 
was heard on 21 April 2005 and the court judged that the case should be referred to arbitration. Management and legal counsel believe that this 
claim is without merit and unlikely to be accepted by the court.

(v) Forthnet: In 2002, Forthnet S.A., which was awarded license to provide wireless telephony service, filed a civil claim, claiming an amount of 
Euro 26.7 for alleged damages incurred by it due to loss of customers as a result of OTE’s allegedly discriminatory policy in favor of OTENET. The 
hearing is scheduled for 19 April 2007. Furthermore, Forthnet S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First 
Instance, claiming approximately Euro 4.1 in damages, due to suspension of it’s subscriber’s number portability. The hearing, initially scheduled 
for 16 November 2005 has been suspended and a new hearing is scheduled for 8 February 2006. Management and legal counsel believe that 
this claim is without merit and unlikely to be accepted by the court.

(vi) Greek Telecom S.A.: In 2004, Greek Telecom S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, 
claiming approximately Euro 45.4 in damages, due to alleged breach of contractual obligations arising out of disconnection of telecommunication 
services. The hearing is scheduled for 22 March 2006. Management and legal councel believe that this claim is without merit and unlikely to be 
accepted by the court.
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(vii) Telepassport S.A.: Telepassport S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an 
aggregate amount of approximately Euro 52.2 for alleged damages incurred by it as a result of OTE’s delay in delivering to it leased lines. The 
hearing, initially scheduled for 8 June 2005, has been suspended. Management and legal counsel believe that even if the court is to accept certain 
damages incurred by Telepassport S.A., the amount would not exceed Euro 2.8.

(viii) Teledome S.A.: Teledome S.A. filed lawsuits against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an aggregate 
amount of approximately Euro 7.1 for alleged damages incurred by it as a result of OTE’s delay in delivering to it leased lines and the application 
of non cost oriented interconnection charges by OTE. The hearings of the above lawsuits are scheduled in certain dates in 2006 and 2007. 
Management and legal counsel believe that even if the court is to accept certain damages incurred by Teledome S.A., the amount would not 
exceed Euro 0.9. Furthermore, Teledome S.A. filed lawsuits against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming 
approximately Euro 11.6 in damages, due to suspension of it’s subscriber’s number portability and due to alleged breach of contractual obligations 
arising out of disconnection of telecommunication services. The hearings of the above lawsuits are scheduled in certain dated in 2006, 2007 and 
2008. Management and legal councel believe that this claim is without merit and unlikely to be accepted by the court.

(ix) Newsphone Hellas S.A.: Newsphone Hellas S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, 
claiming an aggregate amount of approximately Euro 7.2 for alleged damages incurred by it as a result of OTE’s refusal to include in its recorded 
message that directories information services, except from OTE, are provided by Newsphone also. The hearing is scheduled for 17 May 2006. 
Management and legal councel believe that this claim is without merit and unlikely to be accepted by the court.

(x) TELLAS S.A.: Tellas S.A. filed lawsuits against OTE before the Athens Multi Member Court of First Instance, claiming an aggregate amount 
of approximately Euro 16.6 in damages due to suspension of it’s subscriber’s number portability. The hearings of the above lawsuits are scheduled 
in certain dates in 2006. Management and legal councel believe that this claim is without merit and unlikely to be accepted by the court.

(xi) Employees’ Claims: ΟΤΕ’s employees have filed a number of lawsuits against OTE. As at 31 December 2005, adequate provisions have been 
established for these cases, the outcome of which could be unfavorable for the Company.

(xii) Franchise Agreements: OTE is involved in four disputes relating to franchise agreements for its retail telecommunications equipment 
outlets. Helias Koutsokostas & Company Limited Partnership filed a lawsuit against OTE claiming alleged damages in the amount of Euro 7.9. The 
hearing, initially scheduled for 13 October 2005 has been suspended and a new hearing is scheduled for 21 February 2008. In another franchise 
case, K. Prinianakis S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE alleging Euro 10.9 in damages. The hearing, which was scheduled for 27 January 2005, has 
been suspended and a new hearing is scheduled for 2 November 2006. In the third case, DEP INFO LTD has filed a lawsuit against OTE alleging 
Euro 6.8 in damages. OTE has filed its own lawsuit against this company claiming Euro 1.7 in damages. Both hearings are scheduled for 9 March  
2006. In the fourth case, Infoshop S.A. filed a lawsuit against OTE claiming alleged damages in the amount of 7.0. A hearing scheduled for 27 
January 2005 has been suspended, and a new hearing has is scheduled for 2 November 2006.

(xiii) Payphones Duties: From 1999 to 2005, the Municipality of Thessaloniki charged OTE with duties and penalties of an amount of approximately 
Euro 11.0 for the installation and operation of payphones within the area of its responsibility. OTE strongly disputed the above assessments and 
had filed appeals before the Thessaloniki Administrative Court of First Instance and prepaid 40% of the above duties and penalties (approximately 
Euro 3.4), amount that will be refunded to OTE if the outcome of that case will be favorable to the Company. With its two first decisions, the 
Thessaloniki Administrative Court of First Instance has accepted OTE’s appeals. Management and legal councel believe that OTE’s appeals will be 
accepted in total by the court.
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28. Financial risk management

Interest Rate Risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term debt. Approximately 20% of the Group’s total debt bear interest at floating rates. The interest 
rate risk management is achieved through the employment of financial instruments (interest-rate swaps) with the purpose of reducing the “cost 
and carry” of fixed rate liabilities as well as to “lock in” fixed rates for the duration of the liabilities, depending on the prevailing interest rate 
environment. Interest rate positions are monitored centrally by the Treasury Department and reported on a quarterly basis to the Board.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is managed through the maintenance of sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of credit 
facilities.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial assets that potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk are trade accounts receivable. Due to the large volume and 
diversity of the Group’s customer base, concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable are limited. 

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises from the Group’s operations in certain Southeastern European countries. These countries have experienced significant 
fluctuations of their currencies against the Euro. In this region, the Group’s biggest operations are in Romania, where telephony charges are 
pegged to the Euro providing a natural hedge. Foreign exchange risk is limited in cash and cash equivalents as well as in debt, as the majority of 
them are expressed in Euro. 

29. Subsequent events

There are no material subsequent events that have occurred after 31 December 2005 that could affect the Group’s financial position.
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Board of Directors’ report of the “Hellenic Telecommunications Organization S.A.”
to the financial statements as of 31 December 2005 

The Board of Directors’ Report of the “HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A.” (hereinafter referred to as “OTE” or “the 
Company”) was prepared in accordance with article 136 of the Codified Law 2190/1920 and refers to the Annual Stand-Alone and Consolidated 
Financial Statements as of 31 December 2005 and for the year then ended, which have been prepared for the first time in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (I.F.R.S.). 

Α. Significant events of the year
With respect to the group’s activities, the following events that occurred during the year 2005 are of big significance:

 • Voluntary Retirement Plan implementation by OTE, which will be completed by October 2006

 • Headcount reduction and organizational reconstruction in OTE, aiming at its efficiency and financial performance

 • Collective labor agreement signed between OTE and employees, regulating the future individual contracts under common employment law

 • New business plan for the period 2006-2008

 • Reduction of net debt and refinancing of debt, with lower interest rates and longer repayment dates

 • Enhancement of financial position in international investments

 • GLOBUL’s and COSMOFON’s transfer to COSMOTE, which takes over the entire mobile telephony segment of the Group

 • Relaunching of operations in COSMOTE-ROMANIA (former COSMOROM), through COSMOTE’s acquisition of a 70% equity stake

 • Settlement of pending issues related to the international investments (Serbia, Armenia) 

Β.  Strategy - Objectives
With regard to the Group’s strategic objectives in the coming years, as it was stated thoroughly in OTE’s business plan presentation, major target 
is the domestic Fixed-Line operations reinforcement, so that OTE group returns in line with peers.

In order to fulfill the above goal, the Company’s top priorities are the sustenance and maximization of revenues through new products and 
services and its further reorganization, through operating costs reduction. 

Based on the above, the effort already commenced in 2005 will continue, as follows: 

  Growth in new generation services revenues, due to integrated solutions, such as fixed and broadband Internet

  Fuller usage of the existing network infrastructure

  Focus on OTE’s transformation from a technology driven, to a customer-centric organization

  Integrated nationwide solutions for the Greek corporate clients 

  Reorganization of products development, pricing policies, as well as of marketing, advertising and customer care 

  Headcount costs reduction, through the Voluntary Retirement Plan implementation and new personnel’s reasoned employment 
contracts

  Reduction in bad debt provisions, through the implementation of new upgraded collection processes, such as the deployment of Geneva 
Billing process

  Systematic reduction of fixed costs

  Project undertaken in order to reduce permanent costs, through structures’ reorganization

Among the group’s activities, the mobile telephony segment holds primary position. Efforts will be continued, so that the group through COSMOTE 
bolsters even further its presence in Southeastern Europe and its subsidiaries are maintained among the fastest developed companies. 
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In particular it will be attempted:

  Growth in revenues, boost of profitability in COSMOTE, with reinforcement of its subscribers base and encourage usage throughout the 
country 

  Sustainable profitability margins for AMC (Albania), through consistent growth and penetration in the local market 

  Boost of subscriber numbers, profitability and positive cash-flow achievement in Globul (Bulgaria)

  Enhancement of subscriber base and achievement of profitability in Cosmofon (FYROM)

  Network investments and encouragement of usage in the local market for Cosmote - Romania (former Cosmorom)

Romtelecom, according to its business plan, will focus on the following: 

  Reinforcement of its position as a basic low cost voice provider, in spite of the intense competition, mainly from mobile and cable 
providers 

  Further reduction of its operating costs in lower levels

  Investments in completing digitalization, network and workforce management

  Expansion in new products and services targeting at corporate customers 

  Improvement of rendered services’ quality up to European levels

  Maximization of revenues from traditional services (packages, price bundles), as well as from new services launched, like high-speed 
Internet and triple play 

The rest of the Group’s subsidiaries are expected to continue successfully, based on the principle of close co-operation, acting for the group’s 
most efficient and profitable performance. 

C.  Financial highlights of 2005
Income statement:
OTE group operating revenues increased by 4.9%, as compared to corresponding figure in 2004 and reached € 5.475,1. 

This increase is mainly due to:

a. Revenues from the mobile telephony, which increased by 12.6%, in comparison to the same period of 2004, as a result of the boost of the 
subscriber base of the mobile providers of the group (Cosmote, AMC, Globul & Cosmofon), and of the mobile traffic volume enhancement 
in Greece

b. Romtelecom’s Revenues increased by 6.6%, in comparison to the same period of 2004, due to the increased revenues from monthly rentals, 
interconnection and data services 

c. Revenues from new services increased by 18.9% in comparison to the same period of 2004, reflecting increases in leased lines, Internet and 
ADSL revenues. As at the end of December 2005, OTE had over 154,000 ADSL customers, compared to the approximately 44,000 at the 
beginning of the same year

With regard to the parent company’s revenues, they have been decreased by 1.4% in comparison to the previous year figure reflecting the 
decrease in telecommunication traffic, which is partially offset by the increase in monthly rentals and in new services. 

OTE Group operating expenses increased by 18.4%, compared to the same period of 2004. This is as a result of the significant increase by 28.4% 
of the operating expenses of the parent company OTE S.A., due to the Voluntary Retirement Plan, which is implemented by the Organization. 
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More specifically, the increase is due to: 

 • Increase by 7.5% in payroll and employee benefits

 • Decrease by 7.7% in payments to international operators

 • Increase by 3.7% in depreciation

 • Decrease by 7.1% in other operating expenses 

With respect to the Voluntary Retirement Program, its total cost which amounts to € 939,6, was recorder in the current year’s income 
statement. 

In respect of financial income and expense, interest expenses range at about the same levels with the ones in 2004, while interest revenues 
increased by 23.6% compared to 2004, mainly as a result of the increased cash and cash equivalents. Income from dividends was increased by 
114.7% principally resulting from Telecom Serbia and satellite organizations. Investment income is increased by 948.3%, chiefly reflecting gains 
from sale of the satellite organizations relinquishment and part of EXAE’s shares. 

Income tax decreased significantly compared to the previous year mainly reflecting the deferred tax benefits resulting from Voluntary Retirement 
Program cost. It should be noticed that in the parent company, no income tax was recorded in the current year due to losses incurred. 

As a result of all the above, and mainly due to the Voluntary Retirement Program cost, the consolidated net loss for the year amounted to 
€ 216.8, compared to € 117.1 profit in 2004.

Group’s capital expenditure reached € 680.2, significantly decreased compared to the previous year’s capital expenditure as well as compared to 
budgeted amount for 2005, mainly due to low investment program in the parent company. 

Group’s total debt was increased approximately by 9.1% in comparison to last year, whereas the increase of cash and cash equivalents by 73.8% 
led to a significant decrease of the net debt for both, the group and the Company. 

With respect to the results of the main subsidiaries, which are included in the consolidated financial statements, the following should be noted:

COSMOTE group: Maintenance of the leading position within the Greek market, together with the increase in revenues by 13.2% and in net 
profits by 10.0%, compared to 2004 and at the same time EBITDA margin maintenance at about 42.0%. After the acquisition of Globul, 
Cosmofon and Cosmote Romania (former Cosmorom), Cosmote remains a strong player in the South Eastern Europe. 

ΟΤΕΝΕΤ group: Increase in revenues by 11.0% compared to 2004, mainly due to its subscriber base augmentation. 

ROMTELECOM: Increase in revenues by 6.6% approximately, in net profits by 116.8% and with EBITDA margin at 36.7%. Reconstruction plan of 
the company is in full progress and within its goals.

ARMENTEL: Increase in revenues by 39.0% and in net profits by 56.8%. 

D.  Other information 
There are no subsequent events after 31 December 2005 and until the date of approval of these financial statements by the Board of Directors, 
which might affect its financial position and the group’s activities. 

No significant risks or damages might arise in the future, due to potential obligations of the group companies. 

Athens, 7 March 2006 

Panagis Vourloumis

Chairman and Managing Director

OteAnnualReport05English_9a.indd89   89OteAnnualReport05English_9a.indd89   89 28/6/2006   3:21:27 µµ28/6/2006   3:21:27 µµ



90 Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of 
HELLENIC TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A.

We have audited the accompanying Financial Statements and Consolidated Financial Statements (the “Financial Statements”) of HELLENIC 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS ORGANIZATION S.A. (“the Company”) which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2005 and the income 
statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these Financial Statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Greek Auditing Standards which are aligned with the International Standards on Auditing. These 
Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatements. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An 
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements and the consistency of the content of the Board of Directors’ Report with the financial statements. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and the Group as 
of 31 December 2005 and the result of operations, the changes in equity and the cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards which have been adopted by the European Union and the content of the Board of Directors’ report 
is consistent with the accompanying Financial Statements. 

Athens, 7 March 2006

KPMG Kyriacou Certified Auditors Α.Ε.

 Marios T. Kyriacou Michael Kokkinos
 Certified Auditor Accountant Certified Auditor Accountant
 ΑΜ SOEL 11121 ΑΜ SOEL 12701
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Glossary of Technical Terms

ADSL Asymmetric Digital Subscriber Line

ASR Answer Seizure Ratio

CLIP Calling Line Identity Presentation

DCS Digital Cellular System

DSL Digital Subscriber Line 

DSLAM Digital Subscriber Line Access Multiplexer

DWDM Dense Wavelength Division Multiplexing

ETSI European Telecommunication Standards Institute

GPRS General Packet Radio Service

GWEN Greek Western Europe Network 

IP Internet Protocol

ISDN Integrated Services Digital Network

ISDN - BRA Integrated Services Digital Network- Basic Rate Access

ISDN - PRA Integrated Services Digital Network- Primary Rate Access

ISP Internet Service Provider

MPLS Multiprotocol Label Switching

PSTN Public Switched Telecommunication Network

SDH Sychronous Digital Hierarchy

SLA Service Level Agreements

TETRA Terrestrial Trunked Radio Access

VOIP Voice Over IP

VPDN Virtual Private Dial-up Network

VPN Virtual Private Network
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Notes
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Note: Intercompany Adjustments and Eliminations: (€ 526m)

Greece
Employees: 14,741
2005 Turnover: 2,707m 

Romania
Employees: 13,078
2005 Turnover: 930m 

Greece
Employees: 2,182
2005 Turnover: 1,518m 

Albania
Employees: 385
2005 Turnover: 137m 

FYROM
Employees: 307
2005 Turnover: 40m

Greece
Employees: 1,537
2005 Turnover: 268m

Armenia
Employees: 5,286
2005 Turnover: 119 m

OTE is Greece’s leading telecommunications operator, providing 
fixed-line telephony services to Greek and foreign businesses, 
consumers and government agencies. The Group also offers 
mobile telephony, Internet access, broadband, ISDN, high-speed 
data communications and leased lines services.

During the last decade, the OTE Group acquired stakes in the 
incumbent telecommunications companies of Romania, Serbia and 
Armenia and established mobile operations in Albania, Bulgaria, 
FYROM and Romania. At present, OTE Group companies employ 
over 35,000 people in seven countries. Listed on the Athens Stock 
Exchange, the Company also trades on the New York and London 
Stock Exchanges.

Overview
OTE is the largest fixed-line 
telecommunications provider in Greece and 
the majority owner of RomTelecom, Romania’s 
incumbent operator. The Group is accelerating 
the rollout of new technologies, chief among 
them ADSL broadband, and pursuing the 
modernization of its networks to offset lower 
voice revenues and enhance customer loyalty.

Overview
Cosmote, the OTE Group’s mobile telephony  
arm is the leading mobile provider in Greece.  
The Company enjoys leading positions in 
Albania and Bulgaria and is also active in some 
of Europe’s fastest growing mobile markets 
(FYROM). In addition, Cosmote recently 
relaunched the Group’s mobile operations in 
Romania.

Overview
OTE is involved in a range of activities 
complementing its core 
telecommunications operations, 
notably in real estate, directories, 
satellite communications, and 
training. The Company is also present 
in Armenia and Serbia through its 
90% and 20% participation 
respectively, in the countries’ 
incumbent operators.

Fixed Telephony
Greece
Incumbent/Operator
Fixed-line market share (voice): 73%
Internet subscribers: 413,000
Mobile market share: 38%
Customers: 4,600,000

Romania
Incumbent/Operator
Fixed-line market share (voice): 90%
Internet subscribers: 1,200,000
Mobile was re-launched 
in December 2005

Albania
Leader
Mobile market share: 51%
Customers: 782,000

Bulgaria
Challenger
Mobile market share: 40%
Customers: 2,394,000

FYROM
Challenger
Mobile market share: 30.5% 
Customers: 384,000

OTE is also present in Armenia and Serbia

ADSL subscribers (000’s)

(OTE and Romtelecom)

Mobile subscribers (million)

(Greece, Albania, Bulgaria, FYROM,
Romania and Armenia)

Capitalization (billion €)

The Group at a Glance 

Hellenic Republic: 
38.7%

Shareholder structure 31 March 2006

International 
Institutional  
Shareholders: 
40.0%

Greek Institutional 
Shareholders: 
12.1%

Rest Shareholders: 
9.2%

Other Operations

Mobile Telephony Bulgaria
Employees: 848 
2005 Turnover: 274m

Romania
Employees: 399
2005 Turnover: 8m
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Group Financial Highlights under IFRS

(in million €)
  2005 2004 %change

Revenues  5,475.1 5,219.3 4.9%
Operating Income  24.0 614.1 -96.1%
Pre-tax Profit  3.3 516.8 -99.4%
Profit/loss (after taxes and before minorities)  -16.5 294.3 -105.6%
EBITDA  1,131.4 1,681.7 -32.7%
Pro-forma* EBITDA  2,071.0 1,710.6 21.1%
CAPEX  680.2 843.6 -19.4%
Gross Debt  3,439.7 3,178.5 8.2%
Cash and cash equivalents  1,512.2 870.3 73.8%
Equity  4,513.4 4,831.4 -6.6%
CAPEX as % of Revenues  12.4% 16.2% -23.1%
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